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PREFACE

The impact of European colonizing nations and the
United States upon the Indlans of North America has been a
sub ject of considerable study by historians, anthropologists,
and soclologists during the twentleth century. The conflict
and inter-relationship of these civiiizations during the
course of more than four centurles have been examined from
many viewpoints. Certain phases of the contact between
whites and Indlians have received greater attention than
dthers, and it is upon these more popular aspects that public
attention concentrates.

While pursuing graduate studies at the UniYersity of
Oklahoma, I was attracted to one of the more neglected
phases of this contact--that of the role played by the
Indian auxiliary in the subjugation of North and South
America by Spain, France, Great Britain, and ultimately the
United States. Frequent passing references may be found in
the histories of various regions of North America to Indian
warrior groups accompanying small armies of the whiteman in
the conquest and pacification of other Indians. 1In fact,
these Indian allies or "auxiliary" contingents sometimes
became the primary force employed in the reduction of
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hostile natives. Taklng advantage of the traditional lack of
unity among the countless groups of Indiaﬁs in North Amerilca,
the conquering or pacifying nations used large numbers of
In&ian auxiliaries to promote further disunity and to facili-
tate an early subordination of the natives to the less- |
numerous, newly-arrilved whites.

Spain set the precedent for dependence on Indian
auxiliaries. Yet, the very important role played by Indian
allies in the expansion of New Spain northward has generally

been neglected. Only Philip W. Powell's Soldiers, Indians,

and Silver: The Northward Advance of New Spain, 1550-1600

has so much as one chapter devoted exclusively to the inter-
esting and highly involved technique of Spanish use of
Indian auxiliaries in her defensive expansion from the
sixte-nth through the eighteenth centuries. Otherwise,
casual references are all that exist in the numerous works
relating to the northern frontier of New Spain and the
gradual expansion of its perimeter.

Certalnly the Indian auxiliary was not the only means
Spain adopted 1in promoting the geographic expansion of her
North American holdlings. Outstanding individual leader-
ship, well-disciplined regular troops, and extensively-

enlisted civilian soldiers also contributed to the cause.
Moreover, the military operations were supported by the
eccleslastical mission, the civilian town, the mining camp,
the cattle ranch, and the crop farm in the consolidation of
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Spain's hold upon particular regions. In truth, both the
Hapsburg and the Bourbon kings practiced the principle of
diversification in the expansion of New Spaln. Lilkewilse,
they both promoted the maxim of "divide and conquer."

The purpose of this study is to examine Intensively
the procedures, organization, contrlbutions, and significance
of the Indlan auxiliaries of one culture during a crucial
century in the vital central sector of New Spain's northern
frontier. The Pueblo Indians of New Mexico exemplify the
dis-unity among the natives with whom Spain came in contact.
Although most of them had united temporarily to expel the
Spaniards from New Mexico in 1680, their subsequent reversion
to dis-unity facilltated the Spanish reconquzst of that
province 1in the last decade of the seventeenth century. Not
only was there an apparent lack of unity among the sedentary
Pueblos themselves, but there was a more significant and
traditional rift between the Pueblos on the one hand and the
ind 0s birbaros, or barbaric Indians, of the region on the
other. Spanish authorities took advantage of these differ-
ences not only at the time of the reconquest but in the
century which followed, and their extensive use of Pueblo
Indlan auxiliaries in the defense of New Mexicc during‘the
eighteenth century gradually attracted various hostile
tribes to the support of Spain. By ths end of the century
it was no longer necessary to employ large numbers of Pueblo
auxillarlies, for Utes, Jiéarilla Apaches, Navajos, and

Comanches could be used more effectively to combat the
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warlike Apaches. The significant contribution of the
Pueblos in the century from 1692 to 1794 not only provides
aniimportant development in the local history of New Mexico
but also furnishes an understanding of Spanish procedures
and dependehce upon the Indian auxiliary in the defense of
the entire northern frontier against hostile Indians, French
incurslons, and later British and North American encroach-
ments.

Many people have contributed to the initistion and
continuance of this study. Above all, I want to recognize
the influence of Pr. Max L. Moorhe#d at the University of
Oklahoma. It was he who inadvertently first suggested such
a topic in his course on Spanish North America. At numerous
times over the course of the last five years hs has listened
patiently to my findings, theories, plans, and tentative
conclusions. Also he has read each of the parts of this
work at various times with an objective, lnquiring attltude,
offering many helpful suggestions. In addition, he has
provided useful informetion from his own research, including
points and observations relating to Spain's Indian auxil-
iaries on other frontilers.

Without the help and facilities provided by the
University of New Mexlico and the New Mexico State Records
Center the development of this project would have been
impossible. All of the research iﬁ the extenslve documents
.of the Spanish Archives of New Mexlco was carried out in
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Albuquerque and Santa Fé. Dr, Ted J. Warner, formerly of
the Coronado Room at the University of New Mexico Library
and now of Brigham Young University, not only permitted me
access to the photostatic copies of the Spanish Archives of
.Neﬁ Mexico and those of the Archivo Geperal de la Nacibén at
Mexico City, but offered frequent helpful suggestions as well
from his own study of the Presidio of Santa Fé. Likewise,
Dr. Myra E. Jenkins at the New Mexico State Records Center
in Santa Fé, where the state archives are now housed, has
encouraged my work among the original documents of the
‘Spanish Archives of New Mexico preserved so efficiently
there., It was she who also aided in securing a photographlc
copy of the document which 1s included in this study. The
Department of Developmeﬁt, State of New Mexlco, publishers
‘of New Mexico Magazine, co-operated willingly and promptly

with my request for photographic assistance. They provided
copies of their photographs of Acoma and the mission at
Pecos Pueblo, two of the significant sites in this study.
'My thanks are alsc extended to the New Mexico Historical

Review and the Journal of the West for permission to use

material which appeared in their April, 1962, and July,
1963, issues.,

June, 196k 0. L. J.
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PUEBLO INDIAN AUXILIARIES AND THE SPANISH
DEFENSE OF NEW MEXICO, 1692-1794

CHAPTER I
INTRODUCTION

The first use of North American Indians as auxil-
jaries for Buropean forces in the New World was made by
Herndn Gortés between 1519 and 1521 in the conquesf of Aztec
México. Although employment of native warriors in this
capacity and alllance with dissident tribes were nct the

only techniques utilized by that Spanish conguistador, these

were of prime Importance in facilitating Spanish domination

of central Mexico. Cortés' epic campaign, with its precedent-
setting use of Indlan auxiliaries, served as a model for
future Spanish efforts to expand in all directions from the
anclent Aztec capital of Tenochtitidn. Although minor
alterations were made in the specific techniques employed
with each Indian tribe, the rellance upon native allles
remained a fundamental characteristic of Spanish conquest

and settlement for three centuries. In truth, the Indians

of North America conquered themselves. Natives sérving as

auxiliaries for a small number of Spanish soldiers, and
1
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later for militis elements recruited from the local populace,
frequently furnilshed the quantitative strength in the
campeigns against rebellious tribes. Lack of solidariﬁy, 80
often noted among North American Indian unations, was fatal.
Spain first recognized and exploited this weakness, but
France, Britain, and the United States followed suilt, Qnd
native resistance continued for four centuries to crumble
before ths white man's most successful stratagem: divide
and conquer.

Throughout the major part of the colonial peridd,
Spain devoted her attention to consolidating and protecting
her vast holdings, acquired so rapidly at the beginniné of
the sixteenth century. The short early period of searching
for great natural wealth, rich cities, and mythical civiliza-
tions ended in less than one~half of a century. By the
decade of the 1550's Spanish explorers had found great
silver mines, such as those of Pachuca, Guanajuato, and
Zacatecas, and they had convinced themselves that further
wealthy civilizations, like that of the Aztecs, dld not exist
in North America. Future expansion in the last two and
one-half centuries of Spanish occupation was conditioned by
one foremost preoccupation--protection. The need for
defense was apparent whatever the motivating force, whether
it was economic, socilal, or political. Protection of
expanding mining ventures throughout the northern partiof

New Spain aroused repeated interest from Spanish authorities.
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They also desired to protect small scattered areas of
settlement along the vast frontier which gradually pushed
northward. Religious establishments, such as the many
misiones founded by the various regular orders (especially
by the Jesults and Franciscans), and separate villages of
Indians also required protection. 1In addition to the
constant threat from hostile Indians, Spain had to meet the
menace presented by forelgn countries. Her empire was the
object of much intérnational jealousy from its establishment
until its dissolution. Britain, France, The Netherlands,.and
later Russia and the United States each desired to share in
its wealth or deprive Spain of 1its rewards. Thus, for the
ma jor portion of her occupancy, Spszin relied upon a policy
of defensive expansion in North America to protect what she

already had.l

lror a discussion of the concept of defensive
expansion sen Herbert E. Bolton, "Defensive Expansion and
the Significance of the Borderlands," The Trans-Mississippi
West: Papers Read at & Conference Held at the UthersIEngQ
Colorado, June 18-jJune 21, 1929, ed. James F. Willard an
Colin B. Goodykoontz (Boulder: University of Colorado,
1930), pp. 1-42, and Charles E. Chapman, The Founding of
Spanish California: The Northwestward Expansion of New
Spain, 1687-1783 (New York: The Macmillan Company, 1910).
The French threat is most capably presented in Henry Folmer,
Franco-Spanish Rivalry in North America, 152%-1163 (Glendale,
California: The Arthur H. Clark Company, 19 . Notable
studies of the British threat may be found in Herbert E.
Bolton and Mary Ross, The Debatable Iand: A Sketch of the

Anélo-S'Eanish Contest for the Georgia CountTy (Berkeley:
University of California Press, 19%55, Herbert E. Bolton,
The Spanish Borderlands: A Chronicle of 01d Florida and the
Southwest [Chronicles of America Series, Vol. XXL1lL, ed.
AlTen Johnson] (New Haven, Gommnectlcut: Yale University
Press, 1921), Lawrence C. Ford, The Triangular Struggle for
Spanish Pensacola, 1689-1739 (Washington, D. C.: The




L
GROWTH of NEW SPAIN'S MILITARY SYSTEM

The greatest continuous menace to Spanish authority
in North America was that presented by the Indians of one
tr%?e or another. To meet this recurring problem Spain
resorted to all sorts of measures in an attempt to provide
a workable system of defense. Faced with constant problems
in Europe as well as in the New World, her defenslve program
was always plagued with bureaucratic weaknesses and shortages
of men, supplies, and weapons. Also, great distances, poor
transportation, and Ilnadequate communications were retarding
factors. But the most lmportant weakness was her lack of
adequate finances to support full-scale warfare on all her

frontiers, especially the lengthy northern border of New

Catholic University of America Press 1939) Lawrence
Kinnaird (ed.), Spain in the Mississi vaiie -1 9
Translations of Materials in In the S an%sﬁ KrcETves
Bancroft Librarx TAnnual Report oi the American Historical
ssociation for the Year R Volis. 11n“?] (3 vols. ¢
Washington, D. C.: Government Printing Office, 19b6$ and
Arthur P. Newton The European Nationa in the West Indies
1&2}-1688 (London:~ A. & C. Blac “=1933). Newton's
work 1s also useful on the Dutch éhreats to Spaints empire,
particularly in the Caribbean. Various phases of the menace
presented by the Unlted States have been examined. Among
the more lmportant are Kinmmaird’'s work noted above, John W,
Caughey, Bernardo de Gflvez in Louisiana, 1116“1%83
(Berkeley: University of California Press 193 and two
by Arthur P. Whitaker, The §2anish-Americg§ Frontigg
1783-1795: The Westward M Movement and the Spanish Retreat
in the Mississippl Valley (Boston: Houghton Miffliﬁ Company,
T_27T-an35The Mississippl Question, lZgE—lBO; tudy in
Trade, Pol uics and Di lomac (New Yor Apple on
Century Company9 193ly). Russian advances and the threats to
Spain may be examined in Stuart R, Tompkins and Max L.
Moorhead, "Russia’s Approach to America," The British
Columbia’ Historical %uarterlg XIII Nos. 2"“3 and L (April
and July-October, 1 ober, 1949 % and §31
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Spain. Unable to overcome these fundamental impediments,
Spain attempted to solve her problem by improving and
adapting her policy to the unfavorable conditions.
Th> early conquerbrs and thelr military forces were
'generally not regulars at all, but volunteer captains.with
Indefinite royal commlissions and followings of mere adven-

turers. Agreements known as capitulacliones were negotiated

between the c¢rown and the conquistador, and the latter or a
group of adventurers generally ﬁrovided the financlal support
for the venture. The majority of the royal troops in New

~ Spain during the seventeenth céntury were concentrated in
the coastal towns to repel frequent attacks made by bucca-
neers. Before the middle of the eighteenth century the
mllitary organlzation of the Kingdom of New Spain, there-
fore, amounted only to a few companies of militia and fewer

of regula‘rs.2

During the first two centuries of Spanish occupation
the crown never attempted to maintaln a regular stahding
army of royal troops in New Spain, relying mostly upon
forces recruited from the citizenry of that region. Thils
militia-type force involved three contingents. The first

and the poorest ones, known a&s the compafilas sueltas, or

separate companies, were assigned to guard the coasts; the

second group, provincial militia, was distributed throughout

hl

®Donald B. Smith, The Viceroy of New Spain [Univer-
sity of Californis Publications in H%éEErE Vol. I, No. 2]
(Berkeley: University of Galifornia Press, 1914), p. 199.
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the interior; and a third unit of "crack" organizations was
stationed in important cities such as México, Puebla, and
Vers Cruz.>

As captain-general of the kingdom, the Viceroy of
New Spain had supreme command over all naval and military
forces, the militia of the provinces, and the police force
of the capital. In wartime he was assisted by the consejo
supreme de guerra, a council composed of military leaders,

and in peacetime he administered directly those troops
stationed within the province of the capital while intendants

and local officials performed the task of supervising those
outside of the capitalou

In the second half of the sixteenth century frontier
warfare became more highly organized since a system was
developed on the Chichimeca frontier north of Mexico City.
The constant warfare against the many bands of Chichimecas
necessitated the creation of the first bodies of regularly-
paid and systematically-organized Spanish soldiery in New
spain.5 A presidio troop came into being in the 1570's to
serve &8s an escort on the highways and to act as a roving
patrol. Sometimes the forces of these presidial units

comprised only three or four soldiers under a captain or

3Ibid., pp. 200 and 206.
“1pid., pp. 105 and 197.
5Philip W. Powell, Soldiers, Indians and Silver:

The Northward Advance of New Spain, ’ 1580-1600 (Berkeley and
Tos Angeles: University of Callfornie Press 1952), p. 136,
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caudillo, but occasionally as garrisons they might number as
many as fourteen. During that decade they were systemati-
cally recruited, paid, and instructed by the viceregal
government. In the absence of royal troops, protection on
the frontier was provided by presidial troops and, as in the
past, by & moblilization of the citizenry and allied Indian
tribes in time of crisis.,6

By the 1580%'s a distinction was being made between
those soldiers serving at their own expense and those
recelving regular salaries from the royal government.7
Enlistments were usually largest in the local militia units.
All settlers from sixteen to forty years of age had to be
reglstéred, and they were required to serve for ten consec-

utive years in the militia. However, after one-half of this

service, they could apply for duty in the tropa veterana,

or regular company, under royal support.8 According to
theif Individual asientos, or enlistment contracts, the
settlers were required to present themselves with arms and
horses in good condltion before the lieutenant captain-
general within thirty days after the initial call to duty.
Commanded by individual captains, who were usually either

peninsulares (0l1d World Spaniards) or criollos (colonial-born

®Ibid., p. 130.
TIbid., p. 263.

8Maria del Carmén Veldsquez, El1 estado de la guerra
en Nueve Eapafia, 1760-1808 (México: EL Colegio de México,
P. gﬁ
’
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Spaniards) and generally landholders or mine owners, these
militia units were composed largely of criollos themselves.
Recruitment rolls of the 1580's reveal that about sixty
per cent of the soldiers thus obtained were native to New
Spain, the majority being from the México district.9

- In the eighteenth century basic changes were made

in this initial military system. By 1760 troops in New
Spain could be divided into two basic categories: the

regulars of the tropa veterana and the militia. Regular

units were used almost exclusively for garrison duty and at
strategic points on the frontier as well as in the principal
ports. Examples of these garrisons were those >f the most
Important unit at Vera Cruz, in the fortress of San Juan de
Ulta, and others at San Piego de Acapulco and on the Isla
del Carmén, in the Laguna de Términos. In the capital there
was & company of 220 infantry and one of 103 cavalry, both
orgenized in 1695. Their principal function was to guard
the viceroy and his palace, but they also protected Spanish
treasure, prisons, and public buildings, patrolled the
streets, and suppressed public disorders. In case of
emergency they could reinforce the Vera Cruz garrison. In
addition to these units, the viceroy had a personal guard

made up of a company of twenty-three halberdiers whose

Powell, Soldiers, Indians, and Silver, pp. 132 and
136. The average age of these soldiers was about twenty-
five, but ages ranged from a minimum of nineteen to a
maximum of fifty.
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function was mainly decorative.lo
The northern frontier from California to Texas was
_guarded by & system of presidios, twenty-two in number, with
a total strength of only 907 men. In addition to the fixed
presidial garrisons there were a number of small mobile

squadrons; or compafiias volantes, which totaled 1449 men in

Nuevo Santander and Nuevo Leén.tl The small garrisons,
sometimes called presidios de tierra, escorted travellers,
guarded convoys, and defended against the incursions of the

indiocs bérbaros, the nomadic hostiles who continued to resist

Spanish authority. The only offensive warfare which the
presidials conducted was that which they called "defen-
sive. 12

The second ma jor component of New Spain's military
forces was that of the militia or citizen soldiery. Organ-
1zed into military units and supposedly given periodic
training, the militia was of two types: wurban and provincial.

101716 N. McAligster, "The Reorganization of the Army
of New Spain, 1763-1766," The Hispanic American Historical
Review, XXXIII, No. 1 (February, 1953), 2-l}. The Hispanic
American Historical Review is hereinafter abbreviated as

HAHR .

111p14., p. 3. The total of 1,056 in these two
forces compares favorably with those in Table 1, Appendix
One, compiled from Estado . . . de infanteria, dragones, ¥y
compafifas sueltas . . . de Nueva Espapia, México, September 7,
1758, Archivo General de la Nacibén, Correspondencia de los
Virreyes, Vol. III, f. 419, in Lyle N. MacAlister, The
"Fuero Militar" in New Spain, 1; %—1800 (Gainesviiie:
University ol FloriﬁE‘Press, 1 p. 93. Hereinafter the
Archivo General de la Nacién is abbreviated as AGN.

1268 rmén Veldzquez, Estado de la guerra, p. 92.
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A standard organizational concept had been developed in
1734, but in New Spain these units were in fact “"neither
organized nor'discijpli‘nedo"13 In theory they were to be
raised by politlcal districts such as alcaldias mayores,

gobernaciones, or corregimientos, and within these jurisdic-

tions the municipalities-~the ciudades, villas, and pueblos

--were supposed to maintain companies. of infantry or
cavalry. By 1760 these compenies had neither been assembled
nor called into active service since 17&1, thelr rosters
listed men who had died or long since moved from the juris-
diction, their officers were untrained and over-agé, and the
units themselves were without uniforms, arms, or equipment.lu
They were soldiers in name only, existing in specific local
areas or scattered over the countryside without being
quartered In any central 1ocation.1S

During the mobilization undertaken by Spain for the
Seven Years! War companies of militia were found to exist

mainly on paper,l6 Immediately after the war a major

13M0A118ter, "The Reorganization of the Army of New
Spain, 1763-1766," HAHR, XXXIII, No. 1, L-5.

1pig., p. 5.
15carmén Veldzquez, Estado de la guerra, p. 92.

1%Mcalister, "The Reorganization of the Army of New
Spain, 1763-1766," HAHR, XXXIII, No. 1., 7. The author
concludes on the followlng page that these forces were
Inadequate to repulse a strong expeditionary force, but were
strong enough to maintain internal security and to defend
agalnst hostile Indlans. This last statement may be
seriously challenged in view of the critical condition of
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reorganizetion of the military units in New Spain was
effected. The previous dependence upon fixed fortifications
was to be supplemented thereafter by the creation of
colonial armies, led by & nucleus of royal troops. The mass
of these forces was to be recruited f;om the local citizenry,
and there was to be an increase in number as well as an
improvement of organization and discipline. Little attention
was devoted to the regular components or toward the urban
militias beyond standardizing their functions throughout the
kingdom. The greatest part of the new program was directed
at the formation of provincial militias to become the bulk
of the colonial army.17

To popularize militia service privileges and exemp-
tions were granted to provincials. The complete fuero
militar (body of military privileges) was granted for all
of ficers, placing their involvement in litigation, civil and
criminal, under military jurisdiction. Enlisted personnel

were also to receive the fuero militar when their specific

units were mobilized.18
This reorganization had far-reaching soclal,
economic, and political effects. Preoccupation with

military affalirs increased and expenses for these activities

Spanlsh settlement on the northern frontier and the wide-
spread Indlan raids, especially in the latter half of the
eighteenth century.

1014., pp. 8-16.

Bi4., p. 25.
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grew, absorbing an ever-increasing share ofAthe financial
expenditures of New Spain. Yet, the program brought few
immediate improvements. The citizens resisted the induce-
ments for enlistment; discipline and morale declined among
the regular troops; desertlon became a serious problem; and
marked deficiencies of arms, uniforms, mounts, and equipment
continued.l? One of the greatest problems faced by the
viceroys was the disianclination of the Spanish inhabitants
to pursue a career of military service. Since New Spain was
not invaded, the people developed a passive attitude towards

enlistment projects undertaken by the viceroy and his

officials.2® As a result the provincial militia was a far
from effective force. When mobilized in 1781-1782 during
the war with Great Britain, most of its units were found to
be under strength, poorly trained, and inadequately equipped.
Although mostly unfit for active duty, the militia cost
hh9,h20 pesos per year and was a great drain upon the

resources of the empirenal

191b1d., pp. 27-32. The author notes that out
of the six provincial regiments only that of México was
completely armed and uniformed. The Puebla and Toluca L
regiments had rebullt muskets but nc uniforms, and the other
three had neither arms nor uniforms. In the mounted units,
one example of the regimental deficlencies will suffice.
The Querétaro Regiment was completely mounted and partially
uniformed, but it lacked carbines, its basic weapon.

200 rmén Veldzquez, Estado de la guerra, p. 231.

2lyMcalister, "Fuero Militar" in New Spaim, p. 55.
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After 1776 the northern frontier was organized as a
separate military unit; independent of the Viceroy of New

Spain and placed under a comandante general. The military

forces of the Provincias Internas del Norte were divided

Into two major services: One, involving the ma jority of the
troops, was distributed thinly as an outer line of defense
against the indios bérbaros while the other element, composed

of various urban regiments and companies, was concentrated
near the interior settlements to preserve internal order and
to act as a reserve in case of foreign invasion. 22

Yet, troops were not available in sufficient numbers
and in enough locations to defend the entire frontier
adequately. Their effectiveness was seriously limited by
groat distances between posts, poor transportation, and
inefficient, inadequate supplies of powder, ammunition, and
weapons. Other problems included the necessity of recruiping
untrained troops and officers from the mestizo element of
the population, the weaknesses of the colonial regular army,
lack of discipline and training, and a practical ignorance
of the strategy of war,23

Teodoro de Croix, comendante general in 1780,

reported that the king spent huge sums on troops who could
only defend themselves and could do nothing to protect the

22Sm:ltn The Viceroy of New Spain, p. 211.
23A1fred B. Thomas, Teodoro de Croix and the Northern

Frontler of New Spain, 1 6-1783 (Norman: University of
Oklahoma Press, IEEIT, p. 11.
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neighboring countryside, much less make campaigns against
the hostile Indians of the region. He observed that chaos
reigned within the presidios where there was poor'discipline,
inefficient administration, rare payment of soldlers, and
corruption among the paymasters. He further noted that the
troops were unskilled in handling arms, knew nothing of
subordination and proper discipline, lost thelr horses, wore
out their uniforms, arms, and harnesses, and frequently went
hungry. Croix recognized that the real threat to New Spain
was not a forelgn but an Indian menace. By the end of his

administration in 1783, his efforts to strengthen the frontier
had ylelded some positive results. By that time he had

4,686 men (presidials and militia) scattered from Texas to
Sonora to defend the frontier, and he had injected new life
into the presldios, setting up patrols between them, and
creating & line of military settlements behind them. He had
also organized an effective militia in Nueva Vizcaya,
relocated the presidlal 1line and improved post sites in
Sonora, distributed forces more efficiently in Goshuile, and
made peace with many of the formerly hostile tribes from the
lower Rio Grande to the Gila River.au

New Mexico, as a protruding salient beyond the main
1ine of frontier military posts, possd a great defensive
problem throughout the eighteenth century. As late as 1780,
Croir noted that 1ts only defense consisted of the Presidio

2irp1d., pp. 12-13, 25, and 65-67.
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of Santa Fé and a "militia of Indians and Spanilards,
1l11-equipped with arms and horses and without instruction
and discipline."25 Although Croix considered the Indians as
part of the militia of New Mexico, it must be noted that
they were not actually an integral part of that organization.
They seem to have been treated as a separate force by Spanish
authorities within the province throughout the eighteenth
century. Therefore, the province had three forces with
which to defend itself from hostile Indians who attacked the
reglon from three directions. The small presidial unit at
the capitai, usually numbering approximately eighty soldiers,
wag the nucleus and the only regular component in New Mexico.
A local militia of unreliable vecinos (heads of* households
usually but sometlimes individual settlers) occasionally
supplied help from the capital and outlying settlements such
as Albuquerque, Senta Cruz de la Cafiada, and Bernalillo.
The third and most numerous force in the defensive pattern
was the Pueblo Indlan auxiliary element, which had been used
on nearly every campaign since the conquest of the province
was completed by Diego de Vargas in the last decade of the

seventeenth century.

THE INDIAN AUXILIARY in NEW SPAIN
Perhaps the rellance upon non-Spanish auxiliaries

did not begin with Hernén Cortés in 1519. The practice may

251b14., p. 2k.
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have arisen from the seven-century conflict with the Moslems
on the Iberian Peninsula. Mercenaries were frequehtly used
throughout Europe in the Middle Ages, and the practice may
have been transferred to the New World with the Spanish

explorers and conquistadores. It appears as though the

technique was employed in the fifteenth-century conquest of
the Canary Islands, and it may have been used on a limited
scale in reducing the Caribbean natives from 1493 through
1513, particularly during the conquests of Espafiola and Cuba.
Whatever its origins before reeching the North American
Continent, 1t was certainly a primary aspect of Spanish
reduction of native elements after the landing near Vera
Cruz in 1519. Cultural diversity and political fragmentation
rendered the Indians of this new continent incapable of
withstanding pressure from the Europeans, Indians ignored
the beneflits of racial solidarity in the face of threats
from outside their hemisphere, forAthey fought on both sides
in the ensuing conflict.26 As one authority on Spanish-
Indian relations has concluded:
In a very real sense the Indians of America were

the conquerors~-or destroyers--of their own world, to

the advantage of the European invaders. Time and again

the story was repeated: Indians conquered other

Indlans to enable Europeans to control vast New World
areas. Much, or sven most, of Buropean conquest in.

26y1111am T. Hagan, The Indian in American History
(New York: The Macmillan Company, 1963), p. 3. Although
this work deals with the relations between the United States
and the Indians, the conclusion is equally vaiid for the
Spanish relationship as well.
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America was alded and abetted by the Indlans' fighting
their own race--a fight that was supervised by handfuls
of white men who astutely profited by long-standing
native rivalries or the basic_enmity between nomadic
and sedentary Indian peoples.27

Despite the significant role played by the Indian
ally in the conquest, colonization, and defense of New
Spain, particularly on the northern frontier, little direct
attentlion has been devoted to intense, concentrated study of
the use of Indian auxiliaries. Spanish methods of inducement
and recruitment, the organizational structures and composition
of these contingents, the chain of command and field leader-
ship, battle techniques, distribution of captured beoty, the
specific military contributions of these avxiliary forces,
and their indirect services as interpreters, suppliers of
food, and informants all need to be sxumined. The Pueblos
of New Mexico, although important, were by no means the only
Indian allles on the frontiers of New Spain, nor were they
the first to establish such a relationship with the Spaniards.

Spain's initial use of Indian auxiliaries in Northk
America, 1t should be re-emphasized, occurred in the Cortesian
conquest. At the village of Cempoala, near present day Vera
Cruz, Cortés secured active native allies who provided food,
servants, and a troop of tamenes, or porters, to carry
baggage, guns, and munitions. The cacique of the Totonacs,
once he had allied with Cortés, attempted to induce the

Spaniards to attack a hostile tribe in the vicinity. 1In

2Tpowell, Soldiers, Indians, and Silver, p. 158.
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truth, "hereditary feuds and intermittent warfare were the
normal condition of the whole country."28 When Cortés
departed from Cempoala on August 16, 1519, with fifteen
horsemen and three hundred foot soldiers he took some of the
natives and their.chiefs, who proved quite useful on the
road.29 He gathered recruits from other villages as he
marched and made the first recorded Spanish use of auxil-
jaries in battle in his assault on Tlaxcala in September.
Cortés noted thet he used in this suceessful struggle his
horsemen, one hundred foot soldiers, four hundred Indians
from Cempoala and three hundred from Ixtacmaxtitlén.Bo

Although they were not the first Indian auxiliaries,
the Tlaxcalans themselves now became Cortés' most important
allles in the conquest of México. The "high degree of
independence and local authority" of the Tlaxcalan communi-
ties and their long resistance to the Aztecs effectively

prepared them for the position they were sdon to occupy. By

28p, a, Kirkpatrick, The Spanish Conguistadores
(Cleveland and New York: The World Publishing Company,
1962), p' 7"'"

29Hernén Cortés, Second Dispatch, Segura de la
Frontera, October 30, 1520, in Irwin R. Blacker and Harry M.
Rosen (eds.), Conquest: Dispatches of Cortés from the New
World (New York: Grosset and Dunlap, 1962), pp. e22-23.
Herelnafter cited as Blacker and Rosen, Conquest.

301bid., p. 29. William H. Prescott, History of the
s ° ° ——— c——

Conquest of Mexico (New York: Modern Libraéy, n. d.),
Pp. 228-230, states that the number of auxiliaries had
reached three thousand before the assault on Tlaxcala but he
apparently confused this number with the later quantities
acquired for the subjugation of the Aztecs. Prescott does
note that the allies were of "great service to the Spaniards."
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the time the Spaniards arrived in their province, the Tlax-
calans had already developed a system of native warfare which
would be of great assistance to them in the future reduction
of the Aztec Empire. Generally, they fought 1ln separate
groups, usually numbering several thousand each, with
distinctlve Insignias and .leaders, advancing into battle to
the accompaniment of musical instruments, and utilizing bows
and arrows, darts, stones, lances, and macanas (war clubs)
as weapons. Their military tactics usually consisted of
alternating arrow barrages wlth close personal engagements.3l

Tlaxcalan military aid was not given immediately,
but only when Cortés determined to go to Cholula. Although
thousands set out to accompany him, only about six thousand

arrived in the Valley of México with the conguistador.

Before reaching that objective they made their first direct
contribution as auxiliaries at Cholula, where they aided in
the discovery of the native plot to entrap and execute the
Spanish intruders. The newly-acquired Indian allies then
participated with the Spaniards in the subsequent slaughter

in the streets of that city.>2

3lgnaries Gibson, Tlaxcala in the Sixteenth Century
[Yale Historical Publicatons, Vol. XXXIITI] (New Haven,
ConnectIcut: Yale University Press, 1952), pp. 10 and 15.
Pueblo Indians also were highly independen%, had a high
degree of local authority, and had no central governing body.

321p14., p. 22; Prescott, Conquest of Mexico, pp. 265
and 272-273. Gortés noted that’oﬁs-ﬁﬁﬁﬁiea_t ousand Indian
allies from Tlaxcalae accompanied him, but this is apparently
an exaggeration as he later observed that he descended into
the Valley of Mexico with more than four thousand Indians of
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Having convinced the Europeans of their faithfulness
and having demonstrated their value in battle, the Tlaxcalans
formed an integral part of the army which later entered
Tenochtitldn. The splendor of the entrance into the Aztec
capital has been depicted by Williem Hickling Prescott and
other historians, but for purposes of this study the
organizatibn and placement of the Indian auxiliaries may be
noted. Cortés and a small band of horsemen comprised the
advance guard; the Spanish infantry followed with the baggage
in the center of the column; and at the rear came the long
files of native warriors. Divided into battalions, these
auxiliaries carried their own banners. Four chiefs marched
in the van and pages carrying their weapons followed. Then
came the standard bearers and others waving banners, followed
by the warricrs themselves. Prescott notes that the
Tlaxcalans, particularly their leader Xicotencatl, tried to
imitate their European masters not only in their tactics but
in their militéry etiquette and behavior as wello33

From the initial entrance into Tenochtitldn until
its final reduction in 1521, the auxiliaries from Tlaxcala
participated in neariy all the Spanish military expeditions.
Théy accompaniéd Cortés to the East Coast in 1520 to meet
the threat presented by the arrival of the new Spanish army

Tlaxcala, Guajocingo, Cholula, and Cempoala. See Cortés,
Second Dispatch, Segura de la Frontera, October 30, 1520, in

Blacker and Rosen, Conquest, p. 38.
33Prescott, Conquest of Mexlco, pp. 295 and L491-492.
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from Cuba under P4nfilo de Narvdez. Tlaxcalans performed

well on "la noche triste," June 30, 1520, when the Spaniards

retreated from the capital. A Tlaxcalan oftfered to guide the
defeated and disorganized Spaniards to his country,3u and
the Europeans were harbored there while they recuperated and
reorganized for a second assault on the Valley of México.
The faithful allies participated in the construction of the
brigantines, which were bullt initially in their province,
then disassembled, carried to Texcoco, and reassembled for
launching on the lake.35 More than twenty thousand were
reported to have jolned in the final siege and attack on
Tenochtitldn along with Texcocans, Huejotzingans, and other
natives in 1521.3° During this attack, Cortés was de-horsed
on one occasion and immediately a Tlaxcalan Indian rushed to
help him, aiding a servant of the congueror to raise the
horse and permitting the Spanish lsader to remount .3 1

During the course of the battle, however, Cortés noted that
his greatest difficulties with the Indian allies were

3bgernsn Cortés, Second Dispatch, Segura de la
Frontera, October 30, 1520 in Blacker and Rosen, Conquest,

p. 76.

35Gibson, Tlaxcals in the Sixteenth Century, p. 22
C. Harvey Gardiner Naval Power in the Conquest Mexico
(Agsgin- University of Texas Press 1956) PP - 92 102 and
11 16.

36

Glbson, Tlaxcala in the Sixteenth Century, pp. 22~

230

3THernan Cortés, Third Dispatch, Cuyoacan, May 15,
1522 in Blacker and Rosen Conquest, p. 110.
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preventing their desertion and restraining them during
ferocious attacks upon their enemies.38

After the conquest of México Tlaxcalans accompanied
the principal land expeditions conducted during the next
decade. They participated in Pedro de Alvarado’s march to
Guatemala in 152l and six years later aided Nufic de Guzmén
in western Mexico°39 Three thousand allies, including the
Aztec leaders of Tacuba and México, joined Cortés in his
march to Honduras in 1524, building bridges to cross rivers
where the Spaniards refused to perform such a task.uo The
precedent set by the Totonacs and Tlaxcalans was already

bearing fruit for the Spanish conguistadores 1n the third

decade of the sixteenth century. New allies were recruited
among groups of Mayas in the Yucatédn country after 1527.
Francisco de Monte jo's expedition into that region used
friendly Mayas, recelving them as vassals of His Majesty,
and requiring them to aid in warfare, to furnish supplies,
and to act as guldes or scouts,ul

As a reward for the extensive services provided‘
by the aborigines, the Spanish Crown granted them many
privileges, especially the Tlaxcalans. These special

381pid., pp. 1h2-1h,
39Gibson, Tlaxcala in the Sixteenth Century, p. 23.
uoPreocott Conquest of Mexico, pp. 6Ll-6l6.

ulRobert S. Chamberlain, The Conquest and Colonization
of YucaténS 1511;1550 (Hashington D. C.: Carnegle Institu-
pe
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dispensations were made also to serve as an inducement to
other Indians for their cooperation. Tlaxcala received its
fueros, or privileges, in the period between fhe conquest of
México and the colonilzation projeects undertaken by them at
royal request in the north after 1591. One authoritj has
observed that the Tlaxcalan experience closely paralleled
that of the Canary Islands. The subjugation of natives
followed a similar pattern, beginning with the initial
conquest by the Spaniards. Then the natives were used for
further conquests and were finally accorded the privileged
1:1:*ezarl:ment.}"'2

In this manner during the sixteenth century Charles I
and Philip II authorized the creation of such fueros for
Tlaxcala. The Viceroy of New Spain was directed to honor
and favor the Indians of that city and I'epublic':.,,'l'3 All laws
published by that native province in 1545 were confirmed by
royal authority, and a governorship was récognized there,
"having particular memory of the good zeal and fidelity that
the Tlaxcalan Indians had for our service in the pasto"uh

Aborigines of this region were not to be forced to serve

42:1bson, Tlaxcals in the Sixteenth Gentury, pp. 161-

162.

43Recopilac16n de leyes de los reynos de las Indias
(3 vols.; Madrid: Impresora de dicho real ¥y Suprema conse jo,
1943), Tomo II, Libro VI, T4tulo I, Ley xxxviiii. Herein-
after’ this monumental codification first published in 1681

is cited as Recopilacibn de leyes.

Wi1h14., Tomo II, Libro VI, Ttulo I, Leyes xxxx and
xxxx1i.
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elsewhere, they were permitted to correspond directly with
the king if they had important business or complaints to
present, and in such cases the viceroy, audiencia, and judges
could not prevent such zappeusxl.h'5 The natives also were glven
permission to carry swords, wear Spanish clothing, and ride
horses.ué The crown bestowed a royal coat of arms upon
Tlaxcala, awarded 1t the title of "La Leal Cludad de
Tlaxcala" in 1535 and upgraded it to "Muy Noble y Muy Leal

Ciudad" in 1563. The city was promised perpetual control
of the province of Tlaxcala, and subsequently the crown
prohibited any interference with its native markets. Most
important of all, in 1585 the Tlaxcalans were exempted from
tributary payments.u7

Although the Tlaxcalans were neither the first nor
the only Indians to serve as allies of the Spaniards in the
early decades, they were the most loyal and most numerous
supporters of Spanish expansion in all directions from Mexico
City. The general pattern developed by Cortés, involving
initial conquest and then alliance with and military assistance

from the vanquished natives, was common to most of the Indian

peoples encountered by that conquistador and those who

451bid., Tomo II, Libro VI, Titulo I, Leyes xxxxiiii
and XXXXvV.

héGibson, Tlaxcala in the Sixteenth Century, p. 163.

4T1p1d., pp. 164-167. An excellent summary of the
royal prilvileges granted to the Tlaxcalan Republic may be
found in Appendix VII of this work, pp. 229-23l.
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followed him. It was true even for the mighty‘Aztecs; who,
once conquered, aided in the Sﬁbjugation of other regions,
such as that of western New Spain after the Mixtén War in
1841-1542 .48 |

On the‘exfandiﬁg frontier north of the capital,
particularly in fhe.region of‘the Gran Chichimeca north of
Zacatecas in the second half of the sixteenth century,
native auxiliaries formed the bulk of the fighting forces
employed by Spanish authorities. TUsed as burden bearers,
warriors, interpreters, scouts, and émissaries, they occupied
a significant role in the cilvilization and pacification of
the country roamed by the various Chichimeca tribes.
Tarascans and Otomies were employed primarily in these
campaigns. Occasionally armies composed exclusively of
native warriors, especially of the ever-faithful Otomi

nation, roamed the tierra de guerra to search for, defeat,

and help Christianize the hostile nomads of the north. 1In
some regions defense was entrusted to these aborigines
'<:01suple1:el3".“'9 |

By the end of the Mixtén War in Nueva Galicia
Spanish laws prohibiting the use of European weapons and
horses by the natives of New Spain had been fairly well

4B1pid., pp. 158-159. A force of 450 Spaniards and
thirty thousand Tlaxcalan and Aztec allies 1s reported in
J. Lloyd Mecham, Francisco de Ibarra and Nueva Vizca
(Durham, North. daTolina: Duke Un University Press, 1927;,

p. 33.

h9Powell, Soldiers,-Indians, and Silver, p. 158.
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broken down under the necessity of maintaining Indian
fighting forces as buffers against widespread Chichimeca
re1ds.50 Since Tarascans and Otomies had been indoctrinated
in the methods and practices of Spanish warfare during the
Mixtén War, it was quite natural that they should become the
first important auxiliaries in the entradas carried out
against the Chichimecas. They played a major role as
interpreters and negotiators both in the war and in the
arrangement of peace treaties.51 Indian interpreters were
allowed to ride Spanish horses and carry Spanish weapons for
protection during these eXpeditions;52

Three important developmeﬁts are notable in the use
of Indian auxiliaries during this period. None were
original, but all were extensions and refinements of past
policles pursued by the Spaniards. First, the power of
attraction possessed by the auxiliaries was everywhere

apparent. Soon after 1548 some of the Chichimecas themselves

on the southern edge of the tlerra de guerra became allies

of the white men, and later the more northerly Guachichiles
served the Spaniards against the rebellious natives, acting

particularly well as informers,53

50arthur 8. Aiton, Antonio de Mendoza: First Viceroy
of New Spain (Durham North Carolina: Duke University
Press 1 275 PP é and 177-178; Powell, Soldiers, Indians,
and Silver p. 159.

51Powell, Soldiers, Indians, and Silver, p. 166.

521b1d., p. 167.

531pid., pp. 167-169.
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The second and third developments were products of
the viceregal administration of the first Luis de Velasco.
He sent friendly natives into the war zone to form defensive
colonies and to encuurage the hostile tribes to make peace.
Also, he established an Otomi militia, under the command of
the cacique of Tula. On May 1, 1557, this eminent warrior,
now known as Don Nicoléds de San Luis Montafiez, was cloaked
with the title of hldalgo and the rank of captain in the’
Chichimeca region. He was allowed full use of Spanish
military equipment and command over his own warriors but was

subject to the orders of the alcalde mayor of Jilotepec and

required to be accompanied by a Spaniard on all campaigns.
Other native leaders, such as Juan Bautista Valerio de la
Cruz and Hernando de Tapia, were also commissioned to lead
auxiliary forces in the defense of Spanish colonies within
the Gran (.‘J:xichim.ecem.SLL

By 1600, as a result of the policy established by
Cortés and continued in the Mixtén and Chichimeca wars, the
Spanlards had come to rely heavily on the military employment
of friendly Indians. By that time the principal inducements
offered to attach the natives to the Spanish cause included
distributing gifts, granting titles of nobility and military

commissions to chieftains, permitting the use of horses,

541bid., pp. 70-71. Note that Spanish policy and
law prohibiting Indians from riding horses and carrying
firearms had been broken within the first century after
Cortés' landing at Vera Cruz.
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arms, and other Spanish military equipment ordinarily denled
the natives, extending Spanish military protection to villages
exposed to attack by hostliles, and exempting from tribute and
personal service those who assumed especially hazardous
assignments.55

Exploratory expeditions, such as those of Francisco
de Ibarra northward from Guadala jara into Nueva Vizcaya and
Sinaloa after 1546, also employed Indien auxiliaries. 1In
these operations the natives’were particularly valuable as
ihterpreters, informants, and negotiators. As the frontler
advanced from Zacatecas to Santa Bdrbara, on the Rlo Conchos,
and from Culiacén to San Juan de Sinaloa, in the west, by
the 1570's, Indian allies contributed to this movement, thus
making possible further advances by Spain into the present
southwestern United States. Although most of these auxil-
laries were drawn from western New Spain, some Aztecs were
included in the founding of Nueva Vizcaya, and other warriors
from newly-encountered tribes, such as those along the Rio
Sinaloa, were voluntarily recruited.56

One of the most unique uses of Indian allies on the
northern frontler of New Spain was as defensive colonists.

As early as 1560 Viceroy Velasco established Jilotepec

55Ibida, pp. 170-171. Some of these characteristics
are also noted by Edward H. Spicer, Cycles of Conquest: The
;%Eact of Spain, Mexico, and the United States on the Indians
of the Southwest, 1533-1%53—(Tucson- Tniversity of Arizona
Press, 1962), pp. 16, 28 85, and 571-572.

56Mecham, Francisco de Ibarra, pp. 113, 135, and 237.




Indians on the México-Zacatecas road. Philip II recommended
the colonizing of Tlaxecalans in the Chichimeca country in
1566, and Spanish officials in Durango later requested that
one thousand of them be brought northward.57 However,
nothing came of these plans until Viceroy Luis de Velasco II
undertook the most extensive colonization project of all on
the northern frontier.

In 1591 Velasco proposed that four hundred Tlaxcalan
families "volunteer" to settle the hostile frontier and teach
the Chichimecas by their example the blessings of Spanish
civilization.58 As inducements the viceroy authorized the
Tlaxcalan settlers titles of hidalgo, freedom from tribute
and personal service, segregation from other peoples, and
provision of food for a minimum of two years. All privileges
previously granted to Tlaxcala itself would be preserved for
these settlers, and they would be allowed to ride horses and

bear arms.59

57Gibson, Tlaxcala in the Sixteenth Century, pp. 182-
183; Charles W. Hackett (ed.), Historical Documents Relating
o New Mexico, Nueva Vizcaya, and Approaches Thereto, to
1773 (3 vols.; Washiagton, D. C.: Carnegie Institutionm,
1923-1937), I, 154-157; Mecham, Francisco de Ibarra, p. 231.
Hackett's work 1s hereinafter cifed as Historical Documents.
There 1s also an excellent unpublished semInar paper on the
sub ject of Tlaxcalan colonization. See David Adams,
"Tlaxcalan Colonization in Northern New Spain, 1550-1777,"
University of Texas [1963]. This paper concentrates upon
the settlement of Parras, Saltillo, and Monclova; it draws
on Gibson's Tlaxcala in ﬁgg Sixteenth Century, Powell's
Soldiers, Indians, and Silver, and meny Mexican works &s
source material,

5BGibson, Tlaxzcala in the Sixteenth Century, p. 183.

591bid., p. 18l.
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Although six settlements were initially planned for
the northern frontier, the most important were San Estéban
de Tlaxcala (present-day Saltillo) in 1591 and Parras in
1598 under the leadership of Francisco de Urdiﬁola.60 The
Nueva Tlaxcala (San Estéban) settlement became the mother
colony from which numerous other colonization projects
occurred.61 No other expeditions apparently were sent after
1591 from the old city of Tlaxeala, but all future projects
for planned settlement northward used settlers from the
original colony near Saltillo. By 171k Tlaxcalans had
conducted a punitive expedition against rebellious Indians
in Coahulla, and by 1720 they were aiding Spanlsh troops in
Texas.%2 After 1757 & small colony from Saltillo assisted
in the repression of Apache raids on the San Sabd River in
Texas, and twenty years later a settlement of Tlaxcalans was
proposed among the Taovayas Indians on the upper Red River,63

Settlers from the Tlaxcalan colony near Saltlllo may have

been introduced into New Mexico during the eighteenth

601p1d., pp. 185-186,

Olgerbert E. Bolton, Texas in the Middle Eighteenth
Century: Studies in Spanish Colonial History and Adminis-
tration (Berkeley: University of California Press, 1915),

P

62Gibson, Tlaxcala in the Sixteenth Century, pp. 187-

188.

©3g01ton, Texas in the Middle Eighteenth Century,
p. 345; Gibson, Tlaxcala in the Sixteenth Century, p. 188,
reports that nine famllles were designated as teachers in
the Apache missions near San Antonio.
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centu.r;sr.&lL

On the northwestern frontier of New Spain Diego de
Hurdaide obtained the assistance of a large aumber of May;s
and Lower Pimas in the reduction of the Yaquis in 1609-
1610.65 In his first unsuccessful campaign he employed two
thousand of these auxiliaries with his forty Spanish soldiers.
After he had reorganized, Hurdalde recruited the largest
army ever placed in the field in northwestern New Spain prior
to 1610 when he increased the number of Indian auxiliaries
to four thousand to accompany his fifty soldiers.66 Although
two unfriendly Indians from Sinaloa tried to induce the
Mayos to defect from the Spaniards, their efforts were in
vain.67 The Lower Pimas;, also reputedly very good soldiers,
frequently were employed in the presidial companies that

were created to campaign against the northern hostiles.

6hAlthough there 1s no documentary evidence to prove
this statement, it has been noted by many prominent authori-
ties. See Gibson, Tlaxcala in the Sixteenth Centur%, p. 189;
Ralph E. Twitchell, The Spanish Archives of New Mexico
(2 vols.; Cedar Rapids, Iowa: The Torch Press, 1914), I,
36. Twitchell records a request for re-validation of a grant
made by Juan de Lebén Brito in the Analco district of Santa Fé
near the chapel of San Miguel. Twitchell states that the
"Britos" were Tlaxcalan Indians but the document itself
notes that Ledén Brito was a "Mexican, and settler of the ward
of Analco, in this town of Santa F6." This is not conclusive
proof that Tlaxcalans settled in New Mexico. Perhaps only
one family may have been the source of the generalization
that Tlaxcalans moved there.

6SSpicer,:Cycles of Conquest, p. 87.

661bid., p. L47.

67Eduardo W. Villa, Historia del estado de Sonora
(24 ed. Hermosillo, Sonora: Editorial Sonora, 1951), p. 82.
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When the Taquis were conquered and became auxiliaries, they
too conformed to the general pattern of subjugated tribes
joining the ranks of the Spaniards and their allies in

future expansionist efforts. Once armed, however, new

problems were encountered with the Yaquis since they were
considered a menace to public security. The disarmament of
this Yaqul force was ordered carried out with "tact and
prudence" so as not to lose their confidence since they were
of a bellicose spirit and could be dangerous if disarmed

violently.68

In Soncra the Spaniards found and organized one of
the most effective auxiliary forces on the entire northern
frontier. The Opatas of that province constantly demon-
strated their loyalty to the newly-arrived Spaniards, and
they were a powerful force in the pacification of rebellious
Indians, especially in the eastern part of the region.69
Spanish authorities began to make use of the Opatas in
campaligns against the Jocomes and Apaches in the present
areas of northern Sonora and Chihuahua between 169l and
1696. 1In the earlier year, when subjected to attack by the
Apaches, the Opatas proved extremely able in defending
themselves, thus justifying their use as a regular part of

the Spanish fighting force when the presidios extended

681pid., pp. 49 and 135.

©91b14., p. Lo.
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westward to include Terranate, Tubac, and Alﬁar.7°

Spanish empioyment of the Opatas bears a marked
similarity to the use of the Puebio Indians in New Mexico.
In both cases the natives were distinguished by their
peaceful character, theilr intense hatred for the surrounding
hogtiles, and dedication to their work. . Opatas and Pueblos
were primarily sedentary peoples, congregated in separate,
autonomous villages and living genefally by farming.
Although employed 1ﬁ dlfferent areas of Spanish expansion,
fheir loyalty was unqueetioned, their services wiﬁely recog-
nized, and they performed as auxiliaries in the same period
of Spanish activity on the northern frontier--essentially
the last decade of the seventeenth through the first two of
the nineteenth centuries. Minor differences of technique
and practices existed untlil the formation of an official
organization of Opatas into regularly-constituted military
units occurred in the last quarter of the.eighfeenﬁh century.
This was a major difference between the Pueblos and Opatas,
for the former never were officlally enlisted into the
Spanish regular service. The loyalty of the Opatas of
Sonora and their effectiveness in warfafe continued into the

early lndependence period in Mexico. 1In 1811 the Governor

7°Spicer, Cycles of Conquest, p. 98. It is inter-
esting to note that as the presidios extended in a given
direction, the Apache raids followed the same path. This
would lead to the obvious conclusion that the indios bérbaros
followed the Spaniard rather than avoided him, thus sustaining
themselves on crops, stock, and slaves captured regularly
from the Iberilans.
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of Sonora, Alejo Garcia Conde; marched from Arizpe with a
"great number of Opatas" accompanying his royalist force to
defeat the insurgents at San Ignacio de Piaxtla in Sinaloa. 1

Throughout the eighteenth nentury Opata communities
bore the brunt of continuous raids by the Apaches on the
northwestern frontier. As allies of the Spaniards, these
warriors had the twofold task of defending their own as well
as the Spanlsh settlements. The compatibility of the Spanish
and Opata cultures together with the working alliance between
them speeded the process of inter-mingling and co-operation
rather than that of separation and hostility. The common
interest found in their efforts to protect their villages
and peoples led to rapid cultural assimilation through
military contacts, increased Spanish infiltration of miners
and settlers into the Indlan region, and also intermarriage.72
Tn 1763 Father Juan Nentuig commented:

Among all of these [Indlans] they are the best
Christians; they are the most loyal vassals of our Lord
the King, never having rebelled against him or his
ministers. They are the most inclined to work, to till
their lands, and to raise cattle; they are the truest
and bravest in war and many times have shown their
courage, both by aiding the Royal troops, and, on thelr

own account in various campaigns at the expense of the
Missions.73

Tlyilla, Historia del estado de Somora, p. 42.
Pueblo Indians had no occasion to support §panish forces in
the suppression of Insurgent uprisings in New Mexlico during
the 1ndependence period since there were none.

T2spicer, Cycles of Conquest, pp. 98-99 and 101l.

73Quoted in ibid., p. 319.
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After 1756, when 140 Opatas were engaged in the
pursult of Apaches as far north as the Gila River, companies
were enllisted to reinforce the regular presidial forces.7u
Spanish defense of Sonofa by 1786 consisted of six presidial

companies, three companies of Opatas and Upper Pimas, and a

picket of dragoons (Piqueta de Dragones).75

The organization and utilization of the companies of
Opatas and Upper Pimas 1is of unusual significance in the
Spanish use of Indian auxiliaries on the frontiers of New
Spain. An inspection of 1785-1786, conducted by Lieutenant
Colonel Roque de Medina, Assistant Inspector of Presidios,
ordered by Josef Antonio Rengel, the Interim Comandant
General of the Provincias Internas del Norte, reveals many
of the details concerning these companies.

At San Rafael de Buenavista on the twenty-second and
twenty-third of November, 1785, Medina found & company
completely manned by Upper and Lower Pimas except for four
Opatas and the Spanish officers. He noted that there were
seventy-eight Indians in this unit, commended by four offi-
cers, including a regular lieutenant, a second lieutenant,

and two sergeants. Both of the lieutenants evidently had a

Thipig., p. 98.

75Jacobo Ugarte y Loyola to Marqués de Sonora,
Chihuahua, June 1, 1786, Archivo General de Indias, Audiencia
Guadala jara 521 (1lo4-6-23). Hereinafter the Archivo General
de Indias 1s abbreviated as AGI. The author of this study
is indebted to Dr. Max L. Moorhead for making this and the
two subsequent documents from the same collection availlable
to him for inclusion in this study.
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pecullar genius for managing the Indians of the company.
Especidlly notable was the second lieutenant, Nicolds de la
Herrén, who understood the native language and used it in
communicating with his troops. Observing the Indians
closely, Medina reported that they were strong and rugged
individuals capable of campaigning on foot. They were of
normal disposition, were well-disciplined, and were sustained
by weekly rations of wheat and corn, and of beans whenever
available. Medina further observed from witnessing their
marksmenship exercises that the auxiliaries were capable
of firing "on the white" with both firearms and bows and
arrows, although they preferred to use the former.76

These Indlan soldiers had no particular uniform,
dressing generally as they pleased, but usually wearing
leather jackets when on campaign. Some old and relatively
useless muskets were furnished the troops, but each man had
a bow and arrows, a lance, and an oval shield. Nineteen
mules carried supplles and equipment during expeditionary
ventures. Thils Indian company had the dual function of
guarding the Presidio 6f San Carlos de Buenavista and

accompanying regular troops on defensive and punitive

76Roque de Medina, Extracto de la Revista de Inspec-
cion . . . , San Rafael de Buenavista, November 26, 1785,
AGI, Audiencia Guadalajara 521 (10L4-5-23). Note the use of
firearms by Indlans, a practice which was supposedly
prohibited, but which was unquestionably authorized by
royal authority for friendly Indians. Firing "on the white"
appears to be a reversal of the current pattern in target
practice since "bulls-eyes" of the twentleth century usually
have a black center.
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expeditions against the rebellious Seri Indians.77

On January 16, 1786, Medina, continuing his inspection
tour in Sonora at San Miguel de Bavispe, reviewed a company
of Opatas. This unit totaled eighty-five men, including a
regular lleutenant, two sergeants, and eighty-one Opata
Indians. However, since only eighty of these were considered
effective, the company was eight short of its authorized
strength, a deficiency which Medinas stated would be corrected
irmediately by recruiting Opatas from among those who volun-
teered for the task. Although the inspector noted that the

comandante set a good example for his subordinates, he was

especlally impressed with Sergeant Antonio Beltrédn, who was
an Opata. Beltrdn knew Castilian as well as his native
tongue, displayed exemplary conduct within his unit, applied
himself well to the service, complied immediately with
orders, and was very useful as a spy on the enemy. Again
Medina noted the lack of a common uniform among the native
troops, the same fine qualities of the Indian soldiers as he
had previously observed at San Rafael de Buenavista, and
thelr excellent marksmanship. Their ability to fire "on the
white" with muskets and "carbines" in his presence led him
to conclude that as marksmen they were "better than the

presidial companies."78

TT1bigd.

78Roque de Medina, Extracto de la Revista de Inspec-
cion . . . , Sen Miguel dé Bavispe, January 21, 1786, AGI,
Audiencia Guadalajara 521 (104-E~23). Medina also 1listed’
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The Opatas also dressed as they pleased and were
furnished muskets and so-called carbines, many of which were
in need of repair. Also, they had thirty mules, only one-
half of them being useful, to carry supplies during their
campaigns. Thils company, situated three leagues from the
mission of Santa Maria Baserac, although advantageously
located for pursuing and punishing hostile warriors, had
been employed in campaigns with troops from Nueva Vizcaya as
far north as the Gila River in April and May, 178l.77

Opata Indlan auxiliaries thus reached a stage not
attained by other natives in their alliance with the Spaniards.
This Sonoran tribe was formally incorporated and organized
within the Spanish military defensive system during the latter
half of the elghteenth century, after it had supplied
continual auxiliary service in the conventional manner.
Thus, Opatas reached & plateau never achieved by the Pueblos

of New Mexico. The companies created by royal authority
among these natives had a total strength very similar to that

of the Presidio of Santa Fé in the sametperiod, but no Indian
company was ever established by the Spanish in the New
Mexican capltal. Generally, Opatas were commanded and

supervised by regular Spanish officizals of the tropa veterana,

although it was possible apparently for Indians to obtain

chaplain Friar Georje Loreto in his report but apparently
did not include him 1in the total of eighty-five for the
company. Otherwise the total would have been eighty-six
(five officers and elghty-one Opatas).

191p14.
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the rank of sergeant. At least one subordinate officer in
each unit was thoroughly familiar wlth the language, customs,
and habits of the Indians employed in that coﬁpany, whether
they were Opatas or Pimas. Troops of these companies were
furnished rations, supplied with firearms, and became a
rellable unit in the defense of one sector of northern New
Spain.

Although there is an obvious parallel between the
Opatas in Sonora and the Pueblos in New Mexico, particularly
in the objectives for which they were employed, there are
significant differences. In addition to those already
noted, it may be added that the various Pueblos in the Rio
Grande region at all times were led by thelr own native
chieftains and governors, although they were recruited by
Spanish officials according to a quote. system, and expedi-
tionary fofces were under the overall jurisdiction of a
Spaniard. Their equipment, methods of fighting, and the
numerous other functions performed were indeed quite similar

to those of the Opatas.
In the area within the present boundaries of the

United States Spain made frequent use of Indian auxiliaries.
Upper Pimas, after the time of Father Eusebio Francisco
Kino, allled themselves with the Spaniards in the Pimeria
Alta region against the increasing threats from *he north-

east.80 1In Texas, the ralds of Lipédn, Natagé, and Mescalero

80spicer, Cycles of Conquest, p. 124. These
Upper Pimas included the Papagos of present southern
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Apaches after Spain reoccupiled the province encouraged the
missionaries to furnish Indilans from their jurisdictions to
eid the soldiery in defending that province. Thirty mission
Indians and an eQual number of soldiers comprised the first
formal punitive expeditlon into Apache country in 1723; nine
years later sixty friendly Indians served as auxillaries
with 157 Spaniards on a similar campaign.S! In e general
expedltlon undertaken against hostile Tonkawas and Taovayas,
ninety mission Indians and thirty Tlaxcalans, who accompanied
the expedition, were paid one-half of one peso per day while
Spaniards received double that amount.82 Indian alliances
became standard policy in Spanish Florida, Guale, and
particularly during the latter half of the eighteenth century
in the new province of Loulsiana. There Spain even adopted
French methods to gain the allegiance of the natives since
her own military forces were inadequate to protect such a

vast frontier.83

Arizona. Both the Pimas and Papagos became auxillaries of
the United States!' forces in Arizona during the 1860¢s.

81Bolton, Texas in the Middle Eighteenth Century,
pp ° 27-28 o

82Ibid., p. 89. This expedition also recruited
134 friendly Apaches to serve as auxiliaries against the
Nations of the North. Twenty years later it was recommended
that one thousand Indlan allles be assembled at the Taovayas
villages, Jjoinlng three hundred Spanish troops at the
Colorado River to march toward Coahuila, crushing the
Eastern Apaches between two divisions en route. See Bolton,
Texas in the Middle Eighteenth Century, p. 125.

83For discussions of Spanish Indian policy see
note 1 references in this chapter and Elizabeth H. West,
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By the end of the seventeenth century Spain had
developed a program for the pacification of hostlile trilbes
on the- northern frontier. This flexible plan included five
ma jor polnts, not always employed in their entirety in a
given region and usually bringing varied results. The
principal aspects of this program were:

1. Diplomacy to attract nomadic tribes to peaceful
sedentary life.

2. Misslionary efforts to integrate the Indians into
Spanish civilization.

3. Colonization with pacified sedentary Indians to
attract the hostiles to peace by example.

ly. Subsidization of both sedentary and nomadic Indians
from royal funds.

5. Recruitment of and ma jor dependence on gﬁgian auxil-
iaries for the defense of the frontier.

All except the third of these provisions were employed
by Spain in dealing with the natives of New Mexico. It was,
of course, not necessary to transplant sedentary Indians in
that province since village-dwelling, farming natives already
existed in the Rio Grande region. The major problem facing
Spain in New Mexico at the end of the seventeenth century
was the reconquest and pacification of the Pueblo Indians,

who had expelled all'Spanish settlers from the province in

"The Indian Policy of Bernardo de GAlvez," Proceedings of

the Mississippl Valley Historical Association‘fbr the Year
19141915 (Cedar Rapids, lowa: The Torch Press, 1910),
Pp. 95-101.

8""Powell Soldiers, Indians, and Silver, p. 204.
Powell 1ists only the first four aSpects o 5 program
whereas the author would add the fifth one as an overlooked
general part of the overall Spanish policy.
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the famous Pueblo revolt of 1680.3° Once this had been
achieved, Spanish authorities could concentrate on applying
the full program for establishing peace throughout the area.

DEFENSE of NEW MEXICO and the NORTHERN

FRONTIER in the E¥GHTEENTH CENTURY
Spain's greatest continual problem on the northern
frontier during the eighteenth century.was that of defense
against the wldespread raids of the indios bérbaros. By

1710 it was apparent that forces had been unleashed along
this line which Spanish armies were unable to control.
Colonization not only failed to advance northward, but even
receded as mining settlements and villages were abandoned.
Apache bands, pushed southward by the pressure of Utes and
Comanches, increased the frequency and devastation of their
attacks from 1730 to 1750, striking south of Arizpe and as
far west as the Yaqul River in Sonora. The situation grew
even worse after 1750, and Spanish authorities admitted the
fallure of thelr century-long effort to control the Apaches.
In the last three decades of the eighteenth century Spailn
made a conscientlous and finally successful effort to over-

come thls resistance. By 1800 raiding had greatly diminished

85The best asccount of the Pueblo revolt, its origins,
leaders, events, and effects is Charles W. Hackett (ed.),
Revolt of the Pueblo Indians of New Mexico and Oterminvs
Attempted Reconquest, 1680-1682 [Coronado Cuarto Centemnnial
Publications, Vols. VITI end IX, ed. George P. Hammond]
{2 wols. A1buquerque- University of New Mexico Press, 1942).
Hereinafter cited as Hackett, Revolt of the Pueblo Indians.
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and the immediate threast to continued Spanish occupation of
the northern frontier had been dissolv"ed.s6

Settlers, military forces, and Christianized Indians

in New Mexico faced a common threat from hostile tribes
which enclosed the province from at least three directions
at all times. Occasionally they were completely surrounded
and cut off from the rest of New Spain, especially when
Apache ralds severed the supply route from Chihushua. The
menace presented by raiding warriors was perhaps greater in
New Mexico than In any other province on the frontier. There
the Apaches, who constituted a threat to the entire northern
region, were reinforced by marauding Utes, Comanches, and
Nava jos. Gradually, by forcing the hostile natives into a
dependent status end by continuing to employ Pueblo Indian
auxiliaries, the Spanlards succeeded in defending their
establishments in that remote province and in creating a
relatively peaceful condition there by the end of the century.
Yet, the process was not a sudden one. It evolved over-
nearly a century of experimentation and comnsolidation, of
fostering dis-unity among rebellious Indians and unity among

those at peace with Spain. The nucleus of this unified policy

86Spicer, ggcles of Conquest, pp. 236-240. For an
excellent account of the changing Spanish alliances and
relations with the Indians of New Mexico, emphasizing the
change 1in royal policy which brought about a unified front
against the Apaches in the late eighteenth century, see
Elizabeth Ann Harper John, "Spanish Relations with the Indios
Bérbaros on the Northern Frontier of New Spain in the
Eighteenth Century," (unpublished Ph.D. dissertation, Dept.
of History, University cf Oklahoma, 1957).
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in New Mexico was the Spanish-Puebloc "alliance" which was

achieved after the Pueblo revolt of 1680-1692.



CHAPTER II

PUEBLO ASSISTANCE IN THE RECONQUEST
OF NEW MEXICO, 1692-170L4

The reconquest of New Mexico by Diego de Vargas
Zapata y Lujén in the last decade of the seventeenth century
was one of the crucial events in the long period of Spanish
colonial history. It restored that Iberian nation's control,
authority, and prestige in an area where a damaging blow had
been struck in 1680 by the Indians themselves. It
re-established Spain on the northern frontier of New Spain
and secured an lmportant strategic site in support of that
country's baslc policy of defending its widespread holdings
on the North Amerlcan Continent.

Yet thls advance and military achievement were not
the only gains of the last years of Charles IIfs reign.
Beginning with the administration of the Conde de Galve as
Viceroy of New Spain (1688-1696), there was intense activity

-on the distant frontlers, reminiscent of the sixteenth
century explorations, discoveries, and expansion. The
Tarahumara Indian uprising in Nueva Vizcaya was suppressed,

Father Euseblo Francisco Kino extended Jesuit missions among

L5



the Upper Pimas, Father Juan Maria Salvatierra solidified

the missions in Baja Callfornia, soldliers and missionaries
temporarily held Texas, and Spain's strategists planned to
occupy Pensacola Bay in Florida.l The reconquest of New
Mexico was, therefore, only a part of the renewed activity
in the north, but 1t was a highly important one, since New
Mexico was the keystone in the frontier arch recently shaken
loose by the Pueblo Revolt. If this region could not be
reoccupied, the warlike tribes in all of the border provinces
might continue to resist the Spanish advance.

Since Spanish military forces had failed to hold the
province in 1680, they could hardly subjugate its rebels
without reinforcements. Once more Spain looked to her Indian
allies. There were the Mexican Indian auxlliaries, particu-
larly the ever=faithful Tlaxcalans, but they were already

occupied at Saltlllo and other defensive settlements to the
south.2 There were friendly tribes in the E1l Paso del Norte
district, but their numbers were limlted and they were

comfortably settled. And there were the Pueblos themselves

who might be divided and conquered plecemeal, converted to

llrving A, Leonard (trans. and ed.), The Mercurio
Volante of Don Carlos Siglenza y Gbéngora: An Account of the
First Expedition of Diego de Vargas lnto New Mexico, 1692
The Quivira Society Publications, Vol. IIIL, ed. George P.
Harmond] (Los Angeles: The Quivira Society, 1932), pp. 29-30.
Herelnafter cited as Sigiienza y Géngora, Mercurio Volante.

2Fray Francisco Atanasio Dominguez, The Missions of
New Mexico, 1776, trans. by Eleanor B. Adams and Fray Angelico
chZ§gi (Albuquerque: University of New Mexico Press, 19 6),
o o
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peace and collaboration, and turned against their brothers
who were still in rebellion. Although some few allies from
the Paso del Norte region were employed in the first entrada
during 1692, Spain in the long run adopted the third alterna-
tive in regaining and consolidating her control over New
Mexico. The reconquest marks the beginning of a century-
long dependence on Pueblo Indian auxiliaries for the pacifi-
cation and defense of New Spain’s northermmost interior
frontier.

During the seventeenth century, prior to the Pueblo
Revolt of 1680, Spain had already established many of her
institutions in New Mexico. There Wefe provinclal governors,
municipal cabildos, religious missions, tribute-collecting

encomiendas, and military forces in this era. Certainly the

most powerful officer was ths provincial governor. In his
dual role as head of the civil government and captain-general
of the military establishment his authority was virtually "
absolute.3 Among the many duties with which he was charged
was the defense of the province from internal and external
attack and of the Pueblo Indians from abuse and exploita-

tion,u To protect the Spanish towns, ranches, and missions

37. Manuel Espinosa, First Expedition of Vargas
into New Mexico, 1692 [Coronado Cuarto Centennial PuElica—
tions, Vol. X, od. George P. Hammond]’(Albuquerque- Univer-
sity of New Mexico Press, 1940), 9.

hFrance V. Scholes, "Civil Government and Society in
New Mexico in the Seventeenth Gentury " New Mexico Historical
Review, X, No. 2 (April, 1935) The New Mexico Historical
Review is hereinafter aﬁbrsvia%ed as NMHR.
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from possible Indian revolt or hostile invasion, the governor
was responsible for the direction of military campa igns,
distribution of arms and equipment; supply of ammunition,
assignment of soldiers for escort and garrison duty, and the
maintenance of discipline within the province.5

The nucleus of the military force at the governor's
disposal prior to 1680 was a group of feudal citizen-soldiers
who served without salary but were compensated with the

tribute and service from encomiendas. Thelr number was

usually set at thirty-five, and they were expected in times
of crisis to defend the province by taking command of
fighting units composed of both Indians and Spaniards.6
There was no presidio in the area, and none was established
prior to Vargas! reconquest in the last decade of the seven-
teenth century,7

Santa Fé was both the center of the non-Indian
population, which never exceeded three thousand in the
seventeenth century,8 and of civil and military authority.

Pueblo Indians were allowed to remain in their villages and

5Ibid., pp. 77-78.

6Ibid P. 79. For the encomienda system see Lesley
B. Simpson The Encomienda in New Spain: The Beginning of
ggagish Mexico (Berkeley: University of California Press

7For a thorough Investigation of early presidial
activity at Santa Fé, see Ted J. Warner, "The Career of Don
Félix Martinez de Torrelaguna Soldier, Presidio Captain,
and Governor of New Mexico, 1693 1726, i (unpublished Ph. D.
dissertation, Dept. of- History University of New Mexico, 1963).

eEspinosa, First Expedition of Vargas, p. 10.
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to organize thelr own government according to the Spanish
model. They elected thelr governors, lieutenant governors,

caclques, alcaldes, sergeants, church officials, and captains

of war., Usually a Spanish alcalde mayor resided in each

district as the personal representative of the royal governor
for all civil and military metters.? The Indian governors
of each pueblo were responsible directly to this official.
Warfare In the seventeenth century against the
nomadic Apaches and Navajos was sporadic. Periods 6f peace
alternated with others of hostilities. Occasional successes
resulted in the resettlement of conquered bands in genizaro
towns throughout the province. Although they frequently ran
away, these genizaros were employed usﬁaiiy as servants, and
they were Christianized, but they also served effectively as
scouts and auxiliaries on Indian campaigns, hence the name , 10
Pueblo Indians were not used extensively by the
Spaniards for early campaligns against the raiding tribes.
In contrast to the surrounding nomads, they were initially
considered unwarlike, and it was assumed that they would be
no match for the ferocity of the Apaches. However, their
defenslve attitude, concealment of their true feelings,
hostility toward allens, and their apparent talent for

9Ipbid., p. 8.

10Bo1ton, The Spanish Borderlands, p. 18l. These
resettlements were, however, more common in the eighteenth
century than in the seventeenth. Abiquifi, on the Chama
River, i1s a good example.
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appraising the relative strength of the belligerents,ll all
would be of future use.

The Pueblo revolt of 1680 resulted in the complete
expulslon of Buropeans from New Mexlco. Abortive attempts
to restore Spanish authority began with Governor Antonio de
Otermints campaign in 1681,12 but Indian disturbances and
Internal disunity among the Spaniards continued to wreck
any hopes of a consistent advance during the ensulng decade.
Apparently in these years the Europeans did experience
friendly relations on occasion with the Utes, but the Pueblos
and Apaches remained hostile. Concerning the latter, Fray
Alonso de Posadas wrote in 1686:

There is one nation that possesses and 1s the

owner of all the plains of Cibola [and] that they
call the Apache. The Indians of this nation are so
proud and so arrogant and warlike thaet they are thg
common enemy of all the natlions they are beneath.l

He noted that the mountains of New Mexico were full of them,

that they frequently ambushed the Indian pueblos, killing

animals and carrying off women and children to become theilr

1lcleve Hallenbeck, Land of the Congquistadores
(Caldwell, Idaho: Caxton Printers 1950), p. L.

12For the Pueblo revolt and Governor Otermin's
attempted reconquest see Hackett, Revolt of the Pueblo
Indians. -

131nfonme del Padre Fray Alonso de Posadas sobres
[sic] las tierras del Nuevo México, AGN, Historla 3. This
document does much to refute the "friendly" relations -
ascribed as existing between the Apaches and Pueblos which
Jack D. Forbes, Apache, Navaho, and Spaniard (Normen:
University of OkTahoma Press, 1960) a%fempﬁs to establish.
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Figure 1

Map of New Mexico in the
Eighteenth Century
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slaves, and that they robbed the Spanish horseherds and
destroyed the cornfields.lu

Captain Roque de Madrid's departure from the E1 Paso
district on August 16, 1692, launched the official recovery
of New Mexlco. Diego de Vargas, who had proposed to complete
the reconquest at his own expense, was authorized to take
three squads of soldlers from the presidio of El1 Paso del
Norte and fifty soldiers from that of Parral, both fully
armed and hounted, for this ven.’cure,15 After conslderable
deley in awaiting the soldiers from the south, the reconqueror
and newly-appointed governor decided to begin the advance
without them. However, one hundred picked Indian warrlors
were recrulted from the nearby refugee pueblos of Y¥Ysleta
del Sur, Socorro, and Senecti. These Pueblos had retreated
from their villages in New Mexico with the general Spanish

exodus a dozen years earlierol6

Winforme del Padre Fray Alonso de Posadas, AGN,
Historia 3.

15Gonde de Galve to Diego de Vargas, May 28, 1692,
AGN, Historla 38, Expediente 1.

165, Manuel Espinosa, Crusaders of the Rio Grande
(Chicagos; Institute of Jesult History, 19&2), P. 49. This
work and the same author's First Expedition of Vargas are
the best studles of the reconquest. The former embraces
the period from 1692 through 1696 whereas the latter deals
entirely with the first entrada. The authorts research
encompassed the extensive Vargas correspondence found in the
Spanish Archives of New Mexico, Document 55, and the AGN,
Provincias Internas 139, 140, and 141, all of which have
been consulted in the comple%ion of this study. Less complete
and less accurate 1s Jesse B. Balley, Dlego de Vargas and
the Reconguest of New Mexico (Albuquerque: UniversIty of .

New MexIco Press, 19Ll0). The Spanish Archives of New Mexico,
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Captain Madrid departed at two o'clock on the after-

noon of August 16, proceeding northward with the presidials,
pack animals, wagons, livestock, and Pueblo auxiliaries and
making camp at Robledo, where he awailted the arrival of his
commander. Five days later Vargas reached the encampment
with the rest of the force, and the combined expedition
headed for Santa F&,17 According to Vargas' plans, the first
entrada was to reconnoiter and determiné the state of affairs
in the province while actual resettlement would come in the
following year with a second, more completely-organized and
better-equipped expeditiono

Accompanying the force was a very important Pueblo
Indian, Bartolomé de Ojeda. Fray Silvestre Vélez de Escalante
later noted that this Zia warrior had fought very well previ-
ously against Spanish soldiers who had attacked his pueblo.
He then had come voluntarily to El Paso to join the
conquistador. Ojeda was "muy 1adino,“18 spoke Castilian

manuscripts of which are found in Santa Fé and photostatic
coples of which are in the University of New Mexico Library
at Albuquerque, are hereinafter abbreviated as SANM.

‘7Bspinosa, First Expedition of Vargas, p. 58.

187his term was used by the Spanish to refer to those
Indians who were particularly accomplished in the Castilian
tongue. In some regions it was used to designate those
Indians who had embraced the Spanish way of life. It is
sti1ll used in some parts of Hispanic America today, particu-
- larly in Guatemala, where it is applied to almost the entire
non-Indian population according to Richard N. Adams, "Social
Change in Guatemala and U. S. Policy," Social Change in
Latin America Today (New York: Vintage Books, 1901), p. 24O.
0jeda‘’s achievement in mastering Castilian is a significant
product of the Spanish missionary activity prior to 1680.
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well, and knew how to read and write.19 Not only was he
Invaluable as an interpreter for the Spaniards, but he was
at all times a reliable informant concerning the étate of
affairs among the Indlans.

Ojeda reported that the province of New Mexico was
torn by anarchy and clvil gtrife among the natives. The
Keres of Zia, Santa Ana, San Felipe, Cochiti, and Santo
Domingo, together with the Jémez, Pecos, and Taos Indlans,
feared the Tewa, Picuris, and Acoma Pueblos. In addition,
the Zufiis and Moquis (Hopis) were at war with the Keres, and
the Apaches were causing considerable fear and devastation
among the Pueblos in general.zo This disunity, accurately
reported by a Pueblo Indlan, made the situation opportune
for the reconquest since Vargas could now take advantage of
the existing factionalism to employ the technique of "“divide
and conquer" in the re-establishment of royal authority in

New Mexicon21

19Fray Silvestre de Escalante, Noticias de . . . la
custodia . . . de Nuevo México . . . , Biblioteca Nacional
de México, Legajo 3, Documento 2. This important document
is 1argelg based upon the Vargas correspondsnce cited above
in note 16. An incomplete copy exists in AGN, Historia 2,
and another incomplete one was published in Documentos para
la historia de México (3d serie; México, 185b), pp. 113-208.
The Biblioteca NacIonal de México is hereinafter abbreviated
as BNM.

20ggcalante, Noticias, BNM, Legajo 3.

2lporbes, Apache, Navaho, and Spaniard, p. 237. The
author analyzes completely and accurately the factions which
existed at that time. His study on pages 237-238 concludes
that there were five groups at war with one another. First,
there were Luis Tupatf and the Picuris, Tewas, and Tanos of
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The expedition moved northward, roughly following
the course of the Rio Grande. During most of the march the
friendly Indian warriors went ahead of the main exbedition,22
acting as scouts to determine the presence and strength of
expected resistance. Vargas stopped on September 9 at ths
abandoned ranch house of Mexia, about sixty-six miles south

of Santa Fé and in the vicinity of present-day Albuquerque.
There he established his base camp, leaving most of his

supplies and a garrison force of fourteen Spaniards and fifty
Indian allies under the command of Captain Rafael Telles
Jirén. The following day he continued northward with forty
soldiers and the remaining fifty Indian auxiliaries.23
Although the primary objective of the advancing
expedition was the reduction of the reported resistance at
Cochiti, Vargas dlspatched scouts to reconnoiter the
surrounding countryside. Cochiti was to be surrounded and
a siege conducted to prevent the escape'of anyone found
thel;eo Vargas, upon arrival, relayed through his interpreter

that there would be no firing until he gave the order, but

Tesuque, Nambé, Cuyamunque, Pojoaque, Jacona, Santa Clara,

san Tldefonso, "San Juen, San Crist6ba1 San idzaro, Sente Fé,
and Picuris pueblos° secona there were the Pueblos of Taos
and Pecos; third, there were the Keres of Cochiti, San Marcos,
San Felipe Santo Domingo, Santa Ana, and Zia; fourth there
were the Jémez and -Acoma fueblos as well as the Moquis

Nava jos, and western Apaches; and fifth there were the Zunii

Pueblosn .
22Egpinosa, First Expedition of Vargas, p. 62.

23Ibido, p. 70; Sigiienza y Géngora, Mercurio Volante,
p. 59; Escalante, Noticias BNM, Legajo 3.
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he found the pueblo abandoned and entered it unopposed on
September 11a2h

The small expedition reached Santa Fé a few days later
after establishing contact with a faction of the Keres
Indians at San Felipe. There Vargas learned of their warfare
against the Tewas and Tanos and of their desire to ald him
in bringing "death to the Tewas."2> In Santa Fé Vargas
recelved hils first formal offer of aasistance from the
rebelled Pueblos. On September 16, Luis Tupatt and his
brother Lorenzo, both of Plecurils Pueblo and the former one
of the principal rebels in the great uprising of 1680,
arrived with three hundred Indian warriors from their
villages.26

Luils Tupatt, the Picuris chieftain, dismounted from
his horse and was welcomed by Vargas and the missionary
fathers over cups of chocolate.27 The Pueblo leader offered
to render obedlence to the Spaniards, and Vargas exacted as
proof of his allegiance a promise of military service in the
proposed campalgn against Pecos Pueblo. Although the Spanish
commander deslred to leave immediately, Tupat@ begged for a

gspinosa, First Expedition of Vargas, pp. 72-7L.
251p14., p. 76.

-26Bailey, Diego de Vargas and the Reconquest of New
Mexico, 53. ZLuis Tupatfi was described in vargas' journal
and i? %iguenza y Gbéngorat's Mercurio Volante as "Luis el
Plcur

27Esca1ante Noticlas, BNM, Legajo 3; Balley, Diego
de Varges and the Reconquest of New Mexico p. 53.
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Figure 2

Map of the Rio Grande Valley, 1692-1704



29

THE RIO GRANDE VALLEY

1692-1704

o

) SAN JUAN

K2

v SANTA CRUZ
SANTA CLARA ¢ &
pOJOAGUE
SAN ILDEFONSO J@ .. OnamaE
"CUYAMUNQUE

® TEsuQuE

$003d oh
d

Lo Ecos®
%ANTO aommgo (cicuvE)
SAN MARCOS
AN FELIPE Los ceRRILLOS

®
SAN

BERNALILLO)Y PEDRO

SAN Y]
! CR
ANDIA ISTOBAL

ADAPTED FROM CLEWE HALLENBECK, LAND OF THE CONQUIS-
TADORES (CALDWELL, IDAHO! CAXTON PRINTERS, 1950), 1S6.




60 |

six-day delay to get his men supplied and equipped so that
he could participate in the expedition.28

‘This permlission was apparently granted, for Tupatt
returned with three hundred well-armed warriors in time for
the departure of the campaign force on September 21.29 some
of the newly-acquired allies were used as scouts. They
advanced on foot ahead of'the main body to examine the route

through Galisteo to Pecos, to determine the location of water

holes, and to ascertaln the whereabouts of any potential
enemies.’© Although nothing was found at Galisteo, an Indian
scout named Nicolds, of the Tano-Spe;king Pueblos, reported
that he had found tracks which he attributed to two Apaché
sples who had apparently observed the Spanish advance and

the first night's encampment. Nicolé4s élso found an abandoned
enemy horse, which Vargas presented to him after shaking his
hand and embracing him to impress the other Indian warriors
with the Spaniardrs sincérity and to encourage them in their
own efforts.31 The scouts also reported that the Pecos
Indians were en route to meet Vargas32 and subsequently a

peaceful entry was made into their village.

28gigiienza Y Géngora, Mercurio Volante, p. 69.
291bid.

30Espinosa, First Expedition of Vargas, pp. 115-116,
and Crusaders of the Rio Grande, p. 72.

31Espinosa, First Expedition of Vargas, p. 119.

32E3pinosa, Crusaders of the Rio Grande, p. T73.
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After a short stay at Pecos, Vargas returned to
Santa Fé. There he made plans for the future. Since the
expedition had not been intended for permanent colonizationm,
Vargas, with winter rapidly approaching, decided to withdraw
agaln to E1 Paso. He provided for an interim native govern-
ment during his absence and ordered his artlllery captaln,
Roque de Madrid, to take the Indlan allies who had accompanied
the force from El Paso, first to Santo Domingo and then to
the base camp at Mexia.33 Since they were reportedly
crippled and their horses exhausted, they were to be sent
home.Bu

As for the newly-acquired Indian allles from the
pueblos, Vargas advised Luls Tupat® and Lorenzo to collect
their most agile, vallant, and best-equipped young men with
their arms and horses. They were to accompany him on a
western foray, through the Keresan pueblos of Cochiti,
Santo Domingo, and San Felipe, then to Acoma, Jémez, Zufii,
and the Moqui villages, to bring them all to obedience .35
However, the friendly natives were unable to comply with
this request because they had not been able to gather their
harvests due to unfavorable weather. Vargas, therefore,

decided to appoint Luls Tupath ag governor of the reducciones

33piego de Vargas, Diario de operaciones, SANM,
Document 53. Many of the pages of this document are badly
torn and water damaged. '

3uEspinosa, First Expedition of Vargas, pp. 182-183.

35Vargas, Diario de Operaciones, SANM, Document 53.
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(reduced pueblos) while the Spaniards departed westward .30

The western expedition left Santa Fé on October 30.
It consisted of eighty-nine soldiers and only thirty Indian
allies, whom Vargas admitted '"were the only ones I was able
to take."37 At Pecos, the first stop on an indirect march,
the Spanish commander installed newly-elected officers of
the pueblo, including two war captains for the control of
the auxiliaries.38 Travelling with a large reserve of horses
to assure speed and mobllity, the force reached Acoma after
only four days of marching,39 Zusii on November 1, and the
Moqui country five days later.‘ Tﬁere Indian interpreters
named Miguel and Francisco, employed to communicate with the
Moquis, reported a conspiracy against the Spaniards.uo

Although this expedition was imperilled numerous
fimes, especially at the Moqul villages, Vargas did not have
to wage a single battle. On December 8 he summoned the

Indian guide and three natives from Zufil, thanked them, and

’

paid them for their services with buffalo hides. He then

furnished them with provisions for the return journey to

36Espinosa, First Expedition of Vargas, p. 68.

3T1pid., p. 186.
381bid., p. 170.
39Esp1nosa, Crusaders of the Rio Grande, p. 88.

uoEspinosa, First Expedition of Vargas, pp. 207 and
21. The interpreters were undoubtedly Zuﬁ%s.
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their pueblo,ul With the remainder of his command, the

conquistador returned to Mexfa and thence to El Paso to begin

preparations for the colonizing expedition of the following
year.

In terms of the objective of the first entrada--to
determine the state of affairs in New Mexico--~the operation
was a complete success, although the small force had been in
jeopardy on at least three occasions. in four months,
twenty-three pueblos of ten Indian nations had been "restored"
to the Spanish Empire without using an ounce of powder or
shedding a drop of blood except in conflicts with the Apaches.
Seventy~four captives were freed, 2,21l Indians were baptized,
and the Spanish language was found to be yet aﬂl.i.va..""2

Still, the reconquest was incomplete. The Europeans
had neither subjugated the entire region nor continuously
me.intained their authority over the province. Vargas himself
realized this when he reported to the viceroy that "until

five hundred famllies and one hundred presidial soldiers

enter this kingdom it will be as casting a grain of salt into
the sea,"l3

Nevertheless, the success of the expedition rested

upon many factors. Careful preparation, courage, and

blrpia., p. 2u5.
h21p14., pp. 30-32.

43piego de Vargas to Viceroy Conde de Galve,
Santa Fé, October 16, 1692, in Espinosa, First Expedition of

Vargas, p. 162.
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decisiveness alded Vargas as did the dissensions among the
Indians.,mL There were other factors, however, such as the
willingness of the Pueblo allies to cooperate with the small
Iberian expeditionary force. Wlithout their aid as soldiers,
Interpreters, scouts, informants, and provisioners, it is
doubtful that such a small handful of men could have succeeded
at all. Certainly, Vargas and his followers learned a great
deal from this preliminary reconnaissance. Thése lessons .
proved invaluable to them in the reconquest and colonization
which followed in 1693.

Early in that year Vargas was granted the right to
solicit colonists for New Mexico and to enlist one hundred
soldiers for the establishment of a presidio at Santa Fé.
Forty thousand pesos were set aside by the Vicerqy of New
Spain to finance the enlistment of the soldiers and to help
meet the costs of the colonization ventm:-e.,h'5 However,
after weeks of preparation, personal visits, and the resolu-
tion of numerous miscellaneous problems, Vargas reported
that only forty-two.enlistees had. been obtained and that two
hundred horses had been purcﬁased. By mid-June, however, he
had spent the forty thousand pesos, successfully recruited
the one hundred soldiers, and had obtained an unspecified
number of famlllies and a quantity of suppliés for the

expedition. To meet expenses, however, he requested that an

husigﬁenza y Géngora, Mercurio Volante, p. Ul.

usEspinosa, First Expedition of Vargas, p. 33.



65

additional fifteen thousand pesos be provided for his use.ué

Finally, after many delays, the colonlzing expedition
of over eight hundred persons, including soldlers and Indian
auxillaries (presumably Pueblos from the El1 Paso jurisdic-
tion), about nine hundred cattle, two thousand horses, and
one thousand muies was ready. It began the long trek north-
ward on October l, 1693, crossing the Rio Grande the following
dey with the aid of the Indian allles.H7

The Indian situation in New Mexico had changed
congsiderably from that which had existed when the Spaniards
had departed ten months previously. Vargas made extensive
use of native interpreters and informants, a technlique which
he had learned well during the first entrada. Bartolomé de
Ojeda again accompanied the force as did other friendly
Keres aﬁd Tano Indians. Near present-day Los Lunas, New
Mexico, & Pueblo Indian from Zies named Lorenzo assisted the
expedition by reconnoitering the Keres pueblos along the
Rio Grande and the villagés of the Jémez. He had also
delivered to Cochitl a letter written by Vargas, announcing
the arrival of the Spanlards and requiring the Cochitefios to
render obedlence to His Catholic Majesty Charles IT.

However, he reported that most of the Pueblos had turned

. uéEspinosa, Crusaders of the Rio Grande, pp. 120-123.

4TTbid., pp. 129-130. Hubert H. Bancroft, History
of Arizona and New Mexico, 1530-1888 [The Works of Hubert
Howe Bancroft, Vol. XVII] (San Francisco: The History
Company, 18895, p. 202, states erroneously that the departure

was on October 13.



66
against the Europeans since they suspected that they were to
be punished for their past resistance. Only Santa Ana and

San Felipe were ready to aild the conquistador while Ojeda's

own pueblo of Zfa was undecided 48
Farther up the river, at the hacienda of Anaya, near

present Bernalillo, Vargas ordered all the frliendly Keres in
his company, under the leadership of their captain Bartolomé

de Ojeda, to depart for Zia. There they were to remain and,
in return for establishing Spanish authority at that pueblo,
they were to be provided with a beef each Sunday and Wednes-
day.hg The only other Puseblo Indians whom Vargas found

loyal to their promises of the previous year were those of

Pecos to the east.

The Spanish governor, remembering the friendship of
Luis Tupatt and the Tewa and Tano Indians of the region north
of Santa Fé, dispatched two friendly Tanos (probably from
Pecos) who had been in charge of transporting & field gun
during the advance, to visit Tesuque, San Juan, San Lédzaro,
and other villages north of the capital.so These natives,
however, were reluctant to accept the offer of friendship
because they had received an erroneous report that extensive
punishment would bg inflicted upon them for their leadership
in the rebellion of 1680.

ueEspinosa, Crusaders of the Rio Grande, pp. 134-135.
u9Vargas, Diario, AGN, Historia 38.

5°Bailey, Diego de Vargas and the Reconguest of New
Mexico, p. 97.
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Reslstance to the advancling Spanish column was
concentfated in Santa Fé, Vargas requested and received a
cont&ngent of 140 Pecos Indian allies to aid in an assault
on the city, and this was begun December 29. With the
battle ery "Santiagol! Santiago! Death to the rebels!" the
city was stormed and won by the following day. The
Spaniards lost one man while the Pecos auxiliaries had filve
killled. Eighty-one of the rebels perished--nine in battle,
two by suicide, and seventy by execution after the battle
wes concluded.>l Although the capital and chief objective
had been secured, the reconquest was far from complete.
Military campaigns had just begun, and Vargas needed all
the Indian allies he could acquire before pacifying the
province. The year 169l was one of constant warfare against
various rebellious Pueblo groups as well as some Apache
bands.52 In addition, there was a serious shortage of grain
and food supplies which imperilled the newly-arrived Spanish
settlers.

Although the principal resistance continued both
above and below the capital, Vargas elected first to reduce

the opposition in the former direction by assaulting the

5lpn all-inclusive account of the events of 1693 may
be found in Testimonio de los autos de guerra de la recon-
quista . . . de la Nueva México, AGN, Historla 38, Expediente
2, See also Espinosa, Crusaders of the Rio Grande, pp. 158-
162, and Bancroft, History gﬁ Arizona and New Mexico, p. 205.

52For the activities of 1694.-1696 see Testimonio de
los autos de guerra de la reconquista . . . de la Nueva
México, AGN, Historla 39, Expedientes 1-3.
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pueblo and mesa of San Ildefonso. With sixty fully-armed
soldiers, thirty militia, and some Pecos allies, he aftacked
the mesa in early March, 169l, but heavy snow and rain
prevented a successful silege. San Ildefonso held out, twenty
of Vargas' troops were wounded,53 and Spanish prestige
sufferéd a damaging blow. .

Vargas next struck southward at La Cleneguilla de
Cochiti, where the Indians of Santo Domingo and Cochiti were
concentrated and fortified. With the ald of Keresan natives
from Santa Ana, Zia, and San Felipe, commanded by Ojeda,

. Vargas conducted a successful assault with three ma jor
columns on April 17. Captain Roque de Madrid and Bartolomé
de Ojeda led the principal contingent of forty Spaniards
and one hundred Indian auxillaries along the main road
approaching the enemy's position. A smaller force of forty
Spaniards was led by Vargas' brother along a second road,
while the governor himself led the third force along the
road facing the Rio Grande to complete the envelopment. The
three columns closed In upon the mesa with complete surprise.
After its capture, the Indian fortress was pillaged, and the
loot was distributed among the victors.’tt As a partial
paymént for thelr services, Vargas promised two hundred head

of cattle to the pueblos of Pecos, San Felipe, Zia, and

53Espinosa, Crusaders of the Rio Grande, pp. 170-173.

- S“Ibig 1 PP 179-180; Bailey, Diego do Vargas and
he Reconquest o ew Mexico, pp. 133~ Bancrof H{sEorx
of Arlzona and New MexIco p. 208. ’
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Santa Ana. An Indian named Serbin from Santa Ana was placed
in charge of the distribution.55

Vargas wisely did not try to return immediately to
the scene of his earlier failure at San Ildefonso. Instead
he consolidated his position at Santa Fé, made efforts to
improve the precarious economlc status of the colony, and
planned a long-range campalgn in two stages: first, a
strike to the west to obtaln more Indian allies; and, second,
a combined assault on the fortified mesa north of San Ilde-
fonso.

On May 27, 1694, Ojeda and the Indian war captains
of Zia and Santa Ana came to Santa F& to report on their
own campaign in the west against the rebels at Jémez Pueblo.
They had heard of an Indian plan to ambush Zia and had
decided to surprise the Jémez by taking the offemsive first.
Thelr successful assault caused the latter to withdraw
temporarily from thelr villages with a loss of three killed
and five prisoners, whom Ojeda had brought with him to
Santa 6. The Pueblo leader and the war captain of. San
Felipe returned to the capital on June 1k, however, to report
that new threats from the Jémez existed in their area and to
| request aid from the Spanish governor to protect the loyal
56

Keresans.

55Bailey, Diego de Vargas and the Reconquest of New |
Mexico, p. 139.

56Ibid., pp. 1lhli-1h6. The author errs in stating
Ojeda's pueblo as Santa Ana.
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The food shortage In the province was more critical
than was the Indian threat at this stage, so Vargas led a
small foraging expedition northward from the capital on
June 30. With him went Juan de Ye of Pecos Pueblo, fifty
soldiers, an equal number of militliamen, and an army of
Pecos Indian auxiliaries. The native chieftain and his
allies marched in the vanguard, while the soldiers and
militia comprised the maln column, and the pack train brought
up the rear.57

Proceediﬁg by way of the abandoned pueblo of
Picuris, the expedition reached Taos Pueblo but found it
also deserted. The Indians were hiding in Taos Canyon, east
of the pueblo, but could not be persuaded to return to their
village. Juan de Ye, leaving behind his spurs, powder
pouch, cloak, shield, arquebus, and mule, went to the moun-
tain canyon to talk with the enemy in an effort to get them
to return.58 The Spanlards never saw him again.

Having failed in his repeated attempts to negotiate
with the Taos Indians, Vargas decided to break them economi-
cally while simultaneously aiding the Spanish settlers. He
configcated the pueblo’s store of maize, and what his auxil-

laries could not load on the mules of the expedition, he

575. Manuel Espinosa, "Governor Vargas in Colorado,"
NMHR, XI, No. 2 (ApI’il, 19365, 181.

58Espinosa, Crusaders of the Rio Grande, p. 192.
This is, incldentally, one of the better descriptions of the
equipment possessed by the Indian auxiliary in this early
period.
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burned before departing.59

Since the route from the capital to Taos had been
very difficult and was expected to be even more so now with
the loaded mule train, Vargas returned by a most unusual
route. He proceeded mnorthward into the present San Luils
County of southern Colorado as far as the Culebra River,
followed it westward to the Rio Grande, and then turned
south to Santa Fé by way of Ojo Caliente and the Chama River
Valley. Although he was attacked by Utes on July 12 and
lost eight men, he succeeded in reaching San Juan Pueblo and
Santa Fé& with the much-needed supply of maize.6°

Upon returning to the capital, the governor heard
from his loyal Keresan auxlliary chieftain Bartolomé de
Ojeda. Demonstrating his ability to write Castilian as
well as speak it, Ojeda advised Vargas that the rebels at
Jémez had made a new agreement in which they resolved not to
lay down thelr arms until they had killed all the Spaniards
or had expelled them from the province. He further advised
that the Acomas, Zufiis, Moquis, and Coninas [Apaches] were
helping the rebels.61 Vargas consequently resolved to
strike at the Jémez villages without delay to sever this

59ESpinosa "Governor Vargas in Colorado," NMHR,
XI, No. 2, 183.

6OIbid , Pp. 184-185. There is also an account of
thils expedition in Ralph E, Twitchell, The Leading Facts of
New Mexican Histor (5 vols,; Cedar Rapids Iowa: The Torch
Press, 19 l) . 102 Hereinafter cited as Twitchell,
Leading Facts°

®lgscalante, Noticlas, BNM, Legajo 3.




72
new confederation.

The campalgn iIn the west against these towns opened
on July 21, 1694. Vargas left Sante Fé on that date with
120 Spaniard362 and marched along the Rio Grande, meeting
0jeda at San Felipe Pueblo. The Keresan leader returned to
Zia to organize fhe auxiliary forces, and on July 23 the
Spanish force joined the Indians there.63 The latter group
was composed of Keresans from Ojeda's pueblo of Zia and from
Santa Ana and San Felipe. The combined expedition then
proceeded to Jémez, where a surprise assault was carried out
on the twenty-fourth of July.Ol

Two parties were formed to conduct the attack on the
rebellious pueblo. One group, consisting of twentnyive
Spanish soldiers and most of the Indian allies, climbed the
rear of the mesa overlooking the enemy’s village, while the
main body assaulted frontally. The attack of both divisions
occurred simultaneously at dawn, and resistance collapsed by-
mid-afternoon after a bloody engagement.65

Eighty=-four Jémez Indians lost their lives in this

encounter, and over three hundred women and children were

621144,

63ESpinosa, Crusaders of the Rio Grande, pp. 199-200.
6L*Tw:t.tchellg Leading Facts, I, LoOl.

65Esca1ante, Noticias, BNM, Legajo 3. Espinosa in
his First Expedition of Vargas, p. 37, calls this engagement
"short,™ but the terminal hour indicates that the battle
lasted at least ten hours, which would hardly meet such a
description. )
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taken prisoner.66 In addition,. 175 head of cattle were

seized, 106 of them being given to Father Juan de Alpuente
for his use in establishing a new mission al Zia. There
were no deaths among the Spanish forces or their Indlan
allies, but many were woundedo67 The remainder of the Jémez
warriors fled to the mountains.

Vargas ordered the maize and food supply confiscated
and had the pueblo sacked. Of the nearly five hundred
bush91568 of maize acquired, the ma jority was distributed to
the friendly Keresan Indlans for transportation to their
individual pueblos.®9 oOnce the plunder had been completed,
Vargas set fire to both of the Indian towns in the area, and
withdrew to Santa 76,70

Still preoccupied with the reduction of the fortified
Tewas at San Ildefonso, the governor now turned his undivided
attention and full resources to that objective. Since the

Jémez warriors who had escaped the surprise of July 2l were

66Espinosa Crusaders of the Rio Grande, p. 200,
specifies that there were 36 prisoners, but Escalante’s
Noticias reflect 361.

67Escalante, Noticias, BNM, Legajo 3.

68Three hundred fanegas were reported as confiscated.
Since a fanega 1s approximately equivalent to 1.58 bushels,
there were actually about l7lh bushels taken. For English
measurements of Spanish terms, see J. Villasana Haggard and
Malcolm D. McLean, Handbook for Translators of Spanish .
Historical Documents ([Austin]: “University of Texas Archives
CoIlecEIons 9 o

()gEsca.lante‘° Noticias, BNM, Legajo 3.
0
"Orwitchell, Leading Facts, I, LS.




Th
now scattered in the mountains, he struck a bargain with
emlssarlies whom they sent to the capltal to plead for the
restoration of their women and children, whom Vargas held
as prisoners. The Spanish governor promised the Jémez men
that if they would come down fiom the mountains to their
ancient pueblo and would assist him in the war against the
Tewas, he would grant their request, returning all of the
prisoners immediately.71

The last major campaign of the recongquest began on
September L, 169L. With every available soldier and 150
Indians from Jémez, Pecos, and the three friendly Keres
pueblos of Zia, Santa Ana, and San Felipe, Vargas marched
northward to Tesuque. Here he ordered Sergeant Juan Ruiz to
detach forty soldiers to reconnoiter Cuyamunque, Jacona, and
San Ildefonso Pueblo;72 then he proceeded to the mesa north
of San Ildefonso.

An improperly planned and ineptly conducted attack
that day on the rebels of the nine pueblos who had gathered
at the pefiol north of San Ildefonso failed. Even the Indian
allies were ineffective during this operation, for they fled

71Escalante Noticias, BNM Lega jo 3.

72Reconquista del Reyno de Nuevo México, AGN,
Historia 39, Expediente 3. Accounts of the battle of san
Ildefonso appear herein as well as in Espinosa, Crusaders of
the Rio Grande, p. 205ff, Escalante Noticias, BNM Legajo 3,
Twitchell, Leadigg Facts I, o6 ho7 and Ralph B. Twitchell
01d Santa Fe: The SEory of New Mexico's Ancient Capital
(Santa F&; New Mexican Publishing Gorporation, 19285

PP 13#-135
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when surrounded by the enemy.73 The Indian units also
attacked on the following day in company with three soldiers
and an arriefo, but they were again put to flight;7u Vargas
thereafter settled down to besiege the fortified mesa.

Severely hurt by the siege and facing a critical
shortage of food, the Tewas attacked the Spanliards and their
allies on September 7, but were repulsed. One of Vargas!
Indians scalped an enemy warrior and was reported to have
celebrated his feat with hils companions in a war dance,
accompanied by song, around the victim's body. The following
day the Tewas sued for peace and were ordered to reoccupy
their old pueblos within eight days.75 On September 11,
Vargaes recognized the punctual and unqualified assistance of
the Jémez warriors by returning their women and children,
whom he had held as prisoners since late July.76

This was the last major military expedition of 169)4.
Constant warfare and extensive ﬁse of Pueblo Indian auxil-

laries had been characteristic of the.period between February

and September of that year. The remainder of that and the

73Bailey, Diego de Vargas and the Reconguest of New
Mexico, p. 170.

7uBancroft History of Arizona and New Mexico,
p. 211. The 31gnificance of u using a mule driver (arriero)
is not clear. Perhaps he wag acquainted with the trails to
the top of the mesa.

75E8pinosa, Crusaders of the Rio Grande, pp. 206-207.

76ueconquista del Reyno de Nuevo México, AGN,
Historla 39, Expediente 3.
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entire following year were spent in the consolidation of
earlier military gains, re-establishment of colonlal govern- .
ment, Inspections for the security of the realm, and
strengthening of the colonists' position in New Mexico.
" Missions were re-founded, political jﬁrisdictions were
re-established, Indian pueblos were reoccupied, local Indilan
officlals were elected in each pueblo,77 and the region
concentrated upon replenishing its depleted food supply.78

The traditional encomienda right to collect tribute

from an allotted number of subjugated Pueblo Indians was
not restored. Thereafter, all tribute went directly to the

Royal Treasury. No further encomiendas were granted except

one for the reconqueror Diego de Vargas, and his was not
implemented.79

From the latter part of September through December,
169, Governor Vargas visited each pueblo in the province.
Although these visits were made under the pretext of investing
newly-elected native offiecials with their offices, it is
probable that there was another motive. While inspecting
the pueblos, the governor could observe the degree to which
pacification had been completed; he could also ascertain
whether the Indians had returned to their pueblos, as

instructed, and he could locate any areas where resistance

77Esp1nosa, First Expedition of Vargas, p. 37.

78Forbes, Apache, Naveho, and Spaniard, p. 262.
79E5pinosa, First Expedition of Vargas, p. 38.
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to Spanish authority still continued.

The election and investment of officers at each of
the pueblos 1s an interesting and informative aspect of the
reconquest, for 1t reveals the civil and military organlza-
tion of the Pueblo Indian auxiliaries. Local governors,
such as Bartolomé de Ojeda, now of Santa Ana, were elected
in each pueblo, but the poslition of war captain reveals more
exactly the organization of the auxiliary forces. There
were five Indians elected to this office and confirmed by
80

Vargas at Santa Ana, seven at Zia, and five at San Fellpe.

In some pueblos a capltén-mayor de la guerra, or war

major, was chosen by the Indians and confirmed by the
governor. As of September 28, Jémez had one man in this

capaclty along with six war captains of the conventional

g8l

type, and San Felipe had two capitanes-mayores supervising

five war captains. Although Pecos was without a major

officer, Vargas appointed nine war captains there. At
Santa Ana Bartolomé de Ojeda was the one exception to Vargas?
rule of appointing separate civil and military officers.

He was made the governor or his pueblo, Captain General of

all the Fueblo auxiliaries, and capitdn-mayor for the

8°Bailey, Diego de Vargas and the Reconquest of New
Mexico, pp. 177-178. Ojeda apparently had moved from Zia
to Santa Ana. The Vargas journal also associates him with
the latter village hereafter,

8l1pid., p. 179.




78
Keres-speaking natives,82
In general, Vargas, who mads all of these inspec-
tions himself, found the Indians "content and happy." He
checked conditions in all the pueblos he visited, Inspected
crops and buildings, and required that the natives recognize
their vassalage to His Majesty. As exemplifiled by the
procedure employed at San Fellpe, this act consisted of
ringing the bells of the mission, taking the Holy Sacrament,
and proclaiming three times "God protect Charles II, King of
Spain,"83 Vargas! vigits in this period reached Pecos,
San Felipe, Zia, Santa Ana, Jémez, Cochiti, Santo Domingo,
Tesuque, Santa Clara, San Juan, San L4zaro, San Criétbbal,

Cﬁyamunque, and San Ildefonso. When the governor submitted

his auto de remisibén on January 10, 1695, the reconquest was

considered to be completed,sh

The subjugation, organization, and return of the
Pueblo Indians to their villages did not, however, conclude
the Spanish difficulties with them. Although 1695 was not
a year of extensive warfare, 1t was one of continued problems

not only with the friendly Indians and the indios bérbaros,

but with the colonists as well. There were also sericus

economic problems.

82Vargas, Diario después de veinte de Septiembre,
Afio de 1694, AGN, Historia 39, Expediente 3.

8371p14.

QBhBailey, Dlego de Vargas and the Reconguest of New
Mexico, p. 186, T
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Apparently the people of Santa Fé, especially the
merchants and even some of the soldiers of the presidio,
were selling arms to the Indians to ransom captives and to
enrich themselves. The governor, being advised of this
practice, which was in direct opposition to the king's
orders to deny filrearms to the rebellious Indians, decreed

that henceforth settlers could not sell their weapons to
the Indians but must strive to preserve all that they
possessed,85 This order was intended solely to stop the

arms traffic with the indios bérbaros and had nothing to do

with the arming of the Pueblos.

During the year the governor re-established the
Spanish farming community at Santa Cruz de la Cafiada, north
of Santa F&, colonizing it with settlers after forcing the
Indians to move out of the area.86 Since the province was
experiencing great difficulty in sustaining itself, Vargas
believed that some impetus must be given to agricultural
development to overcome the economic strife of the colony.
Crop failure during the winter of 1695-1696, combined with
the renewed hostility of the Indians, led to another Pueblo

85piego de Vargas, Bando, Santa F6, May 31, 1695,
SANM, Document 57.

86Bailey Diego de Vargas and the Reconquest of New
Mexico, p. 186. This area had been settled in the Seven-
teenth century and was a prosperous farming community prior
to the Pueblo Revolt of 1680. It is still an agricultural
area today, now known as the Espafiola Valley. Vargas!?
action, however, was later criticized severely for contrib-
uting to the unrest of the natives who subsequently rebelled

in 1696.
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uprising in early June of the latter year.87

On the fourth of June Taos, Picuris, Cochiti, Santo
bomingo, Jémez, and the Tewas rose in rebellion, killing
five missionaries and twenty«one soldiers and settlersqs8
The insurrection did not occur without some warning, however,
for various missionaries had reported conspiracles earlier
and had been advised by the governor to move to the capital
for their own safety.

Vargas received news of the rebellion not from a
Spaniard but from a Pueblo Indian of San Felipe, who sent
the governor a letter advising him that the rebellious
Keresans of the nearby pueblos had gone to the mountains,
taking with them the sacred religious vessels of their

villages.89 oOnly Pecos, Tesuque, San Felipe, Santa Ana,
and Zfa remained faithful during this uprising.9° Bartolomé

de Ojeda, the loyal auxiliary leader from the Keres pueblos,

87Bancroft, History of Arizona and New Mexico,

p. 216.

881bid.; Bailey, Diego de Vargas and the Reconguest
of New Mexico, p. 226. However, the most comprehensive study
of This rebellion appears in Raiph E. Twitchell, "The Pueblo
Revolt of 1696-~Extracts from the Journal of General de
Vaggas,“ 0ld Santa Fe, III, No., 12 (October, 1916), pp. 333-
373. - ' .

89Diego de Vargas, Diario, Afio de 1696, SANM,
Document 60a.

9oEspinosa, Crusaders of the Rio Grande, p. 2uk.
Tesuque's loyalty 1s demonstrated clearly in the letter from
the alcalde there, Domingo Tobina, advising the governor of
Zhe rebellious tribes north of Santa F8, See SANM, Document
Od. .t
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made an independent foray against the Jémez, took one
prisoner, and returned to his pueblo. He then dispatched a
letter to Vargas, requesting ald and stating: "As you know
we are on the frontier, and I beg of you to send me firearms,
powder;, and bullets for you ikmow well that we are very loyal
vassals of His Majestyo"gl

The Spanish governor received reports from all
sectors of the settled area and adopted a policy of carefully
welghing the scope and nature of the revolt before acting--a
policy of "watchful waiting." Instead of striking instantly
in all directions with his inadequate force and perhaps
jeopardizing his position in the province, Vargas adopted a
long-range defensive-offensive strategy. The first phase
occurred during the early days of the revolt when he urged

the settlers and "indios cristianos" to withdraw to the

fortified communities such as Santa F&. He also instructed
the native governor at Pecos to furnish "friendly Indians
of war" to assist him in the field, and Governor Felipe of
that pueblo arrived on June 7 with a force of one hundred
mounted Indian auxiliaries,??

For the offensive phase of his strategy Vargas

adopted a policy of wearing down the morale of the enemy

Bartolomé de Ojeda to Governor Diego de Vargas
Zia, June 8, 1696, quoted in Espinosa, Crusaders of the Rio
Grande, p. 249.

92piego de Vargas, Diario, Afio de 1696, SANM,
Document 60c.
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through a war of attrition993 concentrating upon the economic
life of the rebellious pueblos. Although he dispatched Indian
scouts to locate the insurrectionary natives and thelr allies

among the indios bédrbaros and personally led a reconnoitering

expedition to Tesuque, Nambé, San Ildefonso, and Jacona on
June 7, he made no major effort to attack until twenty days
later, almost a month after the initial uprising. This
apparent inactlon had its indirect effects upon the Indlamns.
Since they had abandoned thelr villages and had gone to the
mountains thelr crops were left untended, and each day their
food shortage increésed, magnifying their economic plight.

Departing from Sante Fé& on June 29 with & small
regular force and sixty Pecos auxiliariles, Vargas marched to
Santa unz de la Capada, where he established his field head-
quarters, to lnsure that the Tewa and Tano rebels stayed in
their mountain retreats. There, facing starvation, the
Pueblos would have either to surrender or abandon their
settlements and flee northward.9u

Without a major engagement in the north, the general
campalign shifted to the west in July. Pitched battles

occurred with the Jémez on the twenty-third and twenty-ninth,

93Espinosa, Crusaders of the Rio Grande, p. 256.
The Spanish general?s understanding of total war is unusual
for this period. '

9LLIbfl.d‘., p. 257. The Picuris are a good example.
They fled northward and were captured by the Cuartelejo
Apaches. Not until 1706 were they rescued and returned to
their pueblo by a Spanish expedition. See Chapter III
below. :
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costing the rebels thirfy men while their allles, the Acomas
and Zufils, lost eight more.95 For this offensive the Spanish
general had at his disposal a small cavalry force, forty-
five Pecos warriors, and eleven Indians from Tesuque under
the leadership of a faithful governor named Domingo.96 The
defeat of the Jémez, Acomas, and Zufiis, although it'was by
no means devastating, was decisive since it forced the
dissolution of that confederation, caused the Jémez to flee'
to the mountains again,97 and impressed all of the western
pueblos enough that they were no longer considered to be a
serious threat.?8 |

In the first two months of the rebellion the casual-
ties on the Spanish side had been very light--one killed and
four captured--while the hostile Indians suffered serious

losses~--ninety-three killed and forty-eight prisoners. The

lack of mailze among the rebellious Pueblos made their position

in the mountains untenable. The economic pressure applied
by Vargas, which he gradually increased, had borne good
results from the Spanish point of view.99

In early August the governor led a campaign of Spanish

955ailey, Diego de Vargas and the Reconquest of New
- Mexico, p. 2U43.

96Espinosa, Crusaders of the Rio Grande, p. 261.

ITrwitchell, Leading Facts, I, L10.

98Espinosa, Crusaders of the Rio Grande, p. 272.
991bid., pp. 266 and 272.
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soldiers and Indian auxiliaries from Zia, Santa Ana, and
San Felipe pueblos for an attack on Acoma. Twelve Indians
were sent ahéad to sPy'on the enemy, while Vargas organized
his force into two groups, one of which he led personally and
the other of which was commanded by Ojeda, to assault the
357-foot mesa from opposite sides. Although the attack of
August 14=15 did not succeed in obtaining the summit, Vargas
did manage to confiscate the crops and burn the filelds

surrounding the pefiol before returning to Z1a,100

With the western area mostly pacified and its crops
destroyed, Vargas returned to Santa Fé and made plans for an
extensive northern campaign. While the Spanish governor was
organizing this expedition, he received an interesting report
from one of his most important auxiliary leaders, Felipe, the
governor o. Pecos Pueblo. It reveals the feroclty and intense
hatred for the enemy displayed by the native allies. Felipe
reported that he had surprised a rebel Indian outside of the
pueblo and had shot the marauder through the temple. The
loyal Pueblo chleftain; as proof of his deed, sent Vargas
the victim’s head, one hand, and a foot .10t

On September 21, with the aid of soldiers from the

Presidio of Santa F8& and Indian auxiliaries from Pecos and

Tesuque (probably commanded by Felipe and Domingo,

1001b34,, pp. 274-277s Bancroft, History of Arizona
and New Mexico, p. 217.

101l5ournal of Diego de Vargas, August 30, 1696,
quoted in Espinosa, Crusaders of the Rio Grande, p. 279.




85
respectively), the Spanish conqueror re-established his
headquarters at Santa Cruz and opened his northern campaign.
In his subsequent march beyond Santa Cruz he found Picuris
and Taos pueblos abandoned. His plea for the Taos to come
down from thelr mountain retreat was greeted by a volley of
arrows, to whlch the Indian auxiliaries replied with musket
fire, Pursuing his usual military tactic of converging
forces, but this time in a very restricted area, Vargas
formed three tiny divisions to assault the canyon (probably
Taos Canyon, east of the present town), to obtain the food
and supplies of the Indlans, to burn their log Huts, and to
devastate thelr fields. By September 26, the ma jority of the
enemy had surrendered, and Vargas shifted his attention to
the reported mass flight of the Picuris toward the northeast.
He pursued them onto the eastern plains and secured some
prisoners, but the others, including Lorenzo Tupatt, escaped
to the north where they either joined or were captured by

the Apaches,j'o2
By the end of 1696 the submission of the Pueble

Indians was again complete except for those who had fled to
join the various Apache bands and the Navajos.1°3 Some
pueblos, including Acoma, Zufii, and the Moqui villages of

present-day Arlzona, had not been subdued militarily, but by

1°2Esp1nosa Grusaders of the Rio Grande, pp. 280-
288, These Picuris were the ones whom Juan de Ulibarri was
dispatched to rescue in 1706 and who were returned subse-
quently to their pueblo. See note 96, this chapter, and

Chapter III below.
1031p14., p. 297.
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the end of the year they were no longer a serious threat to
the iarovince° Governor Vargas! application of economic
warfare, striking at the crops, food, and dwellings of the
sedentary Pueblo Indians, had been & much more effective
technique in bringing an end to the rebellion than a more
extensive military campaign of the conventional type would
have been.

Although the military subjugation of the pueblos was
not finally completed until after the expiration of Vargas:®
term of office, the province was no longer imperilled by
Pueblo resistance. Conspiracies were reported and investi-
gated thereafter, but never again would these Indians rise in
a concerted effort against the Spanlards. The diminution of
the Indian population during the reconquest, caused by the
abandonment of the pueblos and the loss of 1life in warfare,
exposure, and sickness in addition to the subsequent flight
of many to join the Apaches and Navajos, was a significant
factor in reducing Pueblo'bpposition to the Spaniards‘lou
With the increased Spanish population and the economic
prostration of "the Pueblos during the four years of the
reconquest, there was an appreciable change in the role of
the Indians of the Rio Grande regionol Exhausted by years
of warfare and famine, they now concentrated upon the re-
establishment of their agrarian economy. While so doing,
they were exposed continually to the Spanish system of

louTwitchell, Leading Facts, I, 412,
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govermment, the teachings of the Franclscan missionaries,
and trade within the province. They became an integral part
of the organlzed population, although they dwelled apart
from the rest, and they could no longer afford to rebel.

Pueblo Indian auxiliaries had been a vitel factor in
the reconquest of New Mexico. Antipathies and hatreds among
the various pueblos had been explolited repeatedly by Diego
de Vargas in facllitating the re-establishment of Spanish
control in the province. Indlan interpreters such as Ojeda,
Felipe, and Domlngo had been a most importent asset for the
general. Rellable Pueblo Indians were his "eyes and ears"
in determining the presence, strength, and disposition of
enemy forces, His wise policy of recognizing local elec-
tions within the pueblos and allowing Indiahs to retain
their own way of life and their own officials aided the
reconquest. Had Spain attempted to mix the tribes or impose
her leaders upon the Indian pueblos the results would have
been different.

Although Spanish law forbade the use of firearms or
horses by Indiansslo5 Governor Vargas wisely saw fit to
provide the Pueblos with both. These elements of superiority
served not only to attract rebellious Indians but also to

strengthen his Indian allies in their warfare against both

the insurrectionists and the indios bédrbaros. Every effort

105Recogilacibn de leyes, Tomo II, Libro VI, Titulo I,
Leyes xx1, xxiii, and xiv.
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was made to demonstrate that a peaceful acquisition of the
province was intended, but Vargas carefully organized his
military forces, including the Indian asuxiliary troops,
because he did not want to repeat the mistake of unpre-
paredness which former Governor Antonio de Otermin had
committed in 1680.

Without the military assistance, information, food,
other supplies, and continued loyalty of some of the Pueblo
Indians, Diego de Vargas could not have completed the recon-
quest and colonization of New Mexico. The small regular
force with which he had been provided, the inadequacy of
supplies and food, and the isolated position of the colony
undoubtedly would have spelled failure. Had not the Pueblos
--at least a part of them-~been friendly, the Spanish settle-
ment would have been entirely surrounded by hostile tribes.

In this situation the Europeans could have been very quickly
overwhelmed and forced to retreat again to E1l Paso.

New Mexico was well on its way toward economic recovery
by the spring of 1697, when clothing, food, and other supplies
arrived from New Spain to insure the permanence of the
province. In that year Vargas was replaced by Pedro Rodriguez

3 106

Cubero, who remained as gerrnor until 1703.

1°6Espinosa Crusaders of the Ric Grande, p. 30L.
Rodriguez Cubero was appointed by Charles 11 and immediately
upon arrival in Santa Fé imprisoned Vargas, charging him
with mistreating the Indians and causing the rebellion of
1696. Although exonerated later, Vargas served three years
in prison and he and Rodriguez Cubero understandably became
bitter enemies. .
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Rodriguez Cubero concentrated upon subduing the still-
rebellious western pueblos, especially those of Acoma, Zufii,
and the Moqui. Since the Keresans of Cieneguillla, Santo
Domingo, and Cochiti had taken refuge on the pefiol at Acoma,
the new governor led a force of soldiérs and other Keresan
auxiliaries (probably from Zia, Santa Ana, and San Felipe)
there in June, 1698. Without & major engagement, he succeeded
in persuading them to descend, make peace, and establish
themselves in the new pueblo of San José de Laguna, north of
Acoma, on July 2, 169,107

Two years later the governor turned his attention to
the Moquis of present northeastern Arizona. Although thelr
war ceptains came to Santa Fé in May, 1700, to sue for peace
and to ask to return to the Christian way of 1life, they later
changed thelr minds. Moreover, when Rodriguez Cubero
personally conducted an expedition agalnst them, supported
by thirty friendly Indians,.it was without success. The
Moquis remained independent throughout the rest of the
eighteenth century as an Indian Gibraltar in an otherwise
Spanish—éontrolled province.108 .

By the early years of the eighteenth century the
submission of the Pueblos was relatively complete. Except

in the Moqul area, the power of the Spaniard was apparent

107Escalante, Noticias, BNM, Legajo 3.

108Espinosa, Cruseders of the Rio Grande, pp. 348-
349. Other expeditions occurred at intervals after the
administration of Rodriguez Cubero, but no continuous concen-
trated efforts were made to recover the distant Hopi pueblos.
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everywhere, and the Pueblos were tired of revolts which
seemingly ended in disaster,109 Then, and for the remainder
of the century, the Apache probleﬁ.became of paramount
interest 110

An alleged uprising of the western pueblos (Acoma,
Zufii, and Laguna) created a temporary flurry of activity in
1702. The governor dispatched Sergeant Juan de Ulibarri to
conduct an investigation at these pueblos in March of that
year. Ullbarri found all "quiet and obedient" at Laguna and
Acoma on March L and S, and proceeded to Zufil. There in an
interview with Father Juan de Gariacochea, the alcalde
Joseph Neranjo, and the garrison force of twelve soldiers,lll
he discovered an appafent misunderstanding concerning what
had actually occurred. Naranjo informed him that a meeting
of the Zufil, Acoma, and Laguna natives had indeed been
called, but that 1t was to discuss reprisals against the
Apache intruders and Nava jo marauders whe had allied with
the Moqul in an effort to kill the Spanish missionary and
the military escort garrison assigned at Zuﬁ1.112 For the

109rwitehell, Leading Facts, I, L19.

11QForbes Apache, Navaho, and Spaniard, p. 280.

111Investigacién del levantamiento de indlos, SANM,
Document 8l. The garrison of twelve soldlers was reduced
to three in 1703, but they behaved "scandalously" since they
lived in public with the natlve women, including even the
governor's wife. They were killed by the Zufii in the same
year. See Twitchell, Leading Facts, I, 419-420.

llzInvestigacibn del levantamiento de indios, SANM,
Document 8li. The "Apaches" mentioned here were probably
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false report and inflamed conditions created by an Indian
named Ytacae, Governor Rodriguez Cubero ordered that the
people ofvhis.pueblo punish him by delivering fifty lashes.113

Campaigns against the Faraén Apaches and the Nava jos
conducted by Governor Rodriguez Cubero were‘generally fruit-
less. The governor's projected expedition against the former
never took place, and the latter, plamned to include one
hundred soldiers and 125 Indian alliles, was abortive, Ll
In 1703 he was replaced by Diego de Vargas, now the recipilent
of the title Marqués de la Nava Brazinas.

During late March and early April, 1704, Vargas led
an expedition in the Sandifa Mountains against the Farabén
Apaches. This campaignll5 was of singular importance for 1t
marked the beginning of a new era when Spanish and Pueblo
Indlan forces were united to combat the incursions and the
growing threat of the Apaches. No longer would there be
Pueblo disunity and resistance to the Spaniard. Henceforth,

~ all of the pueblos would render support in the governor's

Navajos, whom the Spaniards considered to be of the same
nation. They frequently applied the term "Apaches-Navajos"
to these natives.

113juan de Ulibarri to Governor Pedro Rodriguez
Cubero, Zuii Pueblo, March 8, 1702, SANM, Document 85.

11“Escalante, Noticias, BNM, Legajo 3.

115The best sources for the study of this campaign
are the Autos de guerra de la primera campafia . . . & los
Apaches Faraones . . . , Afio de 170l, SANM, Document 99,  and -
Ralph E. Twitchell, "The Last Campalgn of General de Vargas,
170k4," 01d Santa Fe, II, No. 1 (July, 1914), Pp- 66-72.
The former WOrk is hereinafter cited’as Autos de guerra.
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military campalgns.

On March 27, having heard of numerous Faradn Apache
livestock raids in the vicinity of Cieneguilla and Bernalillo,
Vargas decided to horor the requests of the alcaldes of that
region to "make offensive warfare by blood and fire."116 He
ordered the presidio captain Félix Martinez to compose a list
of fifty soldlers with some officers on half pay to join him
for the campaign. In addition, he ordered the alcaldes and
governors of the Tewas, Keres, and Pecos pueblos to select
well-armed gente de armas,6 dispatching them to jcin his
force at the rendezvous point (plaza de armas) of Bernalillo
on March 29,117

In a general review of forces provided for the
expedition, Vargas at Bernalillo on March 30 noted the
following Indian aUXiliaP1682118

From Pecos

— Don Felipe (Governor)

Four war captains (Miguel, Dlego, Pedro, and
Agustin)

Joseph de Naranjo (Captain of the scouts)
Forty-two men

116Autos de guerra, SANM, Document 99.

1171b1i4d.

11871114, Naranjo's original pueblo 1s somewhat
obscure since he 1s associated at various times with duiil,
Santo Domingo, the Tewas, and here with Pecos. The figures
appearing in this table have been compared favorably with
those in the Twitchell article cited in note 115, this
chapter.



93

From San Felipe
Three war cagtains (Cristébal, Juan, and
Miguel)ll
Fourteen men

From Santo Domingo
Four war captains
Four men

From Cochitd
Three war captains (Lorenzo, Alonso, and
Francisco)
Twelve men

From Nambé
Two war captains (Cristébal and Lorenzo)
Three men

From Tesuque
One war captain (Martin)
Eleven men

Prom San Ildefonso
One war captaln (Juan)
Three men

FProm Santa Clara
One war captain (Juan Roque)
Four men

From San Juan
One war captain (Lorenzo)
Five men

From Jémez, Zia, and Santa Ana
Alcalde ma or Diego ae " Montoya
Numbers men not specified

Combined with forty-seven Spaniards (both soldlers
and settlers), these auxiliaries, drawn from twelve separate
pueblos, amounted to &t least 120 Indians, not including the
representatives of the three villages whose numbers were not

enumerated. Joseph Naranjo and thirty of the auxiliaries

"llszitchell "The Last Campaign of General de
Vargas," 0ld Santa Fe IT, No. 1, 129, errs in combining
Juan and MI guel into one name .
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were detached and sent ahead to serve as scouts, reconnoi-
tering the Sandfa Mountains, presumebly to locate the enemy.
On March 31 two Tewas from this group reported a skirmish
between the scouts and the hostiles and that the Apaches had
thereafter retreated to well-fortified positions in the
slerra. Naranjo himself returned later the same day with
reports of the Apache position. Although the pursuit was
begun the following day and Varges again sent Naranjo with
forty Indians to find the enemy and discover his watering
places 1in the mountains,lzo the campaign collapsed after
Aprll 2, when the Marqués was stricken with a fatal illness,
He was taken to Bernalillo, where he died on April 8,
170h-121

Despite the fact that.the last campaign of Diego de
Vargas was a fallure, it was a most significant foresast of
the nature of Indian warfare which was to be almost charac-
teristic of the entire eighteenth century. The Apache would
continue to be the dominant menace until the Comanches
arrived on the northern and eastern frontiers. As a result,
the conflict hereafter would center around the Spanishe-

Pueblo unity on the one hand and the indios bédrbaros,

whether they were Comanches, Apaches, Utes, or Navajos, on

the other.

120putos de guerra, SANM, Document 99.
121E3pinosa, First Expedition of Vargas, p. Ll.
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The period from 1692 to 1704 had been one of
conquest, directed primarily against the rebelllious Pueblo
Indians, The Pueblo unity in the revolt of 1680 had been
shattered by 1692. The Spaniards made use of the new
disunity to facilitate the reconquest and colonization of
New Mexlco. By 1704 they had restored unity among the
Pueblos, but it was then in support of Spanish civilization
rather than opposed to it.

Hereafter Spanish military forces would no longer
enlist Pueblos to combat other Pueblo armies. A new era had
begun with a long~term Spanish policy in this portion of
the northern frontier of gradually subduing hostile tribes
and of obtaining thelr support against the dwindling number
of remaining enemy tribes. The example of the Pueblo auxili-
iaries eventually inspired the Ute, Comanche, Navajo, and
even some Apache bands té accept peace and to unite against

the Apache nation at large.



CHAPTER III

ORGANIZATION AND UNIFICATION,
1704-1709

Within a decade after the reconquest of New Mexico
and the suppression of the last Pueblo uprising of 1696, the
Indian problem in the province began to acquire new charac-
teristics. No longer was the principal enemy & band, town,
or nation of Pueblos. Various groups of Apaches, Navajos,
Utes, and the newly-arrived Comanches became more serious
threats to the isolated northern region. Thus, the presence
of so many enemies helped to draw the Spaniards and Pueblos
together, cementing the uncertain "aliiance" which had been
achisved earlier.

The campaigns of Diego de Vargas between 1692 and
1696 had taken advantage of Pueblo disunity. Practicing
such techniques as "divide and conquer," an economic war of
attrition, and offensive warfare by "blood and fire," the

Spanish conquistador had completed the subjugation of most

of the New Mexican region. Hdwever, the conquest could not
have been completed without the assistance of friendly Pueblo
Indian forces. These native alliles had furnished Vargas

96
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with interpretars{ supplies, foodstuffs, and military elements
- to support his numerous campaigns against other rebellious
groups of Pueblos.

By 1704 a notable change had occurred. Although
there were still some rebels among the Pueblos,- especlally
at Acoma, Zufii, and the Moqui towns, Spanish operations
against the Indlans of the province had begun to change.

Most indicative of this alteration was the unsuccessful
campaign of March and April in that year ageinst the hostile
Faradén Apaches in the Sandia Mountains, east of present-day
Bernalillo. Although Governor Vargas was stricken with a
fatal illness, the formation, composition, and basic prac-
tices of this expedition were illustrative of the new type

of warfare and the campalgns undertaken during the eighteenth
century.

For this military venture, as has been noted earlier,
Vargas employed Indians from twelve of the Pueblo villages.
Some of these natives came from towns, such as Zia and Santa
Ans., which had been friendly throughout the reconguest.
Others were from newly-sub jugated pueblos, such as San Juan
end San Ildefonso.l However, this campaign illustrated that
warfare 1n New Mexico was no longer a question of Spaniard
and Pueblo versus another Pueblo, but Pueblo and Spaniard

versus non-Pueblo. Hereafter the Spanish-Pueblo tle would

1Autos de guerra, SANM, Document 99. See chapter II
for the composition of this expedition.
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form the nucleus in defending the province from, and occa-
sionally taking the offensive against, the growing menace of
the indios bérbaros.

During the interim governorship of Juan Pdez Hurtado,
from 1704 to 1705, there were many unfounded reports of
Pueblo uprisings. Conspiracies seemed to center around
San Juan Pueblo and it appeared at one time as though an
alliance between the Indians there and the Navajos was in
the formative stages. Interrogation of friendly natives,
including some from Santa Clara, revealed that the possi-
bllity existed of a loose alliance among the Utes, Navajos,
Jicarilla Apaches, and San Juan and Jémez pueblos,2 but no
subsequent rebellion occurred.

With the appointment and arrival of Francisco Cuervo
vy Valdés as the new provincial governor in 1705, Indian
affairs acquired increased attention and importance. Desirous
of defending the already-pacified pueblos and strengthening
the area of Spanish settlement, Cuervo wasted no time in
concehtrating upon the Indian problems of the realm. He

called a junta de guerra, or war council, on April 16, 1705,

in Santa Fé to organize a campaign against the Navajos.
Settlers were mustered for the expedition, and Indian allies

from the pueblos of Picurls, Santa Clara, Cochiti, Jémez,

2Jusn Pdez Hurtado, Relacién de una conspiracién,
December, 1704, SANM, Document 10L.
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and Zufil accompanied the forcq westward.3

In the following month the new Spanish official,
reviewing the entire frontier situation, concluded that the
"forces of this realm do not have sufficient strength to
punish the mentioned enemies."u Since the rebellious tribes
were well aware of this weakness, they frequently challenged
the authorities by raiding the settled region, including
such Spanish towns as Bernalillo, where elghty head of cattle
were taken in one bold effort. The governor concluded that
what the province most needed was thirty additional presidials
from Nueva Vizcaya,5 but it is doubtful that had they been
furnished they could have ended the frontier war with the
nomadic tribes.

Extensive Indian campaigns occupied the summer
months, and Pueblo allies were used for all efforts against
threatening tribes. 1In June Cuervo struck agalinst the Gila
Apaches and in July he dispatched & large force of soldilers,

settlers, and Pueblos under the command of his maestre del

campo, Roque de Madrid, against the Jémez and Navajos. The
latter campaign extended into August and September, and some

success was experienced against the Navajo. However, the

3Francisco Guervo Y Valdés, Autos en campafia contra
los Apaches, Santa Fé&, April, 1705, SANM, Document 110.
Although the title of this document indicates that the threat
was from "ipaches," the text specifies "Navajo Apaches,"
which means Navajos. See Chapter II, note 112.

bouervo Yy Valdés to Viceroy Duque de Alburquerque,
SantaSFé, May 18, 1705, AGN, Provincias Internas 36, Expedi-
ente 5.

5Ibido
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Indian allles occasionally got out of control. One member
of the expedition relates an incident of this nature in
which he found the Pueblo auxiliaries killing an old woman.
He stopped them, and she promptly begged to be baptlzed.
After the chaplain performed this act, the native alliles
killed her.6

Within a year after Cuervo's arrival his vigorous
Indian policy had begun to reap dividends. The most serious
threat from the hostiles~~that of the Nava jos--had apparently
been overcome, and a state of relative tranquility had been
reached. The governor reported by mid-summer of 1706 that
the Nava jos had sent emissaries to the Christian Indians to
learn "about the kindness and affection" and the "good
treatment" which Cuervo had shown toward them.?

Since the region now enjoyed an unusual period of
relative peace, Cuervo concentrated upon strengthening
Spanish settlements along the Rio Grande. First, he
resettled the vicinity of present Galisteo, establishing the
Indian town of Santa Maria de Gracia de Galisteo with 150
families of 630 persons, principally Christianized Tano
Indians who had been scattered over the province since 1702.

A new church was bullt there, and flelds were soon cultlvated

6Escalante, Noticias, BNM, Legajo 3.

Touervo y Valdés, Informe, August 18, 1706, in
Hackett, Historical Documents, IYI, 382.
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and planted in corn.8 Cuervo also established the new Spanish
villa of Albuquerque with thirty families comprising 252
persons.? Not satisfied with these two efforts, the governor
desired to extend further the area of Spanish military
authority by creating a new presidio at either Zia or
Socorro,lo but such a project was never accomplished.

The best l1llustration of Cuervo's interest in uniting
and defending the Pueblos is his dispatch of a military
expedition in 1706 to recover the Picuris Indians, who had
been llving among the Apaches since their flight during the
revolt of 1696. Undoubtedly, this was the most memorable
event of Cuervo's administration. Thls rescue campaign
indicates the Spanlsh officlal's desire to restore all of
the friendly Indlans (principally Pueblos) to their former
villages and to establish firm, binding ties with these
groups to achleve unity within New Mexico against outside
threats. Simultaneously, the event provides an excellent
example of the combined Spanish and Pueblo forces so often

used during the elghteenth century.

Bcuervo y Valdés to His Majesty [Philip V], Santa Fé,
July 13, 1706, AGI, Guadalajara 116, number 260. Also
discussed in Cuervo y Valdés to the King, Santa Fé, April 23,
1706, in Hackett, Historical Documents, III, 22 and 379.

Youervo y Valdés to the King, April 23, 1706, in
Hackett, Historical Documents, III, 22 and 379.

10¢uervo y Valdés to His Majesty, Santa F6, July 13,
1706, AGI Guadalajare 116, number 260.
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Although the fugitive Pueblos from Picurisil often
had asked for help from the Spaniards, and it was apparent
that they were now belng held as slaves by the Apaches in
the region of present Pueblo, Colorado,12 the Spanish
authorities had been unable to maintain peace in the

province long enough to provide the requested assistance.

Instructions were issued by the governor. to Sergeant Juan de

Ulibarri,13 in command of the expedition, to proceed to the

"tlerra incognita" on the plains where the Picuris were held

captive. Mention was made of Don Lorenzo Tupatt (the son
of Luls Tupatfi, who had been one of the instigators of the
Pueblo uprising of 1680) being the "principal Indian and
head chief" of.the nation requesting atd. W It was ne who
had led the flight from his village in 1696 when Diego de
Vargas led the northern campaign against Picuris and Taos.

Authorized to enlist fifty soldlers and settlers and

one hundred Christian Indians from the pueblos, Ulibarrl
actually departed on July 13, 1706, with only forty

Spaniards--twenty-elght soldlers from the presidio and

11Hallenbeck Land of the Congquistadores, p. 200,
states erroneously that the Indlans were from Tlaos.

12Guervo y Valdés to His Ma jesty, Santa F§,
October 18, 1706, in Hackett, Historical Documents, III, 383.

13giibarrits name is occasionally rendered as
"Uribarri" but the original records show the former spelling.

lhDiario y derrotero que hizo el sargento mayor Juan
de Ulibarri . . . , Afio de 1706, AGN, Provincilas Internas 30,
Expediente L. Hereinafter cited as Juan de Ulibarri, Diario.
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twelve citizens from the local militla-~-and the required
number of natives,15 The allied force marched through San
Juan Pueblo to Taos, then followed the route through Taos
and Cimarron canyons to the vicinity of present Cimarron,
New Mexico, on the eastern slope of the mountains. Appar-
ently moving northeastward ovér Ratén Pass, Ullibarril
| proceeded by present Trinidad and the Purgatoire River to
its junction with the Arkansas River (then called the
Napestle), about forty-five miles down-river from the modern
Pueblo, Colorado. From that point he moved eastward and
encountered the fugitive Picuris among the Cuarﬁelejo

Apaches.16

151bid. The account of this expedition 1s also
contained in Cuervo y Valdés to His Majesty, Santa Fé,
October 18, 1706, in Hackett, Historical Documents, III,
383—3811..A Ehe gest secondary work on the subject 1s Alfred B.
Thomas fter Coronado: Spanish Exploration Northeast of
New2¥eiico, 1696=1727 (Norman: Un%vers!fy of Oklahoma Press,
19327,

16Thomas, After Coronado, pp. 16-20; Waldo R. Wedel,
An Introduction to Kansas Archeology [Smithsonian Institu-
tion Bureau of American Ethnology, Bulletin (Wash-
ington, D. C.: ~Govermnment Printing Office, 1959), pp. 467~
L68. fhere has been considerable discussion concerning the
location of Cuartelejo. Thils uncertainty centers upon two
supposed sites--one in Otero or Kiowa County in eastern
Colorado, and the other in Scott County in western Kansas.
Thomas adopts the former, but the archeologist Wedel, after
extensive Investigation of the latter site and the failure
to find any such village in eastern Colorado, noted that "no
shred of archeological evidence" exlsts to support the
conclusion that eastern Colorado ls correct. Wedel agrees
with the historlan Hackett. 1In this study the Scott County
location has been adopted because there 1s as yet no such
site found in Colorado and because archeological evidence
indicates the definite presence of a unique puebloan struc-
ture in the midst of a Plains Apache cultural area together
with Pueblo-type artifacts and practices at the Kansas site.
However, such acceptance must be tentative, as a similar site
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Here the commander found the Pueblos scattered in

different rancherias. Using his two prinecipal scouts, José

Naranjo, the Indian who had served Vargas well in the Sandia
- Mountain campaign of 1704, and Juan de 1l'Archévdque, a
French survivor of the La Salle adventure who had lived in
New Mexico since 1691,17 Ulibarri rounded up the Picuris for
the return journey. The rescued Indians had no horses and
were described as destitute, so that the Spaniards provided
the natives supplies and loaned them horses, particularly
the two chiefs, Don Lorenzo and Don Juan Tupatd, for the

return trip to Santa F&,18

The joint venture of Pueblos and Spaniards arrived
in the capital with sixty-two Picuris Indians, including the
chiefs,.1? Undoubtedly the expedition must have strengthened

Spanish-Pueblo relations during the governorship of Cuervo,

in Colorado may be discovered. In addition, the Scott County
ruin is approximately 120 miles northeast of the junction of
the Arkansas and Purgatolre rivers in eastern Colorado, near
the location of Thomas' Cuartelejo. It may, therefore, be
the rancheria of Sanasesli, forty leagues (iO&-lBO miles)
northeast of Cuartele jo, where a” detachment of Ulibarrits
force rounded up eighteen additional persons for the return
to New Mexico.

17Thomas, After Coromado, p. 16.

18uan de Ulibarri, Diario, AGN, Provincias Internas
36, Expediente l.

191b1d. However, note that the number is increased
to sixty-four in Cuervo y Valdés to Viceroy Duque de Albur-
querque, Santa Fé, September 23, 1706, AGN, Provincias
Internas, Number ﬁ, fojas 149-150. Subsequently Cuervo
ralsed this number to seventy-four in his letter to His
Ma jesty, Santa Fé, October 18, 1706, in Hackett, Historical
Documents, III, 38L.
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and it must have contributed greatly to the continual improve-
ment noted in Indian affairs within the province prior to
1707. Not only had additional Pueblos been "rescued" and
returned to their former village, but the technique of joint
Spanish-Pueblo expeditions had been improved upon, extended
to the northeastern frontier, far-removed from the scene of
earlier cooperative ventures, and organizational patterns for
such expeditions had been developed. The campaign also
served to further Spanish knowledge of the numerous nations

to the north. Cuervo described them as the "rancherias de

indios infieles," and he specifically named the Utes, Carlana

Apaches, and Comanches as being classified with this group.eo
Pueblo Indians furnished experienced scouts such as Naranjo,
supplies such as those obtained at Taos, and military
strength, if only in numbers, with which to confront the
Apaches. In addition, they gained experience on an expedi-
tion which was not punitive in nature as the earlier
campaigns with the Spanlards had been.

In his report on the expedition, Cuervo reviewed the
ald received from the Christian Indians since his arrival.
He cited in particular the services rendered by the puebios
of San Juan, Santa Clara, San Ildefonso, Cochiti, San
Felipe, Santa Ana, Zia, and Picuris, and of the jurisdiction

of Chimayo (near Santa Cruz), Taos, Bernalillo, Albuquerque,

20Guervo y Valdés to His Majesty, AGI, Guadalajara
116, Number 261.
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Figure 3
Territory Northeast of Santa Fé
Adapted from

Alfred B. Thomas, After Coronado:
Spenish Exploration Northeast of New Mexlco, 1696-1727
(Norman:” University of Oklaehoma Press, 1932),
facing page 260.
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Jémez, Laguna, Acoma, Zufil, and Moqui--all of which he
exaggerated to add up to over three hundred Indlan languages
within the province. He further complimented the Pueblo
auxiliaries by stating that when they were on campaign he
had observed that they were motivated by great enthuslasm
and always pursued the war vigorously. However, he recog-
nized that thelr battles were bloody operations in which he
believed that they were not meeting all of their Catholie
obl’igations.,21

Indicative of the reldtively peaceful situation which
confronted the governor by 1707 was his withdrawal of Spanish
garrisons stationed at Santa Clara, Cochlti, Jémez, and
Laguna, which he considered no longer necessary.22 More
significant, however, is the fact that Cuervo was actually
complying with the policlies and instructions of the viceroy.
Except for that officialts interest in prosecuting a war
against the Moquis to provide better security for the
already pacified region, the governor was instructed to
resort to war only to maintain all that had been acquired
previously. He was to refrain from offensive warfare and
apply "suave and bland" methods in dealing with hostile
tribes, avolding the shedding of blood in their reduction.?23

2l1pi4.

22Hallenbeck, Land of the Conquistadores, p. 201.

23Duque de Alburquerque, Mandamiento, México, July 30,
1706, SANM, Document 12l.
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Of unusual interest in this period was the definite
appearance in New Mexico of a purportedly new authority for
the Indians. Actually this was an extension of an office
used elsewhere, for the position of "protector general of
the Indians, whlch was apparently created in New Mexico
during the year 1706, had been introduced into other Spanish
colonies prior to this time. A former captain, Alfonso Rael
de Agullar, occupled this position during Cuervo's adminis-
tration.zu Although the office and the title were not new
to Spanish civilization, and official protectors of the
Indians had been in existence since Bartolomé de las Casas
had achieved such an appointmént for the Indies in the
sixteenth century, there 1is no record of their presence in
New Mexico before 1706.

On January 6, 1707, Governor Cuervo held an important

councll in Santa Fé for the Indians of the realm.e5 The

2hpor proof that this position was officially in
existence in 1706, see Alfonso Rael de Aguilar, Protector
General, Certificate, Santa Fé, January 10, 1706, AGN,
Provincias Internas 36, Expediente 5. This same document
aggears in translation in Hackett, Historical Documents, III,
366-369. For further verification, see Rael de Agullar
Protector General de los indios nafurales y de sus puebios,
Santa Fé, Janmary 6, 1707, AGN, Provincias Internas 36,
Expedienée 1.

25The date of this council is not absolutely clear
from a close examination of the sources mentioned in note
2li. Both the certificates of 1706 and 1707 are in agreement
that the date was January 6, but the year is confused. The
first document clearly states that the year was 1706 and
Hackett so renders it in his translation. But the second
certificate clearly indicates 1707. Since both documents
cover the same subject matter, cite the same Indians in
attendance, and reflect the same order of speaking, it seems
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purpose of the meeting was to confirm the newly-elected
officials of the puebles, and the conference included the
"protector general" Rael de Aguilar, Indian governors,
caciques, war captains, and other judicial officers from
Zufii, Jémez, Pecos, Picuris, and Taos pueblos, as well as the
Keres, Tewa, Tano, and Tiwa-speaking nations. This council
merits unusual attention for it illustrates in detall the
Indian organizational system, the degree of Spanish control
over the Pueblos, the extent to which the natives accepted
such authority, and Indlan satisfactlon with Cuervo as
governor. When all had gathered in front of the Spanish
official and had been seated, the Pueblo governor of Tesuque

Domingo Romero, who was also the capitdn mayor de la guerra

for all of the Christian Indians, spoke first iIn good
Gastilian,:declaring his satisfaction with Cuervo. He
reviewed the past mlilitary expeditions of the governor and
concluded with a statement that he desired Cuervo to retain
his present position, principélly because he had established
tranqullity on the frontier. Other Indian governors who

were "muy ladino" (accomplished in the Castilian language)

followed with similar statements, and those who could not

that they are one and the same certificate with an error in
transcribing the date of the first. The year 1707 seems
more appropriate than 1706 since the discussion involves the
Indien desire to retain Cuervo as governor, although the
natives were advised of the coming of a new governor, the
Marqués de la FPefiuela. Furthermore, a scribe recording in
January would more likely err in recording the year just
past than one not yet arrived.
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use the tongue of the Spaniards spoke through their inter-
preters or their protector genera1.26

The Spanish governor rewarded the Indians with gifts
of ribbons, bundles of tobacco, hats, needles, beads, and
other trifles. He provided shoes and suilts of fine Mexican
cloth for the Indian governors as well as cloth for shirts
and stockings. However, he was unable to comply with their
request that he be continued in office, and he informed the
natives of the expected arrival of his replacement, the
newly-appointed Marqués de la Pefiuela. The conference
concluded after some discussion on reports that there were
many apostates among the Zusi, Moqui, and Navajo.27

José Chacdbn Medina Salazar y Villasefior, better
known as the Marqués de la Pefiuela, the new governor of New
Mexico, continued and extended many of the Indian policies
begun by his predecessor. Difficulties with various Apache
bands and incessant warfare with the Navajos necessitated
frequent military campaigns which employed Pueblo auxil-
laries. 1In 1709, for example, five separate campaigns were
conducted against the Nava jos who had been raiding Santa

Clara and Jémez. One of these forays under Roque de Madrid

26A1fonso Rael de Aguilar, Protector Gemeral de los
indios naturales y de sus pueblos, Santa Fé, January 6,
1707, AGN, Provincias Internas 36, Expedienfe 1.

2TIbid. This document summarizing the conference
may have been prepared at the request of Governor Cuervo to
strengthen his position with the king. There is no doubt
that he wished to be appolnted, but he was unsuccessful in
his efforts.



112

was even ordersd for the middle of winter.2° Extensive
efforts were made also to insure that the Christian Indians
received proper treatment and payment for thelr services.

During the first year of the Marqués' administration
Apache hostilities and raids agﬁinst the Pueblos resulted in
many deaths among both Spaniards and their loyal Indian
allies. The marauders stole small livestock and frequently
robbed horseherds, according to Juan Pdez Hurtado, the lieu-
tenant governor of the province. He suggested that two

squadrons be formed, each consisting of thirty soldiers

supplemented by an equal number of Christian Indians. The

two units would alternate in pursult of raiding Apaches,
Insuring that they were properly punished for their misdeeds.2?
Continued incursions, however, were reported throughout the
province, including El Paso, Zufii, Albuquerque, and the

Sandia Mountain region. This widespread activity of the
Apaches, apparently in the south and west, may have been the
immediate result of the Comanche pressures applied against
them, since the latter arrived in New Mexico from the Great
Plains about 1705. The fidelity of the Pueblos was again

demonstrated by the assistance of auxiliaries under the

28Marqués de la Pefiuela to Roque de Medrid, Santa
Fé, December 8, 1709, SANM, Document 157. Also summarized
in Frank D. Reeve, "Navaho-Spanish Wars, 1680-1720," NMHR,
XXXIII, No. 3 (July, 1958), 225.

29Juan Péez Hurtado to the Governor and Captain
General [Marqués de la Pefiuela], Santa F&, October, 1707,
in Diligenclas hechas por el sargento mayor Juan de Ulibarri
.+ . , Afio de 1708, AGN, Provincias Internas 36, Expedi-
ente 2.
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leadership of two Indian capitanes mayores de la guerra,
30

Domingo Romero of Tesuque and Don PFelipe of Pecos.
Apparently successful in quieting the Apache menace
temporarily by November, 1708, Governor La Pefiuela confirmed
Pueblo elections in that month. The natives of San Juan,
Santa Clara, San Ildefonso, Nambé, Pojoaque, and Tesuque,
together with their governors, cacigues, and war captains,
presented themselves in Santa Fé on November 7 and were
endorsed in their newly-elected offices by the Spanish
governor. La Pefiuela acted through two Indian interpreteré,
including José Naranjo, who had assisted Ulibarri in the
recovery of the Plcuris two years earlier. Three days later
the Marqués, acting through the protector of the Indians
Alfonso Rael de Aguilar, performed a similar task for the
pueblos of Cochitl, Santo Domingo, San Felipe, Santa Ana,
Zia, Jémez, and Pecos. The following day he completed the
installetions by receiving the Picuris and Taos Indians.3l
Although the record is incomplete, one of the
campaigns of 1708 against the Apaches, perhaps in the
vicinity of the Sandias, must have created a temporary rift
between the Spaniards and at least a portion of the Pueblos.
Apparently a soldier from the Santa Fé presidio mistreated

3°Diligencias hechas por el sargento mayor Juan de
Ulibarri . . . , Afio de 1708, AGN, Provincias Internas 36,
Expediente 2. :

311p1a4.
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an Indian of the new pueblo of Santa Maria de Galisteo.32
At any rate, the Viceroy of New Spain, the Duke of Albur-
querque, saw fit on two occasions to admonish Governor
La Pefiuela. In the first instance he told the provincial
administrator to protect the Indians and prevent the soldiers
from molesting them, reminding fhe governor of royal
ordinances which reflected the crownts desire for the
continued good treatment of the natives.33‘ In the second
the viceroy reilterated that the Marqués was to act saga-~
clously in maintaining the Indians and bringing them to the
"vassalage of His Majesty."Bu

At the end of 1708 the Nava jos broke the peace which
they had maintained for over two years. They killed,
robbed, and took many captlves on raids which occurred in
a period of slightly less than one year thereafter. On
June 8, 1709, the Navajos raided the pueblo of Jémez, sacking
not only the houses of the commnity, but even the church,
- from which they carried away the ornaments and sacred
vessels. Two squads of soldiers were sent to follow the

marauders, but they were 6n1y partially successful in

32Duque de Alburquerque to Marqués de la Pefiuela,
November, 1710, SANM, Document 161.

33Virrey Duque de Alburquerque to Marqués de la
Pefiuela, México, July 8, 1708, SANM, Document 143.

3,‘"Duque de Alburquerque to the Governor and Captain
ngeral Pefiuela, México, December l, 1708, SANM, Document
1 20
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recovering the stolen property and punishing the offenders.35
Throughout 1709 the Marqués ordered numerous expedi-
tions against the Navajos. Three of them are particularly
important in this study for they provide an opportunity to
examine the leadership and composition of Pueblo assistance.
Early in the year, after an Indian from Santa Clara Pueblo

had informed the Spanish captain in the Santa Cruz jurisdic-
tion of a Navajo raid which had taken cows and horses from
| his pueblo, the governor oréered Roque de Madrid to conduct
a punitive expedition. The campaign force for this foray
included José Naranjo as interpreter and scout, auxiliaries
from San Ildefonso, San Juan, and Senta Clara, as well as
settlers from the Santa Cruz district.36

This expedition and the two which followed during
the year clearly indicate that by 1709 Spanish authorities
in New Mexico had organized an orderly system for conducting
joint expeditions against the hostile tribes. It 1s also |
evident that settlers and Pueblo Indians were expected to
participate in such punitive forays throughout the province.
Likewlse, they were equally obligated to join expeditions -
dispatched to rescue Pueblos who had been captured by the
Nava jos. When the governor nimself could not lead the

campaign element, he generally assigned this task to his

35Esca1ante, Noticias, BNM, Legajo 3.

36Marqués de la Pefiuela to Roque de Madrid, Orden,
Santa Fé, February 21, 1709, SANM, Document 15k.
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lieutenant governor, Juan Phoz Hurtado,B7 or to his maestre
del campo, Roque de Madrid.>38
. Soldiers from the presidio and the citizen militila
were always assigned to these forces by the governor. 1In
fact, he usually provided the expeditionary commander with a
list of them, naming each and specifying the equipment and

animals he possessed. 4lcaldes mayores of the Pueblo

districts were instructed simply to provide a designated
number of éﬁx;liaries, having them report to the campaign
captain at the plaza de armas. This site was usually an
Indian pueblo such as Jémez in the early summer expedi-
tion,39 or San Juan in the foray at the end of the year.uo
Although these Navajo campaigns enlisted Pueblos, princi-
pally from the villages of Santa Clara, Cochitl, and Jémez
(undoubtedly because of the route selected and their nearness
to the Navajos),ul everyone in the province was reminded of

his obligation to serve His Majesty.’2

3TMarqués de 1a Pefiuela to Juan de Ulibarri, Santa
Fé% Sgptember 6, 1709, AGN, Provincias Internas 36, Expedi-
entve

38M£rqués de la Pefiuela, Orden, Santa F§é, December 8,
1709, SANM, Document 157. Another copy exists in AGN,
Provincias’ Internas 36, Expediente 3.

394 pefiuela to Ulibarri, September 6, 1709, AGN
Provincias Internas 36, Expedien£e 3.

4Ora peiuela, Orden, December 8, 1709, SANM, Docu-
ment 157.

“lra pemiuela to Ulibarri, September 6, 1709, AGN,
Provincias Internas 36, Expediente 3.

42ra pefiuela, Orden, December 8, 1709, SANM,
Document 157. '

’
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Before leaving office in 1712, the Marqués de la
Pefiuela made a three-year effort to stamp out some of the
ahcient practices of the Pueblos, and he endeavored to have
these natives embrace Christianity more thoroughly. Two of
the basic features of Spanish Indian policy throughout the
Americas after the sixteenth century were the conversion of
the subjects to Christianity and the suppression of their
supposedly heathen practices. The governor of New Mexico
attempted to apply these policies more diligently to the
Pueblo Indilans before 1712. Particularly emphasilzing the
ceremonies of the natlves which he concluded were repugnent
and opposed to Christianity, the Marqués explained: |
They keep the scalps taken from their enemies, the
unfaithful enemieés whom they kill in battle, bring
them and dance publicly, introducing many supersti-
tions and scandalous acts in these dances, and they
use as [1llegible] many subterranean places that are
called estufas, places in which they invoke the devil,
and in his company and with his ﬁgvice and suggestion
they exhort one thousand errors.
In the last year of his administration Governor
Ia Pefiuela conducted an interrogation of all of the pueblos.
The cabildo of Santa Fé executed the inquiry, directing
fifteen questions to the Indians, largelj concerning their

treatment and payment for their services. Although answers

were recelived from almost all of the native villages,

h3Marqués de la Pefiuela to Virrey, Santa F§,
January 26, 1710, AGN, Provincias Internas 36, Expediente 3.
The estufas (literally meaning "ovens") were in reality the
typical Indian klivas of the Pueblos still in use today as
ceremonlial chambers.



118

especlally those of Santa Ana, Cochlti, Senta Clara, Nambé,
and Pojoaque, the response from Santo Domingo most clearly
11lustrates the nature of the answers provided. The governor
of that Keresan pueblo stated that La Pefiuela had not
aggravated the Indians, that they had been paid satisfac-
torily for their services, that indlviduals had not been
forclbly taken away from thelr pueblo, that the governor had
helped to defend the Christian Indians from their hereditary
enemies, the "Apaches" [Nava jost], and that the Marqués had
even returned a Jémez woman whom the Apaches had held as a
slave. He further explained that frequent Farabn Apache
incursions had secured beef and cattle from his pueblo of
Santo Domingo, that the campaigns made by the people of that
village with Sergeant Juan de Ulibarri had been made to
punish their enemies, and that the Christian Indians had
always been treated well.uu

Although the reply of Santo Domingo!'s governor
indicated that the Indians were "not sorry at having been
mede to quit their estufas, dances, and scalp dances because
they are Christians," this feeling was apparently not widely
held. An examination of San Ildefonsots reply indicates

that there was some dlssatisfaction with the lack of

hgee BNM, Afio de 1711, Legajo 6, No. l, for this
Interrogation and the responses received. Such a procedure
may have been followed and this investigation conducted as
part of Governor La Pefilucla's residencia, before he had been
replaced in the office of governor. Undoubtedly the dilscus-
sion of "Apaches" in this testimony refers to the Nava jos
until the subject of the Farabédn Apaches was introduced.
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ceremonies, and San Juan regretted the loss of the estufas
and ceremonial as well arc scalp da.nces.’-"5

By 1712 the Marquéds had consolidated the gains of
his predecessor and had strengthéned the Spanish position in
New Mexilco. Likewise, he had improved the relationshilp
between the Pueblos and the Spaniards, although his efforts
to stamp out Pueblo religious practices led him into
dangerous ground, particularly into an area which had
contributed greatly to the Pueblo revolt late in the preceding
century. He had regularized the system of joint military
campaigns, and on many occasions had responded to the pleas
of the Indlan governors for help against the predatory raids
of the 1indios bé&rbaros. The general population increase of

the pueblos, except in frontier areas such as Pecos, noted

later by Frier Juan Agustin de I«'Iorf.’n.,""'(D apparently began in

o

U51bid. Since there was considerable dissatisfac-
tion with the governor's attempt to eradicate the ancient
Pueblo practices, it 1s suspected that there were probably
many secret ceremonles conducted throughout the province
near the end of hls term. Pueblo ceremonies have withstood
various attempts to stamp them out down through the present

day.

LL6Friar Juan Agustin de Morfi, Descripcibn geogrdfica
del Nuevo México, Afio de 1782, AGN, Historia 25. A few
representatlve figures from this document illustrate this
increase:

Pueblo 1707 1717 Comments
San Juan hoo 1 0l
Picuris 300 Lbl
Taos ;OO 8% %Included some S %niards)
Santa Ans 10 1 amilies (about B 0 persons)
Santo Domingo 2i0

78 families (about 390 persons)
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the governorship of La Pefiuela,

The relatively peaceful condition of the province
provided the setting for extensive unlicensed trade between
the civilized groups--Spaniards and Pueblos--and some bands
of Apaches. The new governor, Juan Ignacio Flores Mogollén,
addressed himself to this problem soon after his arrival in
1712. To bring a sudden halt to this practice of dealing
with the "Apaches Gentiles," who lived at La Jicarilla and

Cuartele jo, as well as among the Utes to the north, the new
officlal ordered that no one of any "quality or status" was

to enter these regions and rancherias to make exchanges of

any kind. Punishment for future offenses would be four
months in jail. 1Indlans were to receive the same sentence,

and alcaldes mayores were warned that they risked loss of

office and two months in jail should they tolerate such
activities within thelr jurisdictions. This order was to be
published throughout the province, so that no one could
pretend ignorance of its provisions, and it was subsequently

disseminated at Santa Fé&, La Cafiada, Pecos, Albuquerque,

Cochiti 500 116 families (about 580 persons)
Jémez 300 132 families (about 660 persons)

Population figures for the eighteenth century are subject

to much question. Since most of them were given in families
it 1s necessary to multiply each by the generally accepted
figure of five persons per family. It must be noted on
balance that there were losses cited at Tesuque, Pecos, and
Zia, but, contrary to the previously accepted views it

is apparent that the population at the pueblos seems to

have increased.
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and Bernalillo.uT
Difficulties with the indlos bédrbaros, principally

with the Utes and Navajos, occurred during 1713 and 171L.
Meny campaligns involving the use of Pueblo allles were made,
and the Zufiis were used unsuccessfully to approach the Moquis
to see 1f they might restore peace with the Pueblos, 1f not
with the Spa.n:i.zamclsu}Jr8 In October, 1713, a joint expedition
of Spanlards and Pueblos was sent to punish the Navajos for

a rald upon San Ildefonso in which they took all the cows and
oxen from the Christian Indians. Fifty soldiers, twenty
settlers, and 150 Pueblo Indians, the last-named contingent

led by capitdn mayor José Naranjo, were ordered to meet at

the rendezvous point of San Diego de Jémez for the expedltion
to punish the marauders.ug

Reports of Ute activity were aiso prevalent in late
1713. Ralds against Taos, where twenty-six horses were
taken, and San Juan resulted in a joint punitive campaign
which recovered fourteen of the horses and killed three
Utes.so This short foray also resulteﬂ in the restoration

- of the Utes to their former status as "our friends" by the

47 juan Ignaclo Flores Mogollén, Bando, Santa F§,
December 16, 1712, SANM, Document 185.

hBEscalante, Noticlas, BNM, Legajo 3.

u?Autos y junta de guerra sobre un robo que hicieron
los indios Apaches del Navajo . . . , Santa F§, October 30,
1713, SANM, Document 199. Also noted in Escalante, Noticias,
BNM, Legajo 3, and Reeve, "Navaho-Spanish Wars, 1680-1720,"
NMHR, XXXITII, No. 3, 227.

50pscalants, Noticias, BNM, Legajo 3.
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end of the year°51 A second Nava jo expedition, commanded by
Roque de Madrid and composed of fifty soldiers and 212 Pueblo
warriors, was conducted in March, 1714, to retaliate for a
raid upon Jémez in which the leader of that pueblo had been
killed. This campaign force followed the Chama River Valley,
attacked the Nava jos on several pefioles, killled thirty of
them, captured seven, and carried off some 316 bushels of
corn, eleven cattle, and 110 sheep before returning to Jémez
Pueblo.>2

One of the outstanding 1llustrations of the relations
between the Spanierds and the Pueblos and of the problems
facing the two civilizations during the Flores Mogolldn

administration was the junta de guerra, or general war

council, regarding Pueblo Indian praectices held in Santa Fé
during July, 171&.53 It is particularly important in en
intensive examination of the use of Pueblo Indian auxil-
laries, for it emphasizes the equipment possessed by these
natives, their methods of warfare, and:the resultant problems
arising from the Spanish use of Indians to defend the

frontier.

5lplores Mogollén, Sants Fé, Jamuary, 1713[1], AGH,
Provincias Internas 36, Expediente 3.

52Esca1ante, Notlclias, BNM, Legajo 3. Also noted
in Reeve, "Navaho-Spanish Wars, 1680-1720," NMHR, XXXIII,
No. 3, 229. The report indicated that two hundred fanegas
of corn were taken.

53Hallenbeck, Land of the Conquistadores, p. 20k,
states that 1715 was the date of this council, but the
documentary evidence pvoves that the correct year was 171l.
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Three basic lssues were examined in detall during
this meeting--the right of the Christian Indians to bear
arms, their Strange practices while on campaigns, and their
continued trade with the enemies of the province. The junta
was called by the governor on July 5, 171h, to consider
whether or not the ancient practices of the natives should
be abolished and if arms should be taken away from the
Pueblo auxiliariesogh Flores Mogollén stated that the
reason for calling the junta was that he suspected that the
Pueblos themselves, under the cloak of peace, were creating
some of the numerous raids on the horseherds and cattle
which had been attributed to the enemies of the realm. He
also desired that the Christian Indians be required to wear
a different dress when on campaigns so that they might be
recognized as Christians and therefore be distinguished from
the enemy.55

The question of taking arms away from the Indians
was first considered at length. The military representa-
tives of the junta favored doing so before the Pueblos sold
them to the unfaithful natives with whom they were already

Shpiores Mogollén, Auto, Santa Fé, July 5, 171l,
BNM, Legajo 6, Documento 16, Afio de 171h. Another useful
copy exists in the SANM as Testimonio de los autos y junta
de guerra que se mando formar por el Sefior Don Juan Ignacio
Flores Mogollén . . . , Afio de 171, SANM, Document 207.
Hereinafter this document is cited as Testimonio. Both
Escalante, Noticias, BNM, Legajo 3, and Bancroft, History
of Arizona and New Mexico are derived from this source.

5BF1ores Mogollén, Auto, BNM, Legajo 6, Documento 16;
Testimonlo, Afio de 171l, SANM, Document 207.
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known to trade for horses and cattle. In addition, the
removal of arms from the custody of the Christian Indian
auxiliaries would prevent & general uprising, although no
suspicion or evidence of such an occurrence was presented

during the council. The‘religious members of the junta,
led by Fray Juan de Tagle, opposed taking arms away from the

Indians, stating that they needed their firearms because the
province was surrounded by enemies who frequently invaded
the pueblos and such weapons were the only means of defense
the friendly natlves possessed to defend themselves from
these raids.56

Turning to the next item, the ancient practices of
the Pueblos, especlally that of painting themselves, the
Junta again expressed & divided opinion. Governor Fores
Mogollén, most of the settlers present, and some of the
religlous leaders opposed the continuance of the Indian
practice of painting themselves. One of the group recom-
mended that such an anclent custom be abolished because "no
one could say certainly if he [the Indlan ally] was a
Christian or a Gentile" when on campaign. Another added the
opinion that since the Pueblos were Christians and vassals
of His Majesty they shoufd not be allowed to paint themselves,
and he concurred with his predecessor that when painted and

therefore in disguise, the Pueblos themselves were suspected

S6restimonio, Amio de 171, SANM, Document 207;
Escalante, Noticias, BNM, Legajo 3.
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of robbing horses and cattle. Tomés Holguin added that the
Pueblos should not be allowed to enter churches of the
province with feathers on their heads, and subsequent
opinions voiced in opposition to the Indian habits were
advanced by Roque de Madrid, Alfonso Rael de Aguilar
(supposedly the Protector General of the Indlans only eight
years earlier), Antonlo de Valverde, Cristébal de la Serna,
Juan de l'Archévdque, and others,57

A most intefesting rebuttal and dissenting opinion
was given by the custodio Fray Juan de Tagle on behalf of
the majority of the religious persons present. The noted
father stated that the Indians were simple folk who had
only recently been conquered and that the proposed auto was
beyond thelr comprehension. Priests from Pecos, Santo
Domingo, Cochliti, Santa Clara, Taos, Jémez, and Laguna
supported hls viewpoint that arms should not be taken from
the friendly Indlans and that they should not be denied the
use of firearms in the future. Also, the friars believed
that the Pueblos should not be required to discontinue the
practice of painting themselves since it was not done to
hide their crimes. Both Fray Tagle and Fray Antonio de
Miranda concurred that the Indian custom was no worse than
that of Europe. They pointed out that the Spaniards often
painted themselves and that it was not a "bad thing among
the Spanish" to put feathers in their hats and wear them

5Trestimonio, Afio de 171k, SANM, Document 207.
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to church.>8 : {
The governor reviewed the v&rious opinions presented
by the junta but decided to enforce the provisions of hils
auto, taking away the arms of the Christian Indians and
forbidding the practice of painting themselves in the future.
However, he referred the entlre matter to the viceroy, the
Duke of Linares, for review and the promulgation of the
final decision.59 The latter, apparently not concurring in
the action taken by Flores Mogollbdn, supported the views of
the friars and reversed the governor's earlier decision.éo
Perhaps one of the most outstanding campaigns of the
eighteenth century occurred in the summer of 1715 against
the Faradén Apaches. The expedition was not particularly
notable for its achlievements, which indeed were scanty, but
it is worthy of intensive investigatlion for the role played
by Pueblo Indian auxiliaries. Although there had been earlier
campaigns against the same enemy, such as the one 1in the
previous year with eighty-nine men from the presidio and the
yilla of Santa Fé and one hundred Indian allies,®l this

foray of 1715 may be examined as an early indication of the

581p14.
591b1d.
60Hallenbeck, Land of the Conguistadores, p. 205.

Escalante!s Noticlas, BNM, Tegajo 3, reveals that Some of
the arms were actualiy recovered from the Indians.

6]-.Autos y junta de guerra sobre si se le debe hacer
la guerra a los indios gentiles de la nazion Faraona, Afio
de 171l, SANM, Document 206.
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close Spanish~-Pueblo relationship and the organizational
patterns established for the defense of the province.

Depredations of the Farabédn Apaches were reported by
Don Gerbnimo of Taos and Don Lorenzo Tupaté of Picuris from
information acquired by the now famous scout and interpreter
José Naranjo. These reports were submitted to & specilal
council of war held July 20, 1715, at Santa Fé. An August
retaliatory campaign was decided upon to recover the horse-
herd stolen from Picuris and to chastise the marauders.
Don Gerénimo of Taos recormmended that neither Pecos nor
Keresan allles be taken along for the campaign. He distrusted
the former, saying that they would inform the enemy of the
expedition since the Faraones had fled from the Pecos vicinity
at the time of the reconquest. Further, the Taos governor
explained, the Keres should not go either, for they "make a
great nolse when splies go out and thus advise the enemy to
£lee."62 |

Captain Félix Martinez, commandant of the presidio

and alcalde mayor of Santa Fé, concurred with Don Gerénimo,

suggesting in addition that both the Pecos and the Keres were
needed to defend other frontiers. Governor Flores Mogollén,

accepting their arguments, ordered that none of the Pecos

or Keres were to accompany the expedition since the frontier

"mist be guarded by settlers and Indians." Only the Tiwas,

62Autos Yy junta de guerra sobre la ceampafia . . . que
el general Juan Pdez Hurtado hizo, Afio de 1715, in Thomas,
After Coronado, pp. 80-98.
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Taos, and Picuris were permitted to accompany the Spanish
force.63

Before the campalgn could be organized énd dispatched
it was necessary to conduct a limited punitive expedition
southward in July of the same year. Apaches in the Albuquerque
‘and Isleta areas were reported to have killed two Tewas and
destroyed crops and homes before taking refuge in the Ladrdn
Mountains. A council of war held at the capital determined
that a comblned expedition of fifty Spanlards and three
hundred Indlans, mostly from Gallsteo and Pecos, be dispatched
under Alonso Garcia of Albuquerque to punish the Apaches at

their rancherias in the Sandia and Ladrén mountains.éu

The threat to the south having been met, attention
once more turned to the Faféén campalgn decided upon in late
July. Juan Pdez Hurtado was appointed to command the expedi-
tion. On August 20 when the appointment occurred; he was
authorized to assemble forty soldiers, twenty settlers, and
150 Indians from Taos,. Picuris, the Tiwa pueblos, and Pecos

at the plaza de armas of Pilcuris on August 30. The governor

further ordered that the alcaldes mayores of the various

jurisdictions dgsignated have their Indians at the assigned

631p1d., p. 85.

6

uTestimonio de las juntas de guerra que se formaron
para hazarla campafia a la slerra de los ladrones, Afio de
1715, SANM, Document 22},
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pueblo by the date specified.0>

Pﬁeé Hurtado's comprehensive review of his forces and
equipment at Picuris 1s most revealing of the composition of
a typical early eighteenth century campaign in New Mexico.
The commander had previously complled a 1list of soldiers and
settlers accompanying him from Santa F§, a 1iét which included
Roque de Madrld as the second in command as of the twenty-
sighth of August. This compilation also included 151 friendly
Indian allies from the pueblos designated in the governor:s
initial instructions, although these natives were not named
individually as the Spaniards were,66

However, minor alterations occurred by the time the
final review and muster were made at Picurils. Thirty-six
soldiers and fifty-two settlers were listed by name in addi-
tlon to the commander. Most of the settlers were from
Albuquerque, Santa Fé, and Santa Cruz, some having as meny
as eleven horses and others with as many as eiéht mules and
six horses. Many, however, lacked the leather jackets
generally valued for their protection against arrows. The
designated deputy commander, Roque de Madrid, was not
Included on this final muster, and three soldiers, described

as 111, were not included in the fimal count.®7

65Autos Y junta de guerra sobre la campafia . . .. que
el general Juan Pdez Hurtado hizo, Afio de 1715, in Thomas,
After Coronado, p. 86.

66Ibid., pp. 87-88.

671p1d., pp. 89-93.
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Completing the composition of the force was the band
of Indian warriors, a total of 149 being finally provided

from the following locatlons:

Pueblo Leaders Number of Indians
Pecos Don Felipe and Don Juan 30
Taos Don Gerénimo 36
Nambé - - - - 10
Po joaque - - - - 6
Tesuque - - - - 11l
San Juan - - - 17
Santa Clara - - = - 12
San Ildefonso - - - - 16
Ficuris - - - - 11
TOTAL 14968

Certain characteristics of this Pueblo auxiliary
force are worthy of mention. The roster reveals that one
Christian Indian from'Tesuque was left behind because he was
111 and that only seventeen from an original quota of twenty
were taken from San Juan, three having hidden, for which the

Spaniards would hold the alcalde mayor of that particular

jurisdiction accountable. The presence of Indian auxiliaries
from ‘Pecos is of peculiar interest when it 1s realized that
the governor had declded that they should not accompany the
expedition at all. Apparently the earlier decision to exclude
them had been rescinded. The use of the leather jackets

among the Indians as well as the presence of firearms is
unusual for two reasons. First, many of the Spaniards did

not possess leather jackets, so that the Pueblos in general

631b1d,, p. 93.



131

were better protected than the settlers. Second, the appear-
ance of firearms in Pueblo units, as in earlier expeditions,
illustrates the Spanish practice of arming friendly Indlans.
Likewise, it also reflects qui%e clearly that Governor Flores
Mogolldénts efforts of the previous year’to disarm the Pueblos
had been unsuccessful.69 -

With a total of 238 individuals, over sixty per cent
of whom were Pueblo auxiliaries led by the loyal scout José
Naranjo, the expedition proceeded northward to Taos and
eastward through Taos Canyon to the Great Plains, where
thirty Jicarilla Apaches and one Cuartelejo Apache were
added to the auxiliary force.’9 Although frequently losing
its direction and achleving very limlited success, since the

Apache rancherias as usual were scattered, the campaign

reached the vicinity of present Amarillo, Texas, before
returning to the capital at the end of September.71
Although there were sporadic outbreaks among the

Apaches thereafter, the four years following 1715 were

69These observations are based upon the review of
forces and equipment at Picuris on August 30, 1715, which
may be found in Autos y junta de guerra sobre la campafia
» o o que el general Juan Pdez Hurtado hizo, Afio de 1715,
in Thomas, After Coronado, p. 93.

7°This is one of the earliest uses made of friendly
Apaches, such as the Jicarillas, in conjunction with Spaniards
and Pueblos agalnst & common enemy. Such a unity became
the general pattern by the end of the century.

"autos Y junta de guerra sobre la campafia . . .
que el general Juan Pdez Hurtado hizo, Afio de 1715, in
Thomas, After Coronado, pp. 94-98 and 266.
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principally concerned with relations with the Moquil to the
west and the Comanches and Utes in the north.

In 1716 interim Governor Félix Martinez carried out
an extensive campaign, using numerous Pueblo Indian auxil-
iaries, against the renegade Moquis. He hoped to establish
peace with them and perhaps secure their return to the Rio
Grande Valley, which scme of them had inhabited prior to
the Pueblo revolt of 1680. To augment the seventy soldiers
from the Presidio of Santa Fé and a quota of settlers from
Santa Cruz, Santa Fé, and Albuquerque, the governor ordered

the alcaldes mayores ln the neighboring Indian pueblo

districts to send the following numbers of natives to the

pleza de armas of Albuquerque on August 18:

Natlon Nation
- No. . No.
Pueblo Pueblo
Ta.o8 15 Keres
Picuris 10 Cochiti 20
Tewas Santo Domingo 10
San Juan 10 San Fellpe 20
Santa Clara 6 Jémez
San Ildefonso 10 Santa Ana 12
Pojoaque 5 Z1a 25
Nambé 5 Jémez 20
Tesuque 10 Isleta 5
Pecos 30 Acoma
Galisteo : i Laguna 10
Acoma 25
Halona (Zufii) 30
TOTAL 28212

T2pg11x Martinez, Gobernador interino, Diario . . .
de operaciones, SANM, Document 250. An excellent published
account of this journal 1is available in Lansing B. Bloom
"A Campaign against the Moqui Pueblos under Governor Pheiix
[sic] Martinez, 1716," NMHR, VI, No. 2 (April, 1931),
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With this force, including nearly seventy-five
per cent Pueblo Indians, Martinez marched westward, the
Indians carrying only bows and arrows and war clubs as
weapons.73 At the Moqui pueblos high on their mesas in
present northeastern Arizona, Martinez endeavored to obtain
the submission of the rebels by using the services of ﬁis
friendly Pueblos. He arranged, first, fof the leaders of
the auxiliary force to select a totel of sixteen of their
Indians for a peace mission to lure the Moquis and the
captive Tanos down from thelr peficies. To these Pueblos
he gave a large cross, allowing Cristébal Caiquiro of Zia
to carry it, and some handfuls of tobacco. Although the
Moquis returned the gesture of friendshiﬁ and promised to
accept the peace offered by the Spaniards, they did not
descend from their mesa pueblos.7u

Next Mertinez sent Don Felipe of the Tano nation to
invite the renegade Tanos to come down from thelr heights.

Felipe made two unsuccessful trips, the latter belng

158-226. Bloom, however, errs in citing the number of
Indians from Pojoaque as six on page 17l of his article.
Note also that Zia and Santa Ana, both of which are Keresan
pueblos, are lncluded with Jémez, which is not Keresan.

73Martinez, Diario . . . de operaciones, SANM,
Document 250; Bloom, "A Campaign against the Moqui Pueblos,"
NMHR, VI, No. 2, 185-186. Perhaps this indicates that
MarEinez, who had favored taking away arms from the Indians
in the Junta of 171, had accomplished the task.

7uMartinez, Diario . . . de operaciones, SANM, :
Document 250; Bloom, "A Campaign against the Moqui Pueblos,"
NMHR, VI, No. 2, 192-19l4.
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conducted to advise the Indians that if obsdience were not
rendered; war would be made upon them. 75 Failing in these
efforts, Martinez held a council of war in which it was
unanimously agreed to attack the rebels. When final demands
for obedience were turned down by the Moquils and a short
engagement occurred, resulting in the deaths of eight of the
hostiles while only three Spaniards were wounded, Martinez
initiated an economic war reminiscent of Vargas'! reconquest
in 1693-1694. Destruction of the fields and crops surrounding
the mesas included "pulling up everything by the roots" and
running off the Moqul livestock. Nothing, however, forced
the submission of the Moquis and hostile Tanos, the latter
having said that they "got along very well without the
irreligious Spaniards."76 With no apparent success and
lacking water for his own forces, Martinez broke camp after
sixteen days of negotiations and destruction(! and marched
back to the Rio Grande.

In the same year, because of Ute and Comanche
ettacks on the Tewa pueblos, mostly In the vicinity of Taos,
and on some of the estancias of the Spaniards in the area,

Martinez held a junta de guerra in Santa Fé, He then

ordered that an expeditlon composed of rifty soldiers,

75Bloom, "A Campaign against the Moqui Pueblos,"
NMHR, VI, No. 2, 202-207.

T®Ibi14., pp. 211-219.

TT1b1d., p. 224.
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twelve settlers, and fifty friendly Indians, all under the
command of Cristdébal de la Serna, be launched in October, /8
A unique recommendation for this campaign was the governor's
suggestion that Sierra Blanca and Jicarilla Apaches be
employed also since they were known to be on friendly terms
with the Spanish authoritles.’? The expedition met at Taos
on October 22, made contact occasionally with bands of the
enemy, killing a few and putting the rest to flight, and
returned to the'capitaloso |

Apparently another campaign in the following year,
led by Juan de Padille with five hundred men (& large portion

of whom must have been Pueblos), was much more successful.
Entirely mounted and equipped with firearms, machetes,

lances, and bows and arrows, this expedition marched through

Pecos to Antdén Chlco and thence to the l1llano estacado.

7BTestimonio de la junta de guerra . ., . y orden
« - o para . . . la guerra ofensiva a los Yutas y Cumanchy
. o s SANM, Document 279. Also in Escalante, Noticias
BNM, Legajo 3. There is an account of an expedition against
the Comanches in Amado Chdves, The Defeat of the Comanches
in 1717 [Historical Society of New Mexico Publlcations]
(Senta Fé: New Mexican Printing Compeny, 1906). However,
there are flagrant errors noted in this source. These
Include the authoris concluslion that in 1717 "so severe was
the punishment inflicted upon the Comanches that they never
again went on the warpath against the Spaniards." This is
absolutely not true when one examines the difficulties
experienced in the province with them in the period before
1754 and those of the late 17507s as well as the decades of
the 1770's and 1780°s.

79Testimonio de . . . la guerra ofensiva a los Yutas
y Cumanchy . . . , SANM, Document 279.

80Escalante, Noticias, BNM, Legajo 3.
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There, after everyone had painted his face to look like an
Indian, the force surprised the Comanches while encamped,
killed several, and took nearly seven hundred prisoners.81

After considerable uncertainty and much internal
conflict over the governorship, Including a fierce personal
rivalry among three officilals--Martinez, Pdez Hurtado, and
Antonio Valverde y Cosio--stability was finally established
in the administration of Valverde from 1719 to 1721. Although
other events occupled the governor's attention, the most
spectacular were his own campéign east of the mountalins in
the first year of his administration and that of Pedro de
Villasur which ended in disaster on the banks of the Platte
River 1n present western Nebraska in 1720.

Although his campaign of 1719 was principally
concerned with punishing the Utes for their ralds on the
northern pueblos, in the course of it the governor learned
of renewed Comanche actlvity and investigated rumors of
French Incursions within the realm. Periodically from 1719
to 1762, when Louisiane was transferred to her control, Spain
was deeply concerned with rumored French encroachment along

the northern frontier.

Blchéves, The Defeat of the Comanches in 1717,
pp. 6=7. An ironic observation may be made here when one
conslders that the Spanlards attempted to take away the arms
and prohibit the anclent traditions such as painting among
the Pueblos in 171h. Scarcely three years later it is
apparent that the auxiliarles had firearms agein and that
everyone, including the Spanlards, resorted to painting
himself In preparation for engagements with enemy tribes.
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On August 13, 1719, Governor Valverde ordered a
council of war to hear Pueblo, Spanish, and cozote82
complaints about ralds in the northern jurisdiction.
Important Pueblos such as José Naranjo were interviewed and
asked their opinions regarding the need for a campaign
against the Utes and Comanches. Naranjo, a resident of

Santa Cruz whom the viceroy had entitled capitédn mayor de

la guerra, discussed the Ute raids at Taos and Cochiti and
concluded that war was necessary. This opinion was shared

by Miguel Tenorio, alcalde mayor and war captain of Taos,

and others,83

Over a month later, on September 15, Valverde took
sixty troops from the presidio, obtailned forty settlers who
volunteered for the reconnaissance (for whom he furnished
most of the arms and horses), recrulted two hundred Pueblo
allies, and set out for Taos.eh There at the rendezvous
point he added more volunteers, who swelled his command to
over six hundred individuals.

A review of the muster list completed at Taos reveals

82mn1s term, meaning "mixed blood," was frequently
used in the eighteenth century throughout the province. It
is sometimes seen today and may be considered an equivalent
to the more commonly used terms of "mestizo" or "ladino."

83Autos Yy diligencias que . . . declara la guerra a
los indlos Yutas, Afio de 1719, SANM, Document 301. There is
a translation of’ this source in Thomas After Coronado,

pp. 99-110.

BuAntonio de Valverde to Marqués de Valero, Santa F§,
November 30, 1719, in Thomas, After Coronado, p. 1lh4l.
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the composition and squipment of the expedition. The sixty
goldiers of the presidio were counted and named with their
horses, arms, and munitions. However, it was necessary to
supply some of the forty-five settlers with powder, balls,
and leather jackets which they lacked. The Pueblo auxil-
iaries comprised nearly eighty per cent of the expedition,
numbering some 1465 individuals who cared for 680 beasts
(horses, cows, and probably sheep). OCaptain Luis Garcia,
under whose care the Pueblos were placed, counted the
animals, and great care was taken throughout the campaign to
insure that the Indian horseherd did not become mixed with
that belonging to the soldiers and settlers.S5

This huge expedltlon departed from Taos on September 20,
taking pinole, chocolate, tobacco, and presents for the Indians
whom they expected to encounter. The merching order, according
to custom, divided the main force into two parts. One was
composed of soldiers and settlers while the other was entirely
of Indian auxiliaries. Usually the two were separated by the
herd of pack animals, and scouts flanked the whole line. A
small group of Spaniards, led by the governor, comprised the
vanguard and a similar group brought up the rear. At night

85Diario Yy derrotero que cuyo . . . Antonio Valverde

s o o d® . . . la campafia . . . contra las naciones Yutas

y Cumanches, Afio de 1719, in Thomas, After Coronado, pp. 110-
133, Hereinafter cited as Diario de Ta campafa contra las
nacliones Yutas y Cumanches. The muster may be found in
Thomas on pages 28, 1ll2, and 117. Bancroft History of
Arizons end New Mexico 'p. 236, erroneously states EH’E only
thirty Indlans were taken on this expedition.
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two separate camps were made--one for the Spanlards and
another for the auxliliary forces--and all were careful to
see that the horseherds remained apart.86

Valverde proceeded to the vicinity of La Jicarilla
(present Cimarron, New Mexico), where he accepted twelve
additional allies from the Apache Indians there who offered
to accompany him.87 The expedition then turned northward,
probably crossing Ratén Pass, and in the vicinity of the
- Purgatolre River near present Trinidad, Colorado,‘Valverde
accepted the offer of Chief Carlana of the Sierra Blanca
Apaches to have sixty-nine Indians of that tribe accompany
the expedition.88 Apparently there was widespread fear of
the Comanches among the Apaches at this time, for they
desired to obtain every possible assistance, even from their
former enemies, In combatting the new menace on their fron-
tiers.

Although the expedition failed to find and defeat
the Comanches and Utes, 1t did reach the Arkansas River,
proceeding downstream from a point east of presént Pueblo,
Colorado, to another perhaps near Las Animas. Valverde,

knowing he was short of Cuartelejo, held a council of war,

86Thomas, After Coronado, p. 28.

8TValverde to Valero, Santa Fé, November 30, 1719
in ibid., p. 141. Here he found the Indians "very close to
embracing our holy faith."

88piario de la campafia. contra las nacliones Yutas y
Cumanches, in ibid., p. 119.
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heard rumors of French intrusion from the east, and decided
to return to Santa Fé from whence he would dispatch & new

expedition in the following year.89

From this venture of 1719 the governor derived
considerable information and reached the conclusion that a
defensive settlement should be established on the eastern
slope of the mountains at Ia Jicarilla, where the natives
were friendly and "suitable for being commanded under arms
as in all emergencles that have presented themselves they
have shown their aptitude."9° However, the viceroy, not
beling familiar with frontier distances and terrain, ordered
that the establlishment be made at Cuartelejo.

Valverde contested the order, offering letters of
explanation and his dlary, and summoning a special jJjunta de
guerra on June 2, 1720, to obtain support from José Naranjo

and others for his opposition to the viceroy. Naranjo
concluded that Cuartele jo was not a feasible site,91 being

situated some 130 leagues from Santa Fé. Valverde pointed
out in his protest that to establish twenty-five men, as he
had been ordered to do, at such a great distance from the

capital and in the center of the "Apacheria" was impossible
since they could not be assisted by military forces in New

39Thomas After Coronado, pp. 29-31.

90vValverde to Valero, Santa F§, November 30, 1719,
in ibid., p. 145.

91Jgnta de guerra, June 2, 1720, SANM, Document 308.
Twitchell anlsh Archives of New Mexico errs in citi
this date as 17109. g
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Mexlco. He added that he believed there had been an error
made and that La Jicarilla had been the intended site.?2 In
the end, neither location was selected and no outpost was
establlished, Valverde belng relieved and a general lnspection
recommending against any post east of the moﬁntains being
completed.

Having resolved to block the French in their rumored
penetration of New Mexlco, the viceroy ordered that a second
expedition be conducted to £ind the enemy.?3 This was the
ill-fated expedition commanded by Don Pedro de Villasur.
Seventy Indian auxiliaries with Naranjo as the chief scout
were selected to accompany forty-two éoldiers, only three
settlers, the priest Fray Juan Minguez, and the interpreter
Juan de 1l'Archévdque. Tobacco was carried to reward the
Indian guides and to please the unfaithful Indians whom they
expected to meetogh

92yaiverde to Valero, [El Paso], May 27, 1720, AGN,
Historia 394, Document 20. fThere is alSo a copy in SANM,
Document 308. Although no location is specified, the content
of the document indicates that it was written from Bl Paso,
not from Santa Fé. The reason for Valverde's temporary
visit in the south 1s not stated.

93Marqués de Valero to Valverde, M8xico, September 26
1720, SANM, Document 310, There is a translation in Thomas,
After Coronado pp. 234=239,

9

9h‘VaﬁLverde to Valero, Santa Fé, June 15, 1720,
Historia 39, Document 20, in Thomas, Afger Goronado p. 162.
The number of Indian allies who departed is not specified in
Valverde to Valero, Santa F§, October 8, 1720, in ibid.

p. 163. Note Thomas! conclusion on page 36 that sixty Indian
allies went. In view of the losses noted in the subsequent
massacre it 1s possible that this i1s the correct number of
auxiliaries accompanying the expedition.
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Although this expedition is important for many
reasons, including the weakening of New Mexicofs defensive
posture and the investigation of Valverde, it is also signifi-
cant for the study of the Pueblo auxiliaries in a disastrous
defeat. On the south bank of the Platte River on August 14
the Pueblo Indian sentinels were surprised by a dawn attack

of indios bédrbaros. Both the Spaniards and their "panic-

stricken Indian allies" fled in great confusion.?> Appar-
ently forty-five persons, including thirty-three offlcers and
soldiers, José Naranjo, and eleven Indian allles, were
killed,96 while a retired officer, a corporal, eleven
soldiers, one settler, and forty-nine Indian allies‘escaped097
As a result of this disaster it was reported that even the
Indian allies in the province became so overbearing that it
would take "little for them to declare themselves enemies"

of the Sranish authorities. Fearing an uprising among the
native auxiliaries, the informant warned that "there is no
certaln instant in which the kingdom New Mexico may not be
lost,."98 '

95Thomas, After Coronado, p. 38.

PMartinez to Valero, México, 1720, in ibid., pp. 185~
187. The 1list of individuals killed appears on pages 186-187,
comprising thirty-four names, including Naranjo, and eleven
allles. As usual there is some confusion of numbers after
exchanges of correspondence occurred regarding the slaughter.
Those killed included 1l'Archévdque, Villasur, and the friar.

MThomas, After Coronado, p. 276.

BMartinez to Valero, México, 1720, in ibid., p. 185.
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During the decade of the 1720's Indian campaigns
continued, captured Pueblos were rescued, sometimes rénsomed
with horses,99 and further requests from the Carlana and
Sierra Blanca Apaches for & presidio were considered.
Occaslonally temporary measures were taken to relieve the
pressures of the Comanches on the frontlers of the province.100
Although the difficulties with the French arose from time to
time after peace had been restored between the two countries
in 1720, there were no major clashes. Indeed, the threat

from the French was more imagined than real. Some New

Mexicans apparently carried on an extensive illegal trade

with them 1in 172&,101 but this did not seriously jeopardize

Spanish control over New Mexico. Campaigns against the
Comanches contin.ued,102 as did others against the Apaches
in the Ladrbtn and Sandia mountains, ﬁhera an expedition of
1724 employed fifty soldiers and 150 Indians of the Rio
Abajo jurisdiction.l03 |

However, the most important event of the decade was

undoubtedly the lnspection of New Mexico during the summer

99560 SANM, Document 323 for one such rescue in 1723.
1007y omas, After Coronado, pp. 194-196.

101 ryan Domingo de Bustamante, Interrogatorio,
April 22-May 2, 172, SANM, Document 327. A translation may
be found in Thomas, After éoronado, pp. 245-246.

102 5unta de guerra . . . , Afio de 172l}, SANM, Docu-
ment 32l.

103Bustamante to Captain Antonio de Tafoya, Santa F§,
June 20, 172l, SANM, Document 329.
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of 1726 by Brigadier Pedro de Rivera. Appointed by the
viceroy to conduct an inspection of the entire northern
frontier and to recommend necessary changes to improve the
defenslive status of the northern provinces, Rivera's visit to
New Mexico was only part of a four-year tour. Although
investigations had begun as early as 1722 under Don Antonio
Cobian Busto, Rivera's was the only actual visit to New
Mexico to examine the defenses of the province and to recommend
improvements. The Spanlsh military officer, appointed |

offielally as visitador general, reached New Mexico from

E1l Paso about the twentleth of May, marching through Isleta
and Albuquerque to Santo Domingo Pueblo, where he met
Governor Juan Domingo de Bustaﬁante on June 2. Rivera and
the governor reached Santa Fé together two days later, and
the inspector remained in the capital until August 2&.104
Rivera examined the responsibility for the Villasur
massacre of 1720 and concluded that former governor Valverde
had been at fault for not leading the expedition himself.
On the question of the proposed presidio at La Jicarilla, he

declared that there was no pressing need for such an

104yit5 Alessio Robles (ed.), Diario y derrotero de
lo caminado, visto y observado en la visita gue hizo a a 108
Qresidios de Nueva Espafia Septentrional el Brigadier Pedro
de Rivera [Archivo Histdrico Milltar Mexiceno, gﬁoo 2]
(México: Taller Autografico, 19Lb), pp. LB-52. This
gource 1is hereinafter cited as Diarlo Y derrotero ds Pedro
de Rivera. There are summaries of the visit also in
Hallenbeck, Land of the Conguistadores and Thomas, After
Coronado.
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establishmentalo5 More significant for purposes of this
study, however, were his observations regarding the Pueblos
and other friendly Indians.

Having pre-determined his policy of retrenchment
before his arrival in Santa Fé, Rivera concluded that if
every proposal for'new presidios were accepted, "the treasury
of Midas would not‘sufficeu"lo6 He therefore recommended
that the Indians in the Jicarilla vicinity be invited to
settle near Taos since there was too much unprotected land
in New Mexico already. This caused the Jicarilla Apaches to
split two years later. Some fled to Pecos Pueblo and other
regions while the remalnder were removed to & point twelve
miles north of Taos. 107 Thereafter the Spanish lost the
benefit of an excellent Indian barrier northeast of their
settlements to resist the incursions of the Comanches,108

Rivera decided to retain the Santa P8 presidio at
its existing strength of eighty men, but he also commented
unfavorably on the soldiers' dual role as commercial agents

and military men. Turning to the Christian Indians or

1053 1ess10 Robles, Diario y derrotero de Pedro de
Rivera, and Rivera to Marquds de Casa Fuerte, Presidio del
Paso del Rio del Norte, September 26, 1727[sic], AGN,
Historia 394, Document 20, in Thomas, After Coronado,
pp. 212-21l.

106givera to Casa Fuerte September 26, 1727[sic],
in Thomes, After Coronado, p. 2.

107Hallenbeck, Land of the Conquistadores, pp. 217~
218. -

108mhomas, After Coronado, p. Lb.
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Pueblos, he found twenty-four towns of them, representing
the following nations: Mansos, Piros, Tewas, Keres, Zufils,
Halonas, Jémez, Xeres[?], Picuris, Tanos, Pecos, Tiwas,
Taos, and Sumas. In all, he concluded that there were
_probably 9,747 friendly Indians in the province.109
Commenting upon the Pueblos themselves, the Ilnspector
noted that they were well-proportioned and of better appear-
ance ;han any of the other nations. He noted further that
the Pueblos always went about dressedy'that they were hard
workers, that thelr women wove woolen and cotton blankets,
and, significantly, that they all travelled on horseback.
The houses of the pueblos also received the attention of the
Spanish officer, for he considered them to be vastly different
from those he had seen in other provinces he had visited
earlier. Particularly noted were the defensive achievements
of the villages: the thick, strong walls, the fine construc-
tion, the terraced three- or four-storied buildings, ths
absence of doors on the ground floors, and the removable

ladders to the entrances on the second floorollo

109 1ess10 Robles, Diario y derrotero de Pedro ds
Rivera, pp. 54 and 153-155." Although most of the Indian
nations can be readily identified (1. e. the Alonas were
undoubtedly Zufiis who resided at Halona Pueblo), nothing
seems to explain the Xeres. Certainly Rivera could not hawve
meant the Seris of Sinaloa and Sonora in this summary. The
total number of natives is also surprisingly low for so many
nations. Perhaps Rivera meant the number of families, not
the number of individuals.

1101p14., pp. S4-55. The comment about Pueblos
traveling on horseback is partiecularly unique since officials
of the Spanish government did not regularly report to higher
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Lastly, Rivera commonded the Pueblos for their
concurrence and ready assistance in campaigns which the
governor of the province conducted against the enemy nations.
The inspector thought it highly unusual that the Pueblos
would go out from their villages in the numbers requested

and without submitting a bill to the Royal Treasury for
their time, thelr expenditures, or the horses and arms they
needed. He concluded that the fidelity of the Pueblos was
exemplary and, indeed, a great credit to them. 111
Rivera’s lnspection eventually led to the noted
Reglamento de 1729, & long list of rules and regulations
designed to standardize and Improve the defense of the

northern frontier. The portions of that reglemento which

applied specifically to New Mexico merit special attention,
partlicularly those passages which applied to the treatment

and use of Pueblo Indilan auxiliaries.

New Mexlco was assigned a presidial company of eighty
men, including one lieutenant, one alférez, one sergeant, and
seventy-seven soldiers. Her governors and commandants, as:.
those of other provinces, were prohibited from using soldiers
for their own interests, for guarding horseherds, for carrying

messages, for negotiating business matters, or for service

in locations away from the presidiool12 They were forbidden

authorities on this practice as Spanish law supposedly
forbade Indians to ride horses.

1111p1a., p. 55.

1l2Reg1amento de 1729, in ibid., pp. 200-201. The
translation of alférez as "ensign" would not be quite correct
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to make war against friendly or neutral Indian nations, or
-even against hostile tribes until efforts to paclfy them by
persuasion had failed. They were furthor prohibited from
employing one non-Christian nation against another unless 1t
had specifically asked for Spanish help. On the other hand,
the raising of Indian auxiliaries within the jurisdictions of

the alcaldes mayores was encouraged.tl3

The Governor of New Mexico was specifically instructed
to vislt all of the pueblos in May and October of each yoar
and to maintain the Indlans in their tranquil state. Further

he was to explain with great care to the alcaldes mayores

selected for these districts that they were not to mistreat
their subjects or give them cause to flee to the Moqui area
as they had done in some 1nstances previously. If such abuse
occurred again; the governor was to replace these officials
and assess on them a fine of one thousand ducats to be paid
to the treasury and the Indian community concerned.llu
Whenever a'pueblo of the province was threatened by
the infidel tribes, the governor was to send a squadron
from the presldio to dissuade the hostiles with a show of
arms. Captains and other presidial officers were forbidden

from requisitioning horses, mules, or equipment from the

here. Such an officlal was usually the traditional standard
bearer, but as an officer in the presidio he might be expected
to exerclse the functions of a modern second lieutenant.

1131b1d., pp. 204-205 and 216.
1h1y14., pp. 222-223.
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pueblos through which they passed without "just payment,"
under penalty of loss of office and a fine of one hundred

maravedies., Soldiers were prohibited from creatlng disorders

in the pueblos and rancherias of friendly Indlans or entering

into any trade or obligation with them except at fair prices.
When expeditions of war succeeded in taking prisoners of
both sexes and all ages, captive families were not to be
divided for any reason whatsoever lest the Indian warriors
be induced to wWreak vengeance. Finally, whenever natives
sued for peace; commandants and governors were obliged to
admit them to such an arrangement under a signed, written
agreement.l15

- The Reglamento de 1729 marked the end of one era and

the beginning of another. For the two and one-half decades
prior to 1729 Spain's Indian policy in New Mexico was in a
stage of transition characterized by vacillation and incon-
sistency. The controversy over arming and painting friendly
Indiens 1s most 1llustrative of this tendency. Yet, throughout
this period there was one consistency: the continued alle-
giance of the Pueblo Indians. Not only had they refrained
from rebellion of their own but they had also aided materially
in the defense of the province from the revolts and raids of
other tribes.

When the Spaniards returned to New Mexico ir the last

decade of the seventeenth century, the fundamental problem

1151p1d., pp. 222-223 and 229.



150
was the conquest and control of the Pueblo Indlans. Vargas
had largely accomplished these tasks, and in his Sandia
Mountain campaign of 1704 he had begun to coordinate Spanish
and Pueblo military operations against the indilos barbaros,

From that uncertain beginning the use of Pueblo auxiliaries
on military expeditions became standardized in the campaigns
of 1715-1717 against the Faraén Apaches, Moquis, and
Comanches. Toward the end of the era the task became one of
defending the province against the incursions of various
Plains tribes, and this remained the paramount problem of
the eighteenth century.l16

The Reglamento de 1729 noted the advantages to be

derived from the continued use of Pueblo auxilliaries. It was
an official recognition of a bvasic policy adopted by Spanish
authorities in New Mexlco to meet the numerous threats
presented by the hostile nations in the early eighteenth
century. Thus, the Reglamento, althéugh it attempted to

establish a uniform Indian policy for the northern frontier,
only confirmed what settlers in New Mexico had already
devised. By 1729 the Pueblos had become an important
component of the Spanish community along the Rio Grande.

They had thelr own privileges, the respect of visiting
officials such as Rivera, and the distinction of being the

ma jor dependable force of auxiliaries in New Mexico. Although

it 1s apparent that thé settlers did not accept them as

116Espinosa, Crusaders of the Rio Grande, p. 369.
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equals but kept them segregated on the campaigns, it 1s
clear that many of the Pueblos gained offlicial respect. An
excellent example of this was José Naranjo, who supported
the Spanish cause continually for a decade and one-half
until he lost his life as an auxiliary in the Villasur
massacre of 1720. However, it must be remembered that the
Reglamento de 1729 was simply another in a long line of rules
established to govern the Spanish colonies. It indicated the
officlial intent, not thé acéepted pfactice, and enforcement
of the provisions of this regulation, as of other legisla-
tion, varled according to circumstances, the integrity of
the administrators, the behavior of the settlers, and the
nature of the military campaigns.

By 1729 there was no longer any fear of Pueblo
Indian uprisings. Unity among these natives had been estab-
lished in support of Spanish policles in New Mexico. Control
of these friendly Indlans had been effectively demonstrated,
particularly on the more regularized and organized campalgns.
Pueblo assistance on these expeditions had provided the |
necessary strength with which to meet the many, widely-
scattered enemies. Indeed, as the period progressed the
number of auxiliaries seemed to increase until, at the end
of the era, a larger proportion of the combined force was
recruited. In addition, problems of organization were gradu-
ally worked out during this period, Likewise, the Pueblos

furnished numerous other forms of assistance as scouts,

interpreters, and informants. Their ready supply of
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foodstuffs and equipment, their effective fighting techniques,
and their willingness to offer their villages as rendezvous
points for campalgns were other contributions of the Pueblos.
Certalnly, they provided an attractive example to other
Indians such as the Jicarilla and Sierra Blanca Apaches.
This formative period provided the basis in New Mexico for
an inter-socletal exchange which increased and endured until

the end of Spanish authority in the province.



CHAPTER IV

PACIFICATION AND INTEGRATION,
1729-1754

With the Reglamentc de 1729 and the establishment of

a nucleus for the Spanlsh-Pueblo alliance in New Mexico the
defensive posture of this northern region began to change.
In the next twenty-five years new and serious threats appeared,
jeopardizing Spanish control in the area even more than the
frequent Apache Incursions of the previous two and one-half
decades. Yet, even in the face of the growing Comanche
threat the newly-established unity was maintained, and the
bond grew in scope and strength.

Prior to 1754 ties between the various Pueblos on
the one hand and the Spaniards on the other were considerably
strengthened. Pueblo assistance was provided as before on
numerous campalgns against Apaches, Utes, and Comanches, but
new and greater uses were found for these loyal Indian
auxilliaries. It is evident that Pueblos were expected‘to be
equally responsible wlth European settlers for the defense
of the province, and they seem to have been used extensively

as military escorts for friars on missionary ventures into

153
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the lands of the Hopl, Navajo, and Apache in the decade of
the 1740*s. By the time of Governor Tomés Vélez Cachupin
(1749-1754) they had become part of a well-integrated and
formalized system of defense.

Perhaps the most important contribution of the
Puebloé in this era, however, was their attraction of other
Indians to elliances with the Spaniards. With their privi-
leges, glifts, equipment, and military organization, these
Indians provided an excellent example of what the indios
bédrbarcos could attain if they would but agree to peace.
Indeed, as the pacification of other tribes occurred, new
alliances were possible with Indian groups other than the
Pueblos.

Defense was still the key problem from 1729 to 175i4.
Apache raids persisted in the 1730's, although less frequently
than before, and in the retaliatory campaigns the Spaniards
established a new and aggravating practice. The Apaches
whom they captured were now sold in slavery to friendly
tribes of the realm. Governor Gervasio Cruzat y Géngora,
recognizing the practicé in 1732, issued an order tq halt
it. He levied a fine of seven pesos against the Spanlards
for each captive sold,and'g,punishment of two hundfed lashes
on the Indians for each Apache purchased. The alcaldes of
all jurisdictions were 1ﬂstructed to be vigilant for

violations of the order ard to comply with its provisions
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completelyol

There is little doubt, however, that Governor Cruzat
and his successor,  Enrique de Olavide y Michelesia (1736~ .
1737), were as concerned with defense as with justice. Each
placed New Mexico under alert, requiring both settlers and
Pueblos to present themselves for military service on a
moment?!s notice. The alcaldes were made responsible for
mobilizing the inhabitanis, provisioning them, and assembling
them at whatever place might be designated for their service.?

Governcr Cruzat’s order of 1733 is of utmost importance
in the development of Spanish-Pueblo relations. It demon-
strates that Pueblos and Spanish settlers were equal in
their military obligations. Both were subject to immediate
call, whenever and wherever the governor might require, and

both together with their respective alcaldes mayores were

responsible for furnishing their own arms, horses, and provi-
slons. They were expected to serve on campaigns of up to
fifteen days duration, and only such men as were required for
the defense of the yillas and pueblos were to be left behind.
So that all might be apprised of their duties, this order

1pon Gervasio Gruzat y Géngora, Bando, Santa F8,
December 6, 1732, SANM, Document 378.

2Don Gervasio Cruzat y Géngora, Bando, [June 23,
1733], SANM, Document 38L. The original, somewhat water
damaged, has been photographed with the assistance of
Dr. Myre E. Jenkins of the Spanish Archives of New Mexico
and 1s included herein for detailed study and references;
Enrique de Olavide y Michelefia, Bando, March 30, 1737, SANM,
Document l415.
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Figure 4

‘Governor Cruzat’s Order for the Defense of

New Mexico, June 23, 1733

Courtesy of New Mexico Archives



157

'_“‘_--
..

%"rm / ”7/4 raz':’;— ;Z | ‘
#7087 é e &2 y/a ‘6//0 Wm%&a J(l
A azv , m zzw// e Fago Mw } /5”(/3/9 ;’lf /w%

/ 277 Crrrriione. / ﬁe/ Serieised Ao Fze
/2‘,/,9 4.' /’/‘wn‘@ / Ay oé' t//ez
2 al/m }mrmfaa 4}/ fg/jgﬁ//) Pl Xd / / i
S0 bt %"}mz Mmﬁ T\ L / /A
.‘ /zm y ﬂffm«/ 2 mrkiers.. /M?W‘(/ﬂm
/M,;M.v o / /"w z& romreza / ékgﬁ%

me/r 4 /ma&a‘ ;':";‘;cﬂf ?‘b |
%a ?zlf.o .a&/r%fza /fr/m m“% < af/&[

4é&

I

ﬁm /m%cf P Mz Wf// . :v:

/1/ gm yw”/é #f% oﬂ‘//&rc t
/rm.«tﬁ 6’4«4/@ "' &MW W’ et

s W o / é’
""42‘*-;

Aﬁﬂi’/m
; ./24% / f " "';"é&,mﬂmx /mro see ”l



128

@ﬂ” cfmy;ég‘m/z‘/o. a_v/ /’M ﬂe %4/,@«

/eﬂﬂg - 7477#7%’ &é é;?/?:rnl//)/d 27y I WM&

b7 ao: 7 oo %_/z/m 7&/&7‘& Ao 20273 55/ con €72 SH-
Mé.ﬂm 77 )7 /A’ 777149./ /6““ 6&%;’%4%/»3
Aot Wax o orte /a/%z}r //""'é.W/// |
v . . ‘a - ”
.‘/" 7‘”“’” 5%’797:«’5”7 ///-’ %”éj/)‘éwﬂ”

ferrred & Flllas o Eoirivane Fallicry, Lok ..
/‘a Z ‘ £° rIre / 07710
; ; xa

1 V4 |
L ﬂ S Cruzat




159
was to be broadcast in each major district of the province.3
A proposed campeign against the Utes in 1736
11lustrates the Spanish plan for joint operations of
presidial soldiers, settlers, and Pueblo Indians. Residents

of Santa Cruz complained on April 1l that the Utes had
ralded the horseherds and cattle at Santa Clara Pueblo three

days earlier,h In view of this complaint against the

"Apaches Y‘utas,"5 the governor called a junta de guerra
which convened at Santa Fé on April 18. It was agreed there
that warfare agalnst the Utes was justified under the provi-
sions of the "ninth law, fourth title, third book" of the

Recopilacidén de leyes de los reynos de las Indias.® This
law required that warfare should not be conducted against
Indlans converted to the Catholic faith or who had rendered

allegiance to the Spanish sovereigns unless they had become

3cruzat y Géngora, Bando, June 23, 1733, SANM,
Document 384. Publication occurred at Santa Cruz on June 23
by Captain José Esteban Garcia Noriega, alcalde mayor, and
at Taos on June 26 by Diego Romero, teniente alcalde mayor
of the "Pueblo and its jurisdiction.® 1t is these promulgsa-
tions which enable the document itself to be dated by
Internal evidence since the actual date is not reflected in
the record 1itself, :

YGruzat y Géngora, April, 1736, SANM, Document 409.
The settlers were Joseph Gomes, ﬁoque Jaramillo, Rosaleo
Valdés, and Juan Manuel de Herrera. The complaint was for-
warded by alcalde mayor Juan[?] Esteban Garcia Noriega.

5An Interesting term since the Utes were in no way
related to the Apaches. However, from the viewpoint of New
Mexicans, all nomadic, raiding indios bdrbaros were associ-
ated with Apaches. Thus we have the "Apaches Yutas" and the
"Apaches Navajos."

bcruzat y Gébngora, April, 1736, SANM, Document 409.
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apostates or had negated their pledge, in which case they
could be treated as "apostates and rebels, conforming to
.whatever excesses they merited "’

Governor Cruzat concurred in the justification and
declsion for the campaign and ordered that military operations
should be conducted as quickly as possible. Tkree squadrons
of soldiers from the presidio were to lead the expedition;
settlers from Santa Fé and Santa Cruz and Indians from the
Tewa pueblos were to assist the campalgn force; and all would
assemble and depart from Chama.® Under the overall command
of Lieutenant Governor Juan Péez‘Hurtado, this expedition of
thirty-six presidial soldiers, fifty settlers, and seventy
Pueblo Indians was to proceed northward in pursuit of the
Utesog Thus, the organization of this campaign reveals the
relative strength of the elements employed, the preoccupation
with proper justification for the warfare, and the time-lag
in actually commencing punitive operations. Results, however,

were meagre and 1ittle contact with the enemy was made.

TRecopilacién de leyes, Tomo I, Libro III, Titulo IV,
Ley 1x. Tt Is interesting to note that the law provided
that even if the Indians begen the warfare against "our
vassals, settlements and peaceful lands," three or more
efforts would be made to attract them to peace as desired
by the sovereigns; war could be waged only if these measures
did not suffice. If open and formal warfare were necessary,
the Consejo Real de Indias was to be advised of the causes
and motilves.

8cruzat ¥y Géngora, April, 1736, SANM, Document L09.

9Horden que deve observar el theniente General
DY Juan Pdez Hurtado . . . , in Cruzat y Géngora, Santa Fé,

April 2l 1736, SANM, Document 409.
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The practice of periodic official wvisits to the
pueblos, begun by Varges during the reconquest, was contlinued
in this period by Cruzat. The purpose was to determine the
justification of complaints from individual Indians and to
make restitution for wrongs committed by soldiers and
settlers. Most of the aggravations were minor, involving a
horse, a cow, or a small monetary sum. In his visits to
Galisteo on July 27, 1733, and to Pecos five days later the
governor was quick to grant restitution. Particularly notable
1s the fact that at the latter pueblo one Indlan was
reimbursed with & musket.l0 These restitutions illustrate
the officlal desire to treat the Pueblos fairly and thus to
preserve the amlcable relations which existed between the two
peoples. Such & policy not only enhanced the internal
security of the realm but also tended to encourage outlying
tribes to seek peace with the Spaniards.

Whereas the previous decade had been one of sporadic
activity against the Apaches, Utes, and Comanches, the
"period after 1739 was one of increasing alarm, requiring
renewed efforts--~both military and missionary. By then the
Comenches had driven the Apaches from the region east and
north of the Spanish settlements in New Mexico, and their
‘trade with the French for firearms enabled them to conduct

thelr own ralds on the province itself. Devastating attacks

10
Visita . . . hecho por el Coronel D¥ Gervasio

Cruzat y Géngora . . . , SANM, Document 389.°
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by the Comanches depopulated the eastern frontier settlements
of the province11 and led to excesses on both sides. Spaniards
and Indian auxiliaries who participated in expeditions agalnst
this increasing menace mistreated Comenche women and chil-
dren, prompting the lssuance of a remedial order in 17h1.
The Spanish inhabitants were to be fined three hundred pesos
for the first such offense and a similar amount plus six
months exile for its repetition while thelr Indian comrades
were to receive two hundred lashes and six months in prisona12
Apparently the law was loosely enforced because another
decree was lssued three years later, condemning the same
practice as one against the "Catholic faith and the will of
His Majesty"; the same punishments for offenses as before
were set except that the number of lashes to be given Indian

offenders was reduced to one hundred.13

Because campalgns against the "bédrbaros Cumanches"

were a constant requirement, authorities warned all alcaldes
to be viglilant and quick to punish the culprits for their
widespread robberies and depredations.lu In spite of the

1la1rred B. Thomas, The Plaing Indians and New Mexico
1751-1778 [Coronado Cuarto Centennial Publlications, Vol-
ed. George F. Hammond] (Albuquerque: University of New
Mexico Press, 1940), p. 16.

.
*ZGaspar Domingo de Mendoza, Bando, Santa F§,
March 21, 1741, SANM, Document l38.

’

1350achin Godallos Y Rabal, Bando, Santa Fé, May 30,
17hly, SANM, Document L465.

1,-FMendoza, Bando, Santa Fé, February 20, 1742, in
Ordenes . . . sobre el cuidado y bigilencia en sus juris-
diciones, SANM, Document lli3.
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unity among the Spaniards and Pueblos, it appears that Taos
Pueblo was uncooperative.  Having recpived notice from some
loyal su.bjects,l5 theAgovernor reported in 1746 that the
Taos Indians traded and corresponded with the Comanches,
pointing out that there was no pueblo, place, or dwelling
which was safe from the robberies and murders of the

' Comanches and‘that it was qulte probable that some of the

Teos natives were informing the enemy of military movements
" from the presidio.16
| Governor Joaquin GCodallos y Rabal ordered the alcalde
mayor of San Gerénlmo de Taoé‘to collect on a festival day
all the prinecipal Indians, governors, cacigues, and war ,
captains, notlfying thém of his order to halt their dealings
with the enemy.and that the death penalty would be authorized
for any Indian who travelled over a league from his pueblo
without a license. Natives were not to offer any excuse,
such as hﬁnting or searching for lost animals, and they were
absolutely forbidden to trade with the Comanches. -Alcaldes
were advised that the fine for violations of the order was

five hundred pesos and that they were not to grant licenses

nor even give verbal permission for the Indians of Taos

15Quite probably these informants could have been
Pueblo Indians from Taos itself or from a nearby pueblo,
such as Picuris, or even from the highly loyal San Juan’
Pueblo.

160odallos y Rabal, Santa Fé, February lj, 17l6
1ncluded in Diferentes ordénes. . . , Afios de l7ﬂh 1745,
1746, 1747, y 1748, SANM, Document L495. Hereinafter cited
as Diferentes ordenes.
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Pueblo to treat or communicate with the Comanches.17
Although the Comanches constituted the principal

enemy in this eventful decade, occasional difficulties were
experienced with the Farabén and Gila Apaches. Settlers of
the Rio Abajo district (embracing Albuquerque, Bernalillo,
and neighboring pueblos) reported in 1i7hly that the Faraones
had committed many livestock robberies in that aresa.
Governor Codallos ordered Lieutenant Manuel Sanz de Garbuzu
of the presidio to take twenty soldiers and proceed to
Islete Pueblo. There on December 10 they were jolned by
thirty settlers from La Cafiada and Albuquerque and one
‘hundred Indians from the pueblos of Isleta, Laguna, Zia,
Jémez, Santa Ana, San Felipe, Santo Domingo, and Cochiti,
drafted with their arms, horses, and provisions by their
respectlve alcaldes. For their campaign into the Ladrén and
Magdalena mountalns to the southwest, the Indlan auxiliaries
were to be employed not only as troops but also as spies,
to reconnoiter the mountains and to determine the water holes

used by the enemy. If Faraén rancherias, or those of other

nations, were located, the commander of the expedition was
enjoined to treat them gently and procure their friemndship
if possible.l8

- The Glla Apache campaign of 1747 was unique in the

171p14.

1850da110s Rabal, Ordenes, Santa Fé, December 2,
174y, and February 6, 1745, SANM, Document 495.
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history of the northern frontier of New Spain during the
first half of the éighteenth century. It was one of the
few coordinated military efforts undertaken from different
directions against a common enemy. The Viceroy of New
Spain Juan Francisco de Gliemes y Horcasitas, better known
as the first Conde de Revilla Gigedo, ordered the govermnor
of New Mexico to participate with soldiers, settlers, and
Indians from El1 Paso and from the presidios of Terrenate and
Pronteras, in Sonora, and Janos, in Nueva Vizcaya, in an
extended general campaign against the Gila Apaches. The
governor was advised to prepare for a four-month campaign
and to furnish thirty presidial soldiers, forty Spanish
settlers, and sixty Pueblo Indians. This force was to
advance southward into the Gila Apache country until they
contacted detachments from the other presidios°19

Unfortunately, the New Mexico contingent was unable
to participate in the general campaign as planned--a fact
which may have contributed to its relative lack of success.
Invasions of "Gentile Indians" and Utes in the vicinity of
Abiquil necessitated the dispatch of a military expedition
to counter this threat in the north first.20 Later

19Despacho del Superior Gobierno de este Nueva
Espefia . . ., SANM, Document }79. The full title of the
document and’ Twitchell The Spanish Archives of New Mexico,
II, p. 218, erroneously give Ehe number as seventy. The
content of the document reveals in two separate places that
the correct number was sixty.

20godallos y Rabal, Testimonio, Santa F8, December 6,
17&7 SANM, Document 483,

I3
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"Lieutenant General' Bernardo de Bustamente with thirty
soldiers, fifteen settlers, and 110 well-equipped Indian
auxiliaries finally assembled at Isleta on December 9 for
the campaign which originally had been scheduled for
September 30,21 Since Governor Codallos could not provide
forty settlers as required by the viceroy's orders, he
advised that he had augmented the number of Indians. 22 Thus,
Pueblo Indlan auxiliaries composed seventy-one per cent of
the total force dispatched. Marching southward, Bustamante
encountered only an independent Pueblo Indian army of sixty-
five Iagunas and Acomas, whom he added to his own auxiliary
force,23 before snow and lack of supplies forced him to
discontinue hls tardy campaign.

Although the basic idea had been well-conceived and
the planning for the general campaign had been extensive,
the results were poor because of improper coordination, the
diversionary attack on the northern frontier which necessi-
tated an improvised defense in that direction, and the
consequent insufficient force employed. However, close
analysis of the New Mexico portion of this offensive reveals
the importance of Pueblo auxiliaries in the composition of
the total military forces, for nearly eighty per cent of the

2lBernardo Antonio de Bustamante, Diario, Santa F§,
December 2, 1747, SANM, Document L483.

22Godallos y Rabal, Testimonio, Santa Fé&, December 6
1747, SANM, Document 483.

23Bustamante, Diario, Santa Fé, December 2l, 1747,
SANM, Document 483.
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expedition (after the addition of the Acomas and Lagunas)
was recruited from the pueblos.

‘ Renewed mlssionary activity in the middle two decades
of the eighteenth century also led to extensive use of the
Pueblo Indians as escorts for the friars in their visits to
remote, un-Christlanized tribes. Misslonaries made consider-
able use of the Pueblos as interpreters on their expeditions
to the heathen nations and on individual visits to the
pueblos themselves.

Some success was reallzed among the distant Moquis.
There Father Carlos Delgado was successful in convincing
/41 apostate Tiwas to return to the Rio Grande, where they
were settled temporarily at Jémez Pueblo. Later, in 1748,
a grant was secured to provide them with a tract of land
near the abandoned site of Sandia Pueblo. For Father
Delgado's entrada of 1742 he was provided with an escort of
eighty Pueblo Indians . 2 ' On a second such venture three
years later, Governor Codallos ordered the governors and
captains of Acoma, Laguna, and Zufii pueblos to provide

eighty Indians to serve the father 2s an escort to the

Moqui villages.25 Except for the return of the Tiwas,
little success was realized in the attempt to transfer the

Moquis, Navsjos, and western Apaches to the east, to settle

2,-"Hemc'y W. Kelly, "Franciscan Missions of New
Mexico, 1740-1760," NMHR, XVI, No. 1 (January, 1941), 46-47.

25 |
Codallos y Rabal, Zupi[? September 1 1705
SANM, Document L65b. ’ [?], Sep I, 1745,
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in pueblos and expose them to Christianity.26

Two of the principal complaints often advanced by
the civil against the religious authorities during the
colonial period were that the missionaries failed to learn
the Indlan dialects and that they did not teach the Indians
the Spanish language. The latter was not a valid criticism
in New Mexico as can be observed in the many interpreters
and informents found among the Pueblo Indians, dating from
the days of Bartolomé de Ojeda and the reconquest. Governor
Codallos' visita general of 1745 further revealed his depend-
ence upon these bilingual natives. This visit started with
the northernmost pueblo, Taos, on August 16, and ended at
Isleta and Albuquerque in the south on September 18-19.
Throughoﬁt fhe thirty-five days required, Governor Codallos
patiently heard complaints from individual Indians, made
on-the-spot restitution where necessary, and examined the
state of each pueblo,27

Although most of the complaints and requests made by
the Indlans dealt with minor items, and their nature is not
the concern of this study, the use of Pueblo interpreters
clearly reveals that in each village beneficial results of
the Spanish-Pueblo alliance and the missionary efforts could

be observed. At Taos the governor accepted "Estevan Nacion

26Kelly, "Franciscan Missions of New Mexico, 1740~
1760," NMHR, XVI, No. 1, 50.

2T¢odallos y Rabal, Visita general, 1745, SANM,
Document U470,
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Taos" as his official interpreter because he was "muil ladino"

in the Spanish language and paid him six pesos for his
services. <8 Subsequent visits, ranging from Picuris in the
north to Isleta in the south, also employed Pueblo Indians
(21l with Christian names) who were described as "indios
ladinos" at each village.,29

Military operations against the Comanches in New
Mexico reached a climax during the first administration of
Tomds Vélez Cachupin, from 1749 to 1754. This young, deter-
mined, and impetuous governor was one of the outstanding
officials appointed to ‘that office during the eighteenth
century. He was remarkably successful in pacifying the
Comanches and in establishing a temporary general peacé on
the frontier. However, he created another problem which
" marred his administration by resurrecting the intense
seventeenth-century conflict between the civil and religious
authorities.

.Since the beginning of the cehtury the Utes and
Comanches had been faithfully allied with each other against
all enemies, although the former were more frequently at
peace with the Spanish settlements than were the latter.

However, at some time before 1749 these two nations became

281p14d. Undoubtedly the governor meant Esteban of
the Taos nation. For an explanation of the "muy ladino"
concept, see Chapter II, note 18.

29%odallos y Rabal, Visita general, 1745, SANM,
Document L470.
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deadly enemies. The reasons for this change in their rela-
tionshlp have not been specifically determined, but perhaps
the difficulty can be traced to the temporary absence of the
common enemy, the Apache. Since the Comanches hed forced
the Apaches southward by this time, the bond between them
and the Utes may have been severed by quarrels over the
trespassing of one upon territory claimed by the other.30
Certainly, after mid-century Comanches had begun to raid
into the San Luis Valley of southern Colorado and northern
New Mexico, perhaps encroaching upon territory formerly

roamed by the Utes.

Whatever the cause of thils separation, the Utes
sought Spanish asslstance against the Comanches, as did many
small Apache bands. Governor Vélez Cachupin saw this changed
relationship and, desiring to take advantage of it, employed
the Utes and Apaches against the dreaded Comanches. He
encouraged the Carlana, Paloma, and Cuartelejo Apaches in
the northeast to continue their peaceful conduct and to

move their rancherias nearer to Pecos‘Pueblo to escape the

Comanches. In the southeast he established friendly relations
with the Faraones, who in turn ceased raiding Albuquerque and

the southern settlements.3l Thus, the governor was successful

g 3gghomas, The Plains Indians and New Mexico, 1751~
_ﬂ,s P ° |

31Ibid°, p. 30. Here we have a good illustration
of the Spanish policy of having the indios bérbaros or
gentiles, such as the Apache bands, settle near the Pueblo
Indians. Thus, they might in turn be attracted to pueblo
life, converted to Christianity, controlled effectively, and
used as Indian auxiliaries for the Spaniards.
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in creating a multi-nation "alliance" against the Comanches
which lncluded Spaniards, Pueblos, Utes, and Apaches. Over
thirty years later Governor Juan Bautista de Anze would
create a simllar combination against the Apache menace.

The loyal Pueblos were to serve as examples for the
new allies. By 1752 an official census revealed that there
were 6,453 of them scattered in twenty-two pueblos with the
largest numbers concentrated at Acoma, Zufii, Taos, and
Laguna. Of this total 2,174 were classified as "men of
arms" from fifteen to sixty years of age. Indeed, this was
a remarkable figure for it meant that thirty-three per cent
of all Pueblo Indians were consldered capable of bearing
arms in the defense of the province. They possessed u,oéo
horses, 60,045 arrows, U1l lances, fifty-seven swords, and
151 leather jackets for use on their campaigns. It was
assumed also that all Pueblos were acquainted with the
Castillan language since they had all grown up in the
Catholic faith,32

In contrast to the 6,453 Pueblos, the Spanish
population of the province numbered only 4, 458 persons
(3,402 of them in New Mexico proper and 1,046 in the

32gstado General y Particular . . . del Nuevo
México. . . en el afio de 1752 . . ., , AGN, Provincias
Internas 102, Expedlente 3, foja 1. The asbsence of firearms
is not unusual since this was an official report, and
Spanish law supposedly forbade the distribution of firearms
to Indians. However, the reader will note in.the foregoing
chapters that there is consliderable evidence in support of
the conclusion that the Pueblos did possess them.
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district of El Paso). The total aumber of men at arms,
although not included in the document listing these popula-
tions, must, therefore, have been less than that of the
Pueblo Indians. New Mexican settlers, exclusive of those
living in the El Paso area, possessed 1,370 horses,
388 muskets, 332 lances, 123 swords, fifty-three pilstols,
and 121 leather jackets.33 Thus, the Pueblo Indians possessed
three times as many horses as the Spanlards, undoubtedly
many more "men at arms," more lances and & greater quantity
of leather jackets for individual protection. Only in the
number of swords and possibly firearms, although some
Indians were known to possess them, did the Spaniards seem
to be better equipped. A close examination of the municipal
statistics reported in this survey reveals that the pueblos
of Laguna, Acoma, and Zufii (all western pueblos) each
possessed more horses than any Spanish settlement and that
Laguna alone had almost as many as all of the Spanish settle~
ments together.

Added to the greater mobility, better protective
equipment, superior numbers, and general advantage of
weapons were the fighting characteristics of the Pueblos
themselves. One missionary, on his visit of 1754 to the
villages of Pecos, Galisteo, and Santa Clara, among others,

reported that these Indians were vigorous fighters., At

33Estado General y Particular . . . de . . . las 16
poblacliones Espafioles . . . del Nuevo México . . . en el
?‘ﬁ}) lZSZ o « o , AGN, Provincias Internas 102, Expediente 2,

oja 2.
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Pecos he remarked that the mission was located in a beautiful
valley which was invaded repeatedly by the enemy but that
the Pueblos were so brave and warlike that they always
defeated the Comanches. Likewise, he reported that the
Christian Indlans never claimed reimbursement for theilr
services and that they went out voluntarily on campaigns.3u
Later at the mlssions of Nuestra Madre de Santa Clara
and Santa Cruz de Galisteo, he noted the staunchness of the
Pueblos. At Santa Clara he stressed the proximity of the
barbarian Utes but pointed out that even the women defended
the pueblo by throwing stones from thelr slings upon the
attackers. At Gallsteo the missionary observed that:
Although a victim of the barbarian hammer (el
bédrbaro martlllo), its Indians are so courageous that
on the occasion of an attack when I was there on a
visit, boys of fifteen scaled the walls, the gates

being shut, so as to be able to'give the enemy a warm
welcome with arrows and slings.3 |

Recognizing the Comanches as the principal Indian
menace to the settlements and pueblos, Governor Vélez

Cachupin personally observed that the most serious threat

existed on the FPecos-Galisteo frontier, southeast of Santa
P6. After the enemy had raided Galisteo in the late summer
of 1751, he conducted a general campaign through that
village to the Great Plains.

3bpather Manuel de San Juan Nepomuceno y Trigo to
Very Reverend Father Procurador General Fray José Miguel de
los Rios, Istacalco, July 23, 1754, in Hackett, Historical
Documents, III, 465,

351b1d., III, 466-467.
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For this expedition, commencing on September Iy,
Vélez Cachupin used fifty-four soldiers from the Presidio
of Santa P, thirty citizens, and eighty Pueblo Indians .36
He employed the aborigines as scouts or sples, dispatching
many of them as much as three leagues ahead of the main body
to determine the whereabouts of Comenche camping places.
Ten of these Pueblo scouts reported that they had seen two
Comanches proceeding on foot to some springs on top of a
nearby meses nearly a week after the expedition began its march

eastward. Vé8lez Cachupin immediately dispatched twenty

soldlers and an equal number of Indian auxiliaries to follow
the Comanches "at a gallop" and to try to capture them. At
the water hole this combined force succeeded in trapping the
enemy in a canebrake until the mein element of the expedi-
tionary force arrived. The governor ordered all, including
the Pueblos, to dismount and penetrate the thicket, sword

in hand, to attack the Comanches. After an overnight halt
following the initial onslaught, the destruction of the

enemy was completed the following morning. Women and

3%romés Vélez Gachupin to Conde de Revilla Gigedo
Testimonio de los auttos fechos . . . de la nacidén Cumanche,
AGI, 103-5-19, in Thomas, The Plains Indians and New Mexico,
1751-1778, p. 69. Both thIs scurce and the &ccompanying
report of the senior auditor agree that the number of auxil-
iaries was elghty. See Marqués de Altamira to Vélez Cachupin,
México, April 2, 1752, Copia, SANM, Document 518, for
corroboration of this number. However, the governor's
report contains a minor error in the title when he states
that only eight Indlans were taken. In view of the numbers
subsequently specified in this report, this small quantity
could not have been possible.
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children were allowed to surrender, but over one hundred
Comanches were killed in the engagement. In the aftermath
the Comanche "arms, guns, lances, swords, shields, and bows
and arrows [weré] collected and divided among the Pueblo
Indians as well as their saddles and trappings of theilr
horses."37 As a result of this crushing blow and Vélez
Cachupin's subsequent lenlency toward the captives, the
Comanches sued for peace with the Spaniards. This the
governor granted, and the Comanches maintained their new
reletionship faithfully for the remainder of his term of
office.

By 1752 Governor Vélez Cachupin was employing
Apaches as well as Pueblos as auxiliaries, especlally
Carlanas, Palomas, and Cuartelejos, who had proved trust-
worthy since their resettlement near Pecos the previous
winter. Vélez Cachupin found them particularly qualified as

sples because of their agility, astuteness, and extensive

3Tvelez Cachupin, Testimonio de los auttos fechos
« « o de la nacién Oumanche AGI, 103-5-19, in Thomas, The
Plains Indians and New Mexico 1251-1128 pp. 69-73.
Twitchell 1S in error when he observes that this expedition
went to the Arkansas River. This campaign mey have reached
the vicinity of the Canadian River in eastern New Mexico
or west Texas. It is particularly important because it
reveals that Pueblo auxlliaries were both equipped with
firearms and mounted. This decisive defeat of the Comanches
may be compared to a similar one dealt them in 1779 by Juan
Bautista de Anza. Both led eventually to general peace
settlements between the Comanches and the Spaniards.
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Figure 5

Ruins of Pecos Mission on the

Pecos-Galisteo Frontiler

Courtesy of Department of Development

State of New Mexico
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knowledge of the terrain.’® This marks a departure from
the policy in New Mexico of relying solely on Pueblos as
Indian auxlliaries.

Of unusual significance in Spanish-Indian relations
In New Mexico during the sighteenth century 1s the detailed
system of military preparedness and defense devised by the
governor during the early 1750's. His well-organized,
integrated plan may be examined and studlied in detail in the
instructions of 1754 which he left for his successor,
Prancisco Antonio Marin del Valle.39 This policy statement
may be divided arbitrarily into three separate assessments
and recommendations: (1) on the domestic Pueblo nations;
(2) on the other Indians, such as the Utes, Apaches, and
Comanches; and (3) on military preparations and techniques.

Disgusted with the haphazard cooperation of the local
Spanish citizenry, Vélez Cachupin pointed out that they
wanted a soldler to defend every horse and cow whereas each
settler should defend his own hacienda.ho

In contrast to the governoris attitude toward the

38ys1ez Gachupin to Conde de Revilla Gigedo, Informe,
Santa Fé, September 29, 1752, in Thomas, The Plains Indians
and New Mexico, 1751-1778, p. 12i.

39opia de ¥nstruccion que dejo DP® Tomés Vélez
Cachupin . . . a su sucesor DR} Francisco Marin del Valle,
Aygust 12, 175l, Expediente 2, fojas 270 ff. Although the
document has beén consulted in thls study, an accurate
trenslation exists in Thomas, The Plains Indians and New

Mexico, 1@{%1 11%8 pp. 129-1[3, Hereimafber the document 1s
citea as lez Cachupin, Instruccién.

4oveiez Cachupin, Instruccién.
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Spaniards, he recommended the Pueblos highly. They were
satisfied with the laws passed for thelr protection and
assistance and supported the government to the best of thelr
ability. Vélez Cachupin suggested that the policy of
treating them benevolently be continued so that they might
enjoy all poésible comforts and so that "the example of
their well beling and freedom from want would be an attraction
for the conversion of the heathen Indians."hl He pointed
out that humane consideration, affection, and protection
should be given them because during the five years of hils
adminlistration they had not given him the slightest cause
for susplclon of infidelity but were always prompt to serve
whenever war broke oui:.L"2 |

Vélez Cachupin also cautioned his successor to treat
the Utes wlth the greatest friendship possible, displaying
generosity, sincerity, and a humane attitude. He recommended
‘that all graciousness, the best of friendship and affection,
and good faith be adopted as the policy for the Ute captain
Tomds, because if he were alienated it would be difficult to
paclify him again. If the Utes should commit further robberies
of horses, Marin del Valle was advised not to threaten the

entire tribe with retallation, but simply to inform the Ute

4lrpid. Thomas! translation on page 137 of his
Plains Indians and New Mexico, 1751-1778 for this passage
conveys the same meaning. ,

u2V61@z Cachupin, Instruccién.



180
captains of the deed and allow them to remedy the situation.h3

Likewise, Vélez Cachupin proudly pointed out that
the Comanches had been at peace since their punishment by
force of arms in the late summer of 1751. He recommsended
that this sltuetion be continued since the Comanches, 1if
alienated, possessed the strength to ruin New Mexico. With
their allies from the plains and their firearms, the enemy
could not be resisted continuously by the forces available
within the province.hu

To prevent depredations, robberies, and lncursions
of the indlos bérbaros from all directions, Governor Vélez
Cachupin had devised a military system which integrated
Pueblos and Spaniards of all jurisdictions in New Mexico.
He also established an extensive vigllance which must have
been one of the first "early warning" systems devised on the
North American Continent.

To the north and east he sent Pueblo Indian auxil-
jaries from Taos, Pecos, Picuris, and Galisteo as scouts to
reconnolter the passes and routes usually followed by the
Comanches to enter the Rio Grande Valley. Especially
vulnerable were the gaps in the mountains near Mora, where
he assigned Picuris and Taos Indians to examine and patrol

the mountain slopes as far north as the Canadian River. The

h3Ibid. This is an early recognition of the advan-
tages to be derived from the recognlition of native leadership.

Wirpiq.
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most prompt and reliable intelligence reports on Comanche
movements, he noted, were those obtained from the natives of
Pocos and Galisteo. Vélez Cachupin recommended that these
Pueblos be maintained ever on fhe‘alert, since the strategic
passes they patrolled might otherwise allow the enemy to
penetrate and overpower the Spanish d.e:t'en:ses.L|'5

In the south the governor had maintained a continuous
summer patrol of forty Indians from the six Keres pueblos
and, when practvicable, two squadrons of soldiers from the
presidio. These contingents guarded against the entrance
into the Rio Grande settlements of Faraén and Natagé Apaches
to raid Albuquerque, Santo Domingo, and San F'el:’Lpe,.h'6 They
were stationed at "Goara"tT ang 'J.‘a;jique“’8 in the "ancient

missions in the cordillera of the Sandia Mountains. "9

451p1d. V&lez Cachupin refers here to the negli-
gence of some Scouts near Galisteo in 1751 which caused the
disastrous raid and the subsequent campaign against the
Comanches as discussed earlier.

461p14.

u7This is the abandoned seventeenth century mission
of Quaral, located east of the Manzano Mountains (an
extension southward of the Sandias) and southeast of
Albuquerque. It is now a New Mexico state monument.

ueLocated on the eastern slope of the Manzano Moun-
tains about fifteen miles north of Quarai. All of these
pueblos and missions had been established in this saline
region during the early seventeenth century and had been
abandoned because of their exposed position to the Apaches
before the Pueblo revolt of 1680.

49ve1ez Cachupin, Instruccién. Thomas' summary on

page 33 of The Plains Indians and New Mexico, 1751-1778
contains some minor errors such as the statement that the

*®
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Such outlying patrols were to inspect all the terrain in
their'vicinity and to reconnoiter the entrances used by the
Apaches, partlcularly the bocas of Abb,so to gain access to
the Rio Abajo region. As a result of these preventive
measures, the governor reported that these jurisdictions in
the south were free from robberies, although the Gila Apaches
could still reach Albuquerque from the southwest by way of
the Rfo Puerco and the Ladrén Mountains.ol

This elaborate, coordinated scouting system was
provided to make initial contact with the enemy. The
Pueblos assigned to these patrols were instructed that
should they meet enemy Indians in numbers too great to be
overcomé, the loyal auxillaries were to advise their pueblos
promptly so that forces could be gathered to drive out and
pursue the attackers. Behind this outer Pueblo defenslve
screen Vélez Cachupin kept two hundred men armed and equipped
at Santa Fé, able to march within one day, and he provided
instruction in ecavalry movements for 150 settlers there,52

Pueblo Indian auxiliaries contributed greatly to
the defense and military operations of New Mexico during the

squads were stationed in the "Albuquerque jurisdiction" and
placing them in the cited missions along the "Sandia Moun-
tains," which do not extend that far southward.

50Just west of the present site of the abandoned
seventeenth century mission of Abd, now a New Mexico state
monument .

5lyslesz Cachupin, Instruccién.
521p14.
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period beginning with the Reglamento de 1729 and ending with

Governor Vélez Cachupin?s completion of his first term of

office. These faithful Indians were a bulwark on defense,
for they possessed traditional deep=~seated hatreds for the
nomedic indios bédrbaros, especlally the Apaches, Utes, and

Comanches. They were vigorous fighters, and the;r courage
in the defense of their pueblos was unquestioned. These
characteristics, given officilal recognition in this era,
helped to negate the popular image of the Pueblo Indiens as
docile tribesmen unfit for war. |

Certainly the Spanish-Pueblo alliance grew during
this period of consolidation, pacification of hostiles, and
integratlon of Indlans into one defensive plan. Protected
and privileged, the Pueblos served as a magnet in the pacifi-
catlion of other, non-Christianized tribes, gradually
convineing them that peace with the Spaniards would be bene-
ficial to them. The first fruits of the changing alliance
situatlon and the "attractive power" of the Pueblos may be
seen In the uses made by Vélez Géchupin in the 1750's of the
Utes, Carlana Apaches, and Cuartelejos to supplement his
auxiliary forces.

Indeed, the Pueblo Indians not only served promptly
and well on campalgns as relisble and well-equipped soldilers
but also as indlspensable escorts, interpreters, and scouts.
They were the "eyes and ears" of the detailed vigillance
system initiated by Governor Vélez Cachupin and wereépelied
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upon by him as the first line of defense for the province.
By the end of his administration he was successfui in
establishing a temporary peace on the New Mexican frontier--
a peace which seemed to unite loosely Spaniards, Pueblos,
Utes, Comanches, and even some Apaches in his integrated
defensive plan. Had hls policies been followed, it is most
likely that New Mexico might. have enjoyed a 1oﬁg era of
stability 1n the latter half of the century. Instead nearly
continuous Indlan warfare ultimately jeopardized Spain's

hold on the province.



CHAPTER V -
DEFENSIVE CRISIS, 1754-1776

Fifty years had passed since the first Apache campaign
had been conducted in the Sandia Mountains by Diego de Vargas.
That expedition had falled to accomplish its objective of
chastising the marauders, just as many others over the course
of the next half century did not achieve theilr goal. Several
methods were employed to combat the threats presented by the
Utes, Comanches, and Apaches, but the most consistently-used
technique in thils continuous warfare was the employment of
Pueblo Indian auxiliaries. They served on every campaign in
the first half of the eighteenth century if it can be assumed
that the documentation available for this period is anywhere
near complete and accurate.

Although this was not an era of lasting achievement
in many respects, there were positive gains in the formation
of Indian policy. Political quarrels, controversies between
secular officials and the Franciscans, struggles within the
Church, difficulty in converting the Moquls, and clandestine
apostasy among the Pueblos were only a few of the major'
problems of this perlod. According to the reports of the

185
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friars, the Indians were always treated harshly by the
Spanish authorities.l Yet, one cannot conclude, as Ralph E.
Twitchell does, that "little was accomplished by the
Spaniards" and that the era may be characterized as "unpro-
gressiVeo"z By mld-century, after much experimentatibn with
various methods of warfare, a basically sound policy had
been devised for controlling the indios bédrbaros and making
use of the Christlan Indians to combat thelr traditional
enemies. It had largely been consolidated from prévious
experlence throughout the century, but Governor Vélez
Cachupin had developed the first integrated policy during
his first term of office, from 1749 to 1754. Primarily this
program involved the use of presidials, citizen militja, and
Pueblo Indians in punitive expeditions against nomadic
tribes as before. However, the native auxiliary force now
had been augmented by Utes, Comanches, and some Apaches, all
attracted to the Spanish cause by the apparent benefits
accruing to the"Pueblo troops. This basic policy of uniting
the several amenable Indian nations against the implacable

Apaches was ultimately to be extended to all the northern
provinces. Had it been pursued diligently and with consist-

ency after Vélez Cachupin'a administrations, in all

1Twitchell, Leading Facts, I, 4h3. For some examples
of missionary reports chastising the governors see the
accounts of Fray Juan de Lezatin and Fray Pedro Serrano in
Hackett, Historical Documents, III, L470-476 and 485-486.

2Twitchell, Leading Facts, I, Lh3.
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probability there would have been no defensive crisis in
Spanish New Mexico from 1754 to 1776.

That the basic policy adopted by Vélez Cachupin was
successful cennot be denied. In 175l, when he left office,
the province enjoyed a relatively peaceful state. Pueblos,
Utés, and some Apéches alded in the pacification of the
dreaded Comanches, who, in turn, had established an alliance
with the Spanilards. Only thg Apaches, now hopelessly out-
nﬁmbered, remained as the enemy. The prospect of general
peace and stability for the province seemed bright as Vélez

Cachupin turned over the gobernaciém to his successor,

Francisco Marin del Valle. In the next eigﬁt years, when
three different governors ruled New Mexico at-various times,
warfare returned to the lsolated province. It is not clear
why Comanche raids upon the Spanish settlements and Pueblo
communities resumed, causing the depopulation of the northern
missions, in this period. Missionaries reported that the
governors were responsible for these retaliastory raids.
Apparently the overbearing attitude of these Spanish
officials, their denlal of peaceable Comanche trade at Taos,
and a surprise attack made upon the Comanches encamped near
that pueblo by Governor Manuel del Portillo y Urrisola on
December 22, 1761, had destroyed the earlier trenquility.>

From the turmoil of this era, peace was once again

N 3§Eomas, IThe Plains Indians and New Mexico, 1751~
118, p. o
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restored in the second term of Vélez Cachupin (1762-1767).
This governorfs first concern upon resuming office was to
solve the problems which had alienated the Comanches. In
fact, he so reassured his former allies of his continued
desire to maintain friendly relations with them that the
powerful Plains tribe seems to have kept the peace durilng
the five years of his second administration. Visitors on
the northern frontier in this period, such as the Marqués
de Rubi, noted this fact upon inspecting New Mexico.lt

However, this stable situation was not destined to
continue during the long administration of Governor Pedro
Fermin de Mendinueta (1767-1778). For some unknown reason
this official decided on a policy of all-out warfare against
the Comanches; necessitating the use of Pueblo Indian auxil.-
laries and the undertaking of extensive defensive measures,
most of which were not successful.,S This resulted in
probably the most tumultuous period in New Mexico!s history.
The frequency and extent of nomadic reids upon the province
Increased markedly from year to year. There were few if any
respites from the pressures and threats of Indian atteck,
although Mendinueta conducted more campaigns perhaps than
any other governor save Diégo de Vargas during the reconquest
period. By 1776 the effect of these widespread and devas-
tating attacks was a challenge to the continued Spanish

b1vid., p. 35.
5Ibid., p. 39.
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occupation of New Mexico. In that year the province had
become an isolated frontier reglon, almost totally encircled
with warlike tribes. Spanish settlers and their loyal
Pueblo Indian allles were confronted with marauding Nava jos
to the northwest, Utes tc¢ the north and northwest, Comanches
to the north and east, and various Apache bands to the east,
south, and southwest.

Spanish defenses and military forces within the
province were inadequate to combat these threats. Against

the depredations of the indios birbaros, Spain had only

elghty presidial soldiers, some unreliable militla elements,
and the Pueblo Indians. Although the governors were

responsible for the control of the Pueblos, including thelr
moblilization, the native allies were under the direct admin-

istration of district offlcials, the alcaldes mayores. By

the third quarter of the eighteenth century New Mexico was
divided iInto elght alcaldias, each administered by an alcalde
mayor who was responslble to the governor for the conduct of
Indian affairs 1n his district. His duties included settling
problems among his'charges, notarizing legal documents,
investigating requests for land grants, placing grantees in
possession of thelr land, collecting legal fees and tributes,
and sometimes leading forces against hostile tribes. Usually

alcaldes mayores were appointed from among the most influ-

ential Spaniards of a given district. They frequently abused

6Thomasb Teodoro de Croix, p. 7.
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their Indians, confiscating native supplies for theilr own
benefit, reducing them to forced labor, mistreating their
women, and appropriating their 1andsb7 These individuals,
who resided in the various pueblo districts, were responsible
for complying with the governor's requests for certailn
numbers of auxiliaries to accompany each of the proposed
expeditions. |

By the middle of the eighteenth century Pueblo
Indians had organized their own military units. For a time
these were commaended by a native capitdn mayor de la guerras
who was subordinate when on campaign to the commander of the
expedition. Generally, the governor or his designated
representative, often an officer from the Presidio of

Santa Fé, commanded campaign forces. Father Manuel de
San Juan Nepomuceno y Trigo observed in 175l that the

"mission Indians" were brave and warlike, particularly those
from Pecos whom he admired for their "voluntary" and continued
resistance to the barbaric tribes. He also considered the
natives of Isleta Pueblo "brave warriors" and noted that

those of Jémez sacrificed their corn crops to the settlers

TMyra E. Jenkins, "The Baltasar Baca 'Granti:
History of an Encroachment," El Palacio, LXVIII, No. 1
(Spring, 1961), 53. ’

®A1fonso Rael de Agullar,6 Protector General, Certifi-
cate, Santa Fé, January 10, 1706, in Hackett, Historical
Documents, III, 366, This position had been created as early
as 1706, was renewed in 1747, but seems not to have been
authorized after 1767.
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and soldiers who passed through their village,9

In the early 1770's there were only 250 persons in
the province who reportedly possessed firearms; and these
were out-dated escogetaé, or flintlock muskets, common to
the northern frontier of New Spain in the seventeenth and
eighteenth centuries.10 Pueblo auxiliaries;, although they
possessed some firearms of this type, relied chiefly upon
the bow and arrow and the lance. Apparently some of these
weapons, especially thé firearms held by the settlers and
Pueblos, were traded to the Plains Indlans at the falrs held
in Taos. Governor Marin del Valle early in his term of
office ordered all persons to stop selling such items to
the Comanches; he further prohibited Spaniards, mulattoes,
coyotes, and Pueblo Indlans from visiting any rancheria of

the Apaches, Comanches, or Utes. Violators of this decree

Father Manuel Nepomuceno y Trigo to Fray José de
los Rios, July 23, 175k, in Hackett, Historical Documents,
III, L62-465.

10Fpank D. Reeve, "Navaho-Spanish Diplomacy, 1770-
1790," NMHR, XXXV, No. 3 (July, 1960), 211. An excellent
sketch of the type of escopetas used ﬁy the Spanish and their
auxiliaries may be found in Carl P, Russell, Guns on the
Early Frontiers: A History of Firearms from Golonlal Times
through the Years of the Western Fur Trade (Berkeley an
Los Angeles: Unlversity of Callfornia Press, 1957), p. 32.
In his chapter "Arming the American Indian,6" the author noted
that the egcopeta persisted in New Mexico from the Pueblo
revolt to the middle of the nineteenth century. He obvi-
ously was not aware of the new firearms recelived there during
the administration of Juan Bautista de Anza., Also, he
erroneously states that the Spaniards were "very conscien-
tious" in withholding guns and ammunition from the Indians
of the Southwest, although he admits that there were "some
leaks" In this policy. Evidence in this study would refute
Russell's contention that the Spaniards failed to arm the

natives.
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were to be punished with fifty lashes.ll Undoubtedly this
stringeﬁt policy, Eeing such a radical departure from that
pursued by his predecessor, Vélez Cachupin, was a factor in
the resumption of warfare between the Comanches and the
Spanish-Puseblo forces in the decade of the 1750's.

Extensive campaigns in the period prior to the
arrival of Vélez Cachupin for his second term of office
created many problems for the Pueblos themselves. In addition
to all the work normally done by the Indians in thelr own
villages and elsewhere for the Spaniards, the natives were
frequently employed as auxliliaries on individual campaigns.
Their greatest sacrifice, however, was of their llvestock.
The many horses, cattle, and sheep raised by the Yueblos
were elther consumed by the campaign forces or stolen by the
enemy. According to one sympathetic report, there was no
compensation whatsoever for these losses.l2 The Pueblos
furnished corn as well as livestock to the expeditionary
armies. Whenever the alcalde required, Christian Indians
from the pueblos, sometimes amounting to one-half of the

population in a given village, were dispatched to a central

1lprancisco Antonio Marin del Valle, Bando,
Santa Fé, November 26, 1754, SANM, Document 530.

12An Account of the Lamentable Happenings in New
Mexico end of Losses Experienced Daily in Affairs Spiritual
and Temporal Written by Father Fray Juan Sanz Lezafin in
ﬁgz Year 1760, in Hackett, Historical Documents, III,
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point to shell corn for ths scldiers! rations.13
Bishop Pedro Tamafbn y Romeral, visiting New Mexico
in 1760, was alarmed by the ineffective defense of the
vince ageinst the hostlile Indiens. He belleved that the

~
VYV ek

danger presented by these tribes threatened the very life

of the frontler provinces and suggested that greater use of
infantry forces, such as a unit of three thousand men
recruited from the presidiocs and settlers of the northern
provinces, be made. Although such a force would attract
less enemy attention than a mounted expedition and would free
troops from the duty of guarding the horseherds,lk such a
recormendation was highly impractlical for conducting warfare
against such a highly-mobile enemy as the hostile tribes of
New Mexico. Most of the suggestions offered by visitors in
the period from 1760 through 1776 were impractical.

The only realistic frontier Indian policy in this
critical perliod was that of Vélez Cachupin. Once he had
taken office again in 1762, he re-established the peaceful
situatlon he had achieved during his first term. As before,

he made peace with the Comanches, sent Pueblos tc scout the

13Report of the Reverend Father Provincial Fray
Pedro de Serrano to the Most Excellent Sefior Viceroy
Marqués de Cruillas in Regard to the Custodia of New
Ll:glzscico, Year of 1761, in Hackett, Historical Documents, III,

MlufleanoréB. Adams (ed.), Bishop Tamarén's Visitation
of New Mexico, 1700 [Publications in Histo Historical
Society of New Mexlco] (Albuquerque:  Historical Society of
New Mexico, 1954), pp. 88-91,
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distant frontiers of the province, especially to the east
and south, and increassed his auxiliary forces by enlisting
rormer enemy tribes. In addition, he re-instituted the

practice of trading with the Plains Indians at Taos. Instead
of maintaining one central arsenal of weapons at Santa F§,
he dispersed his equipment, sending some to the individual

pueblos, where alcaldes mayores were made responsible for

its maintenance and use. At Pecos Pueblo the governor

reported that he had one small campaign cannon, three pounds
of powder, and 250 musket balls. At Galisteo the equipment
was about the same, but Plcuris and Taos had greater quanti-
ties of powder and more musket bailso EBach of the locations
Included in this report had one smell campalgn cannon, but
all of the equipment distributed to the designated villages
was administered by the district alcaldes mayores.15

Although there were no Pueblo Indians settled in the

capital itself, the people residing there being all castes

and Spaniards (gente gg;ggggg),lé Vélez Cachupin noted that

a genizaro Ihdian named Diego de Sena possessed one musket .17
The judicious Indian policy pursued by this official

was particularly important to Spain during the period

15616z Cachupin, Informe, February, 1762, AGN,
Provincias Internas 102, Expediente 2, foja 172. -

16Father Manuel Nepomuceno y Trigo to Fray José de
%gs Rigg, July 23, 1754, in Hackett, Historical Documents,
I, : ‘

17vé1ez Cachupin, Informe, February, 1762, AGN,
Provincias Internas 102, Expediente 2.
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following the conclusion of the Seven Years'! War. With the
acquisition of Louislana from France, the threat of French
traders dealing arms to the Plains Indians had subsided, but
in the next half-ceatury English traders became an even more
serious menace. At the same time Spain was plagued by her
involvements in forelgn wars, which drained off troops and
funds sorely needed to defend and administer her enlarged
North American territory.

To deal with the continuing problem of her vast
northern frontier Spain tried a variety of remedies. She
established new: presidios, relocated others, subjected them
to official inspection, examined detailed reports, ordered
expensive campaligns against the hostiles, and entertained
recommendations from all quarters. Yet, the results were
always the same. 1In the quarter-century ending in 1772 four
thousand persons and over twelve million pesos were lost to

the marauding tribes in the region north of Chihuahua.l8

Even the great visitador-general José de G4lvez (1765;1771)

was frustrated in his efforts to pacify the frontier.l9
The best way to stabilize the northern frontier of
New Spain was to establish a relative peace such as Vélez

Cachupin had done on two occasions in New Mexico. However,

Governor of New Mexico, 1 (Norman: University of
Oklahoma Press, 1932), P. 5.

18p1fred B. Thomas. Forgotten Fr
° ontiers: A Stud
of the Spanish Indian golié% of Don Juan Bautista de Anza,
=178

1% erbert I. Priestley, José de Gdlvez: Visitor-

General of New S ainl 1165-1551) (Berkeley: University of
19167, p. . '

California Press,
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such a situation was not destined to continué there,
especially under a new governor with different policiles.
Mendinueta, upon assuming office in 1767, initiated a decads

of open warfare against the indios barbaros, concentrating

especially upon the Comanches to the north and east of the
settled areas of the province. His emphasis upon martial
activity necessitated all sorts of defensive measures, many
of which included the use of Pueblo Indians as auxiliaries
in the overall defense of New Mexico.

For the first time the Comanches had penetrated the
Sangre de Cristo Mountains north of Taos Pueblo, perhaps
using ILa Veta Pass in present southern Colorado. Once the
mountain barrier had been crossed, the raiders from the plains
near the Arkansas River met with no obstacles. They extended
their depredations into the San Luis Valley and toward Taos,
Santa Fé, and new Spanish settlements in the Rio Arriba
distriet. The recently-established community of Ojo Caliente,
north of San Juan Pueblo and on the west bank of the Rio
Grande, which was composed largely of genizaros, was in the
direct path of the Comanches who approached New Mexico from
that direction. Formerly the Utes had resided in this area,

but they had now been pushed westward into the San Juan

Mountains along the modern Colorado-New Mexico boundary.
To meet this new threat Mendinueta established by

the end of May, 1768, a new temporary post on the Cerro de
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San Antonio, north of Ojo Caliente.20 For a garrison force,
the Spanish official detailed fifty men from the presidio and
nearby Indian vlllages (probably from Taos and Picﬁris) to
watch the ford on the Rio Grande generally used by the
Comanches to reach the west bank of the river and thus
facllitate their raids southward. Alfred B. Thomas believes
that thils was the earliest military post to have been
established within the present boundaries of Colorado,21
but it was obviously located in northern New Mexico, over-
looking the Rio Grande.
As Comanche activity inereased in eastern and northern

New Mexlco, it also gradually pushed the Apaches further
southward, forcing them to forage deep into the northern
provinces of New Spain, where they frequently devastated

Coahuila, Nueva Vizcaya, and even Sonora. The Viceroy of

20Thomas, The Plaing Indians and New Mexico, 1751-
1778, p- 39. This 1s probably the modern San Antonio eak,
some ’sixteen miles west of the Rio Grande and north of Tres
Piedras, New Mexico. There are no outstanding hills in
southern Colorado which could rival this as a landmark in
the San Luis Valley. Anza's map of 1779, however, appears
to place the peak too close to the Rio Grande.

211b1d Thomas' error is apparently based upon his
use of Anza's latitude readings, which are erroneous. The
thirty-seventh parallel marks the southern boundary of
Colorado today. However, on Anza's map this line lles just
north of Santa F6. If Thomas! conclusion is correct about
the Cerro de San Antonio, then Ojo Caliente and the "Valley
and Pueblo of Taos" on this same map also lie in Colorado.
Obviously this is an error which could have been avoided had
the author carefully examined the river systems and other
geographlc features deplcted by Anza. Triangulation, using
at least three other known points, would have revealed the
error.
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New Spain reported in 1772 that 140 inhabitants had been
killed, seven thousand horses and mules had been stolen, and
that whole herds oi cattle and sheep had been destroyed in
the northern provinces during the previous year.22 These
widespread actlivities cften ranged westward across New
Mexico, especially in the southern part of the province
between E1 Paso and the Jornada del Muerto, severing this
region from continuous communiication with the more populous
areas to the south. When such occurred, and as the raids
reached Zufii, Tubac, and Sonora by November, 1772, New Mexlco
became virtually an island colony.23

Recommendations for resolving the Indian problem were

received from all sources, including the visitador-general
José de GAlvez and the Marqués de Rubi, who inspected the
frontier presidios between 1766 and 1768. The latter's
suggestions were reflected in the Reglamento de 1772, which

abollshed some frontier presidios and moved others so as to
establish 4« new line of fifteen presidios from Texas to
Sonora. New Mexico, although it retained its presidio, was
not within this perimeter of defense but remained an exposed
northern sallent well beyond it. Since the Presidio of

Santa ¥é obviously contained an insufficient force to protect

the province, a more permanent sclution to the problem of

22Antonio Maris de Bucareli to Julldn de Arrilaga,
Ministro General de Indias, No. 193, México, January 27,
1772, in Thomas, Forgotten Frontiers, p. 6.

23Thomas, Forgotten Frontiers, p. 8.
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defense had to be sought. Of necessity, the province had to
resort to the extensive use of a citizen militla and Indian
auxiliaries just to hold the areas already settled. In the:
eritical period before 1776 Spanish authorities had mno
Indians but the Pueblos upon whom they could rely for
consistent and quantitative support in the defense of New
Mexico.

The asslstance of these natives was favorably noted
by Hugo O'Conor, who was dispatched to the northern frontier

in 1772-1776 to implement the provisions of the Reglamento

de 1772. O'Conor found conditions in the northern provinces
vastly chenged from the peaceful ones encountered by Rubi,
from 1766 to 1768, upon which the Reglamento was based.

Therefore, he suggested extensive changes be made on the
basis of his own observations. He recommended that ten
frontier detachments be formed, two of which were to be in
New Mexico. The two groups in that northern province were
to be composed of vecinos (heads of households) and friendly
Indians. They were to defend the frontier primarily against
the Comanche menace, but against other frontier tribes as
well. OfConor reported that "the friendly Indians" were the
Pueblos, namely those from Jémez, Zia, Santa Ana, Sandise,
Isleta, Laguna, Acoma, and others he admittedly didn't know.
He was confident, however, that they were a peaceful people,

devoted to agricultural pursuits and the raising of
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1.’Lvesto<=k.2,'L
The detachments O'Conor proposed for New Mexico were
to have & total of 565 men. He suggested that a body of one
hundred troops be added to the recruitment of citizen militia
from each of the provinces, thus establishing a total of
2,228 men for a general campaign on the northern frontiler.

The levies for New Mexico were to be about two-thirds Pueblo

Indiang
Communities Spaniards Indians
TEMOZ + ¢« v ¢« o o o o o o o o 0 Lo
/% - 0 50
Santa Ana . . . .« v e 0] 80
Viecinity of Bernalillo . . . . 15 0
Sandfa . . . . . 0 e e e .. 0 25
Town of Albuquerque . . . . . . 80 0
Atrisco and Pajarito . . . . . 25 0
Isleta . . . . . (o] Lo
Vicinity of Valencia and Tomé . 30 0
Vicinity of Belén and Pueblo
of genizaros . . . . . . . . 40 Lo
Taguna and Acom& . . . . . . . 0 100
TOTALS 190 37525

Governor Mendinueta closely observed the problems of
defense 1in New Mexlico and made recommendations to improve
conditions there. Unique among hls proposals was the

suggestion that the Spaniards, who were widely dispersed

, ), 22§nrique Gonzélez Flores and Francisco R. Almada
eds. Informe de Hugo O'Conor sobre el estado de las
Provincias Internss del Norte, 1771-1776 (México: Edltorial
Cultura, 1952), pp-. 105-167

25Hugo O'Conor, Plan, Carrizal, March 24, 1775, AGN,
Provincias Internas 87 Expediente 5. Thomas Forgotten
Frontiers, p. 10, states that the total for New MexIco was
595 but supplies no basis for this figure. -



201

along the Rio Grande, be collected into centrally-located,
easily-defended, fortified towns resembling those of the
Pueblo Indians. He cited the lack of unity among thé'Spanish
settlers and recommended that they emulate the Pueblos in
defending themselves against the Comanches, Apaches, Utes,
and Navajos.26 Here was a reversal of the normal Spanish
pattern of settlement and Indian policy. Usually it was the
Speniards who settled in villages and tried to reduce the
Indians to easily-controlled towns.2! 1In this case, however,
the natives had the better system and therefore exerted an
influence upon the Europeans.

Mendinueta tried to augment his small presidial
force of eighty troops with settlers and "indios cristi-

éggg."zs He admonished the settlers for their reluctance
to respond to his orders and pointed out that &ll should
obey hls instructlons. No matter what time or under what
conditions the orders for a campalgn arrived, each settler
was to appear with his horse, lance, pike, or whatever type

of arms he possessed since every inhabitant of the province

26Pedro Fermin de Mendinueta to Viceroy Antonio Maria
de Bucareli, Santa Fé, March 26, 1772, photostat from
Biblioteca Nacional de México, lLega jo 10, Part 1. Another
copy of this manuscript has been published in Alfred B.
Thomas, "Governor Mendinueta's Proposals for the Defense of
gnggexico, 1772-1778," NMHR, VI, No. 1 (January, 1931),

2TRecopilacién de leyes, Tomo II, Libro VI, Titulo
III, ley 4i. |

28Mendinueta to Bucareli, Senta Fé, March 26, 1772,
BNM, Lega jo 10.
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had an obligation to perform eighteen days of public service
a:nnually.‘g9

The cacique of each pueblo was instructed to maintain
constantly in readiness a force of fifteen or twenty Indians.
He was to supply them with the necessary horses and provi-
sions for campaigns so that they could depart immediately
when directed by the governor. Once the summons had been
received, the cacique would collect his force and personally
conduct it in pursult of the enemy. By this practice it was
hoped that the hostiles could be prevented from escaping
unpunished for their raids upon the settled communities.3©

For general campaigns Governor Mendinueta faced the
problem of maintaining a sufficient number of horses. Since
the hostile tribes had no fixed encampments and could ride
wherever they pleased, the pursuing force had to be equally
mobile and durable. Therefore, each man in the campaign
force required at least three or four horses.3l There was
also a shortage of firearms for these expeditions, and when
the auxiliaries returned the governor was hard-pressed to

compensate them for their service. Finally, he could never

29Mendinueta, Bando, Santa Fé, November 16, 1771,
SANM, Document 663.

30The'Form of Government Used at the Missions of San
Diego de los Jémez and San Agustin de Isleta by Father Fray.
Joaquin de Jestis Rulz, Their Former Minister, [1773%], in
Hackett, Historical Documents, III, 506.

31Mendinueta to Bucareli, Santa F§, March 26, 1772,
BNM, Legajo 10.
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draw on ail the pueblos at once. It was impossible to use
allies from Zusii, Accr2, and Laguna in the campaigns against
the Comanches as these three western pueblos were too far
from the Comanche frontier and were also usually'occupied.
in defending themselves against the Apaches.32

Mendinueta used numerous Indian auxiliaries, largely
recruited from the pueblos, in annual campaigns agalnst the
Utes, Navajos, Apaches, and Comanches, but, although the
pursuing force somez}mes marched hundreds of miles, they
seldom yielded notable results. Pueblo auxillaries served

a dual purpose on campalgns, as the backbone of military
strength and as informants,

In 1768, a Taos Indian, who had earlier been a
Comanche captive, advised the Spanish governor of the where-
abouts of the Comanches and of their trade to the east for
weapons. Apparently they were obtaining firearms from the
Jumanos, who lived in the Red River area between present
Oklahome and Texas. These Indians, also known as the
Taovayas and later as the Wichitas, had obtained the arms
from the advancing English traders. As a result of this
information, Mendinueta personally led an expedition of 5iib
men, including presidials, militia, and Indian allies,
northeastward to the vicinity of the Arkansas River. The
native auxiliary force, although primarily composed of
Pueblos; included some Utes and Apaches (probably from the

Jicarilla, Sierra Blanca, and Cuartelejo bands who had

321p1d.
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occupied the region near Pecos Pueblo during the adminis-
tration of Vélez Cachupin).33 This campaign, however, was
without apparent success.

Expeditions in 1774 were made from Albuquerque, the
Keres pueblos, Laguna, and Acoma against the newly-aroused
Nave jos. These campaign forces consisted largely of Pueblo
Indian auxilliaries, supplemented by militiamen and presidials
from Santa Fé.3u Before the forces departed upon each of
the forays into hostile territory mass was said for all the
partlcipants, and a brief sermon was usually given on the
concept of "just wars" against the resisting natives. Occa~
sionally, control of the Indian auxiliaries while on campaign
was either lost or relaxed., 1In one such instance, reported
by Father Francisco Atanasio Dominguez, Caristian Indlans
removed the scalps of the hostliles before they were dead and

danced with them in token of victory and revenge.35

Sometimes Pueblo Indians were called upon to resist
the attacks of the Comanches and to conduct thelr own
punitive campaigns without assistance from the Spanish
authorities and the presidial forces. This was especially
true when the enemy unexpectedly ralded their villages to

obtain food, horses, cattle, sheep, and captives. Then the

33Thomas, The Plains Indians and New Mexico, 1751-
1778, p. Lo.

3uﬂeeve, "Navaho-Spanish Diplomacy, 1770-1790,"
NMER, XXXV, No. 3, 207.

35Dominguez, The Missions of New Mexico, 1776,
pp. 257 and 271. —
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natives of the offended pueblo had to provide their own
immediate defense. An example of this type of warfare occurred
at Santa Clara Pueblo in 1774, where nine Indians of that
community defended themselves when attacked outside of the
village. The raiding Comanches were unable to inflict any
injuries on the Pueblos and were put to flight by the defend-
ers. The Comanches were also unable té run off any of the
horses, because the Santa Clarans dismounted and hobbled
their horses together before the skirmish began.36

As the frequency and extent of the devastating ralds

by the indios bérbaros increased yearly from 1774 to 1776,

the problem of defending New Mexico grew in importance. On
one occasion the Comanches even raided Sandia Pueblo, which
was In the heart of the settled region on fhe Rio Grande.
Apparehtly they were successful in running off that village'’s
horseherd, for the Pueblos pursued them on foot. Feigning
retreat, the Comanches suddenly turned on their pursuers and
killed thirty-three of them in one engagement.37

Even the Viceroy of New Spain, Antonio Maria de
Bucarell y Ursua, recognized the necessity for providing a
better defense of New Mexico in this period. In 1775 he

gave the governor permission to arm the settlers and offered

36Mendinueta to Bucareli, Santa Fé, September 30,
1774, in Thomas, The Plains Indians and New Mexico, 1751~

1778 p. 170.
3Trhomas, The Plains Indians and New Mexico, 1751~

1778, p. U5.
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to send the province additional firearms at cost.38
Mendinueta, however, reported that the province already had
six hundred muskets and 150 pairs of pistols. He believed
that additional firearms could not aid in the defense of New
Mexico, particularly since the lnhabitants did not possess
the necessary money to purchase them even at original prices.
The real difficulty, according to the governor, was a
shortage of horses since the hostile Indlans had been
successful in stealing many from the herds of the Pueblos
and Spaniards in the past few years,39 In October of the
same year the viceroy authorized the purchase of 1,500 horses
for New Mexico to replenish the lost herds and to aid in the
preservation of the province.LLO

By 1776 defense of the protruding salient of the
northern frontier had reached a critical point. The hostile
Invasions of New Mexico were among the most serious on the
entire extent of this vast region.*l If anything, the
situation had grown worse throughout the decade of the 1770's.
No Spanish settlement or Indian village was safe from these
depredations. To meet these attacks Spanish Indian poliecy
had evolved gradually to include two basic practices. The

’

38Bucareli to Mendinueta, México, February 18, 1775
in ibid., p. 178. |

39Mendinueta to Bucareli, Santa F&, August 19, 1775,
in ibid., pp. 184-185.

hoBucareli De
cree, México, October 24, 1775, in
ibid., p. 189. ’ ’ ’ ’

ulThomas, Teodoro de Croix, p. 2.
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first of these, consisting of peace treaties with the
Indians, was preventive. This had met with 1little success,
except during Vélez Cachupin’s terms of office, because of
the independence of one band from another and the consequent
Inability of establishing a general peace with all the
host!les. The second was punitive and required many campaigns
into Indian country to recapture animals, rescue prisoners,
and especially to chastise the enemy so as to discourage
further raids.uz The success of both practices was extremely
limlted by the insufficiency of presidial and regular forces,
the 1nadequate training and discipline of militis and Indian
aliles, the ineptitude of leaders recruited from the local
populace, the difficulty of operations and supply over such
an extensive terraln, the dispersal of the settlements, the
shortage and obsolescence of weapons, and the lack of
coordination of the several campaigns on the entire northern
frontier.

The continued Spanish occupation of New Mexico was
more seriously jeopardized by 1776 than it had been at any
time in the eighteenth century. Not since the expulsion of
the Spaniards by the Pueblos in the rebellion of 1680 had the
colonies of the province been in such a serious state. Now,
more than ever before, the Spanish authorities were dependent
upon the Pueblo Indlans for information concerning the where-

abouts of the many marauding bands of indios bérbaros.

421p14., pp. 10-11.
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Likewlse, they relied more upon them for military recruilts,
for campalgn provisions, and for horses. But other policies
had also to be devised to offer better protection for the New
Mexlcan settlements. In the formatlon of these new plans the
Spaniards had one loyal element which was absent during the
reconquest of the area by Vargas some eighty-four years
earlier. This was a uniflied, organized, highly-experienced
auxiliary force which could attract still other native ‘-
allles to the Spanish colors and thus aid in pacifying the

province.



CHAPTER VI
THE CRISIS RESOLVED, 1776-179l

Drastic frontier reorganization began on August 22,
1776, with the instructions issued by Charles III to Teodoro
de Croix. This Caballero of the Teutonic Order and brigadier
in the army was appointed governor and commandant~general of
the Interilor Provinces of New Spaln, which included Texas,
Coahuila, Nueva Vizcaya, Sonora, Sinaloa, New Mexico, and
the Californias. Such an extensive region thus became
virtually a separate govermmental unit, }ndependent with

some minor exceptions from the Viceroyalty of New Spain.l

There 1s some uncertainty as tc why the king chose
this particular moment to create the commandency-general.
Alfred B. Thomas' conclusion that the threatened collapse of
the entire northern frontier demsnded attention,2 although

open to question since the amount of information on frontier

lBernard E. Bobb, The Viceregency of Antonio Maria
Bucareli in New Spain, 1771-1 (Austin: “UnIversity of

eXas ress,-T§62§, D . %&BmI&&. There is an excellent
chapter in this work on the general aspects of the reorgani-
zation of the Provinclas Internas and the early efforts of
Crolx to overcome the Indlan problem in the North.

Thomas, Teodoro de Croix, p. 16.
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conditions available to the Gouncil of the Indies was
1imited,3 is not entirely without application to the region.
New Mexico is most 1lllustrative of this fact, for its
condition in 1776 was among the worst in the vast Spanish
empire, 1Indeed, the province probably was involved in more
warfare over & continuous period of time for the decade
preceding the reorganization of the Provincilas Internas than
any other region in the New World.

Yet, from this uncertain and unstable situation in
1776, New Mexico's problems were gradually reduced in the
course of the next eighteen years. By 1794 the province had
once more become stabilized, as it had been in 175l under
Governor Vélez Cachupin. What caused this relatively sudden
change in Spanish-Indian relations after nearly a century

of open warfare with the indios bédrbaros surrounding the

province? The answer may be found in the adoption of a more
aggressive, consistent, and better-administered Indian

pollicy for New Mexico and all of the northern region.
Basically this involved the continuance of military campaigns,
but these were now coordimsted with similsr efforts throughout
the entire northern area. Also, Spain employed balance-of-
power tactics in dealing with the northern provinces,

defeat ing strategic hostile tribes and then effecting alli-

ances with an increasing number of these former enemies.h

3see Bobb, Viceregency of Bucareli, pp. 1h4-145,
for a detalled discussion of this sub jsct.

uJoseph E. park, "Spanish Indian Pollcy in Northern
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In additlion, there was much greater coordination of effort

between the various isolated districts, and the personnel
involved in both the formatlion and cabrying out of frontler
policy were more famillar with the local problems and the
Indian tribes with whom they dealt. |

Neither the concept of the commandancy-general in
the Provincias Internas nor the particular Indian policy in
this era was entirely new. Recommendations for a separate
authority to administer the vast northern reaches of New
Spain had been made for over twenty years preceding Charles
III's instructions of 1776, Likewise, the specific prac-
tices and techniques adopted for dealing with the hostile
tribes had been advanced on many occasions. Some of the
suggestions for particular practices as well as the actual
executlion of many of the earlier recommendations were evident
in the first few decades of the eighteenth century, even if
often applied sporadically.

It is also important to note that difficulties with
many ralding Indians on the northern frontier, including
those menacing New Mexico, were not immediately resolved by
the appointment of Croix. The new commandant-generai
deliberately studied the situation, first from reports and
records ln Mexlco City and later from actual observations
on the frontier itself. He examined the reports from each

province as well as prior recommendations before he undertook

Mexico, 1765-1810," Arizona and the West, IV, No. l (Winter,
1962), 34k -
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any specific action to improve the situation. 1In addition,
it must be pointed out that the policies developed after 1776
could not be universally employed on every frontier. Certain
adjustments had to be made for the special conditions
encountered within each province, but the gsneral objectives

and the broad outlines of policy remained essentially the

same. Delays were, of course, frequently encountered. These
were caused by a varlety of factors, beginning with Crolxts
exhaustive survey of conditions which consumed nearly two
years. In the period following his arrival on the frontier
other factors arose to divert primary attention from Indian
problems. The necessity of employing royal troops to wage
the war against Great Britain and to defend against invasion
after 1779 further delayed the enforcement of the basiec
Indian.policy. Local conditions also contributed to the
lack of uniformity in the pacificatlion of the hostile
Indians. Some areas were relatively well-armed, were
provided with better presidial forces, and had greater
experience in combatting the attacks of the wild Indians,
In certain regions the marauders were neither numerous nor
well-equipped for long-term opposition to the Spaniards.
Consequently, Apaches and Comanches continued to
plunder Indian and Spanish settlements on the northern

front ier while the lnhabitants lived in constant dread of

thelr attacks. From June through August, 1777, these two
enemy nations killed sixty-one persons, captured elghteen,
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and killed more than 1,200 head of livestock.? In the
following year the Comanchés alone either killed or captured
127 persons solely in New Mexico.6 Once his study of
frontier depredations and defenses was compléted, Croix
called for a general council of war to meet in Chihuahua to
establish a basic Indlan policy for the northern frontier.
This body adopted fifteen specific objectives within 1ts
general program, lincluding these five major polnts:

1. An alliance of Spaniards with the Indians of the

North egainst the Apaches.
2. The conclusion that Apaches were unreliable and

would not keep elither promises or peace treaties.
3. The belief that the Comanches were in every way

superior to Apaches, and, therefore, their assistance

must be obtained in subduing the common enemy, the
Apaches.,

lt. An observation that the average frontier presidio
consisting of only fifty-six men, could not attend
to all its duties, such as guarding horseherds,
escorting supplies, carrying mail, and performing
other minor duties, and still defend the area
assigned to it.

5. A conclusion that settlers had to be recruited to
supplement the presidials, but the simultaneous

recognition that they had to pay the costs themselves

and that their absence on campaigns deprived their
families of support while exposing_their possessions
to raids by other hostile Indians.(

Croix considered the defense of New Mexico particularly

'SMendinueta to Croix, Santa F&, September 9, 1777,
in Alfred B. Thomas, "Antonio de Bonilla and Spanish Plans
for the Defense of New Mexico," New Spain and the Anglo-
American Wast, George P. Hammond, ed. (2 vols.; Lancaster,
Pennsylvenia: Lancaster Press, 1932), I, 18l.

6Teodoro de Croix, General Report, 1781, in Thomas,
Teodoro de Croix, p. 1lll.

7T?§m§§, The Plains Indians and New Mexico, 1751-
1178, pp. TAIe
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important to the security of New Spain?’s northern provinces.
He directed much of his attention toward overcoming the
extensive problems faced by this frontier salient. He made
a continulng effort to coordinate activities in fhat
province with those of other regions to the south, concen-
trating upon reducing the Comanche threat first, then
establishing an alllance with them, and finally gradually
subduing the resisting Apache bands one by one. Thus, the
policies determined by the Chihuahua Councll could be applied
partlicularly well in New Mexico. With only one presidio,
the province was forced to rely for defense upon its settlers
and 1ts only large native auxiliéry force, the Pueblo Indians.
Since the cltizen militila was a comparatively unreliable
element for military service, the great weight of the task
fell upon the loyal allles.

Military authorities, such as Lieutenant Colonel
Antonio Bonilla, had previously noted the presence of an
abundant supply of manpower in New Mexico to defend the
province, but their estimates were based upon total numbers
of both settlers and Indians. These officials simultaneously
emphasized that lack of arms and horses rendered the
citizenry of that region useless. Bonilla observed that
Spanish authoritlies in the province were unable to obtain
asslistance from Zufil, Acoma, and Laguna since they were
too far away from the principal area of the war against

the Comanches and had to defend themselwes from Apache
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threats in their own districts. He concluded that hardly
250 Spaniards and an equal number of Indians were equlpped
with horses and proper arms for the defense of the province.8

Bonilla pointed cut that all the inhabitants of New
Mexico had an obligation to serve in the general defense of
the province, but that at present they were a "céngregation
of dissldent, discordant, scattered people without subordina-
tion, without horses, arms, knowledge of their handling, and
were governed by their [own] caprice.,“9 He proposed that
formal militlas be created with experienced individuals in
ucommand and that remuneration be provided since the cost of
each man on campalgn could exceed 150 pesos. This revenue
could be obtained, he suggested, from a levy upon local
trade, 10

Pueblo Indlans were one of the most well-organized,
experienced elements used in the defense of New Mexico

during thls period. In 1782 the province still contained
elght alcaldias, centered at Santa Fé, Santa Cruz de la

81ieutenant Colonel Antonlo Bonilla, Puntas
historicas acerca del Nuevo México, Afio de 1776, AGN,
Historia 25, Expediente 7, Paragraphs 16 and 17. Bonilla's
observations and recommendations may also be examined i
Thomas' essay cited in note 5, this chapter. :

9Bonills, Puntas historicas, AGN, Historia 25,
Expedlente 7, Paragraph ll.

1°Ibid.f Paragraph li7; Thomas, "Antonio Bonilla and
Spanish Plans," New Spain and the Anglo-American West, I,
186. Bonilla also noted that the population of New Mexico
in 1776 consisted of 5,781 Spaniards and 12,999 Indians for
a total of 18,780 persons. The estimates of the Indian
population are considerably higher than those made by other
observers in the period before 1800.
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Cafiada, Taos, Keres, San Carlos de Alameda or Sandia,
Albuquerque, Laguna and.Zuﬁi.ll Each pueblo within these
jurisdictions was ruled in local matters by an alcalde, or
sometimes by a war captain, and various subordinates_who
were elected yearly and were under the direct supervision

of the district alcalde mayor, who was appointed by the

governor.12 During the last half of the eighteenth century,
after a slight drop during the first decade of the period,
Pueblo population gradually increased, but the Spanish
settlers of the province began to increase at a much more
raplid pace. A comparison of the population elements for

New Mexico in this era follows:

1750 1760 1793 1799

Spaniards . . 3,779 7,666 16,156 18,826

Indians . . . 12,142 9,10k 9,275 9,732
TOTALS 15,921 16,770 25,431 28,55813

11Morfi, Descripcibn geogréfica, Afio de 1782, AGN,
Historla 25, Expediente 6. This is a copy of the original.

12ancrort History of Arizona and New Mexico

gi 231, citing 1793 Tetter of the Second Viceroy Revilla
gedo.

13Ibid,, P. 279. These estimates of population,
like all other statistics in New Mexico during this century,
must be examined critically. Except for the numbers of
Indians, these figures agree closely with those of Bonilla
in 1776, However, the only two categories of people
reflected are Spaniards and Indians. The former must have
included the castes and mixed-blood population whereas the
latter showed only the pure-blooded Indians residing in the
villages.  Some pueblos did decline in population, but the
figures evidently conceal the fact that many mestlzos
undoubtedly still resided in the native conmunities. Tesuque
is an excellent 1lllustration. There were no Spaniards shown
at that pueblo as of 1760 whereas there were 232 Indians;
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Father Juan Agustin de Morfi noted many changes in
the locations of Pueblo people in his report of 1782.
Geiisteo, for example, had already begun to feel the effects
of the continued Comanche pressures In the preceding decade
and a half before peace was established with that tribe.
Only fifty-two Indians remained there; three times that
number had fled to Tesuque, north of Santa Fé. The decline
at Pecos was even more marked. Morfi reported that the
de-population at both of these places wes largsly due to the
frontier poslition of the villages, the enemy having destroyed
other sites such as those of San Marcos, San Cristébal, and
San Lézaro. The situation in the north was much the same.
Many of the formerly-~occupled settlements were now abandoned
because of Comanche ralds. Even the Tacs jurisdiction,
although still held by friendly Indilans, had experienced a
decline in population, and the mission founded for the
Jicarilla Apaches in 1733, some five leagues north of Taos,
was abandoned. Despite frequent hostilities and the
numerous csmpaligns made from the southern and western

alcaldias, including Zufil, Laguna, and Alameda, Morfi noted

by 1793 this same pueblo had 293 "Spaniards" and only 138
Indians. Many of the so~-called Spaniards rust have been
mestizos, still very much a part of the Indian community.
The same observation can be made for Santa Clara, San Juan,
and San Ildefonso--all of which declined as the population
of nearby Santa Cruz increased. Thus, population figures
for this period can be very misleading for there were more
"Indians" available for duty as auxiliaries than the actual
figures for the pueblos reveal. :
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that these pueblos were still "well populated."lu

In 1778 another military officer, Lieuténant Colonel
Juan Bautista de Anza, was.appointed governor of New Mexico.
Charged wlth the executlon of the policy determlined at
Chihuahua in that same year, Anza reviewed presidials,
militia, and auxiliaries in the El Paso district before
reaching Santa Fé in the latter part of the year. Soon
after his arrival in the capital the new governor established
two definite policies to meet the problem of provincial
defense. First, he campaigned against and negotiated with
the frontier tribes to ward off their attacks and to secure
thelr friendship. Second, he attempted to reorganize Spanlsh
settlements by collecting the scattered, unprotected families
into towns similar to the Indian pueblos, which provided a
better defense against Apache, Comanche, and Ute raids,l5

The governor's mlilitary campaigns were extensive and
gradually resulted in reducing the number of enemy tribes.
Comanches received most of his attention in the early years
of his administration. During Anza's term their raids
became increasingly less frequent because of tribal losses
and the defeats infllcted upon them. By the end of 1778
they conducted only a few minor attacks in the vicinity of

1uMorfi, Descripciébn geogrdfica, AGN, Historia 25,
Expediente 6.

15Thomas, Forgotten Frontiers, p. 37h.
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Abiquit, Ojo Caliente, and the valley of the Rio Chama.l®
Anza even decided to carry the war into the home
country of the hostile tribes. For thsse ventures he
adopted many of the policies and practices of his prede;
cessors. He employed a large number of Pueblo Indian
auxiliaries at first and later augmented them with other
tribes whom he had either conquered or concillated. In
August and Ssptember, 1779, Anza personally led a force of
six hundred menl’ on a punitive expedition from San Juan de
los Caballeros, north of Santa Cruz, to find and defeat the
Comanches in the north under the chleftainship of Cuerno
Verde. A4nza's large military unit included an auxiliary
force of 259 Indians, who served as scouts and as an
integral portion of the expeditionary element.18® The new
governor outfitted settlers and Indians alike, allotting
each & good horse, although the "best" persons were said to
have two mounts. Their equipment, however, was limited and

their munitions were In short supply, as reflected by the

16Groix to Juan Bautista de Anza, January 8, 1779,
SANM, Document T71l.

17This figure has been established by analysis of
the document entitled Expedicién de Anza y Muerte de Cuerno
Verde, August and September, 17Z9, Santa ¥§, November 1,
1779, AGN, Historla 25, fojas 267-288. This report was
prepared 6y Anza for the commandant-general. The table
included by Anza shows a total force of 645 men, but there
are two errors in addition. Thomas, Forgotten Frontiers,
p. 67, says that the number was 573, but no basis for such
a total can be found.

18Expedic16n de Anza y Muerte de Cuerno Verde,
August and September, 1779, AGN, Historia 25, foja 270.
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fect that there were only three charges of powder for each
masket . 19 Nevertheless, the expedition achieved two resounding
victories over the Comanches, one culminating in the death of
Cuerno Verde in an engagement between present Pueblo and
Walsenburg, Colorado,

Having broken the Comanche resistance, Anza turned
his attention to other trouble spots. He always took Pueblo
auxiliaries with him on his visits as well as his campaigns.
Thus, on September 10, 1780, he led 126 men, including
eighty-eight Pueble Indians (forty Tewas, forty Keres, and
eight converted Moquis) to the Moqui villages of present
northeastern Arizona.20 In his campaign of November, 1780,
agalnst the Apache threat from the south, he took 151 men,
including thirty-four Indians.21 Hls later Apache campaigns
of 1785 involved forces of, first, 120 horsemen, thirty foot
soldiers, and ninety-two Pueblos, and, second, & combined
operation of Pueblos, Spanlards, and Navajos against the Gila
Apaches.22

In these expeditions Anza assured his faithful allies

of all spoils taken in battle except horses. There was,

19Thomas, Forgotten Frontiers, p. 67.

201bid., p. 228. Note that the author errs on
page 27 when he concludes that there were only forty-eight
Indians.

21Ibidc, P. 193. Again there is a discrepancy
between this figure and the one of thirty-six used on page 37
by Thomas.

22Tpbid., p. U47.
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however, to be no pillaging until the engagement with the
enemy wes completed so that none of theé foe might escape.
Léoting would be permitted by all members of the expedition
once an encounter was concluded.23 In addition, rewards
were off.red for the head of each hostile which'the auxil-
jaries might kill and for each captive taken alive.zh

| In his reorganization of the settlements Anza
required that each Spanish town have a minimum of twenty
familles settled 1n a pueblo-like village with plazas and
construction similar to the native towns. These buildings
were to be complete with gunports and bastions. He attempted
to relocate some of the settlers and concentrate them in a
few selected locations, but this met with violent opposition
and appeals to the commandant-general.25 In pursuing such
a pollicy, Anza only repeated a practice previously employed
by Vargas and recognlzed as beneficial by both Mendinueta and
Bonllla in the previous decade. Although popular opposition -
largely nullified the relocation of Neﬁ Mexicot's Spanish
citizenry, Anza did succeed in improving the general defensive
position of the province.

By 1786 conditions had changed in New Mexico.

Spain's participation as an ally of France in the North

231bid., p. 253.

2igroix to Anza, Arizpe, October 23, 1780, SANM,
Document 809. The bounty for captives taken was one hundred
pesos each.

25Thomas, Forgotten Frontiers, p. 379.
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American War for Independence had ended, peace had finally
been restored with the Comanches, the slize of the presidial
force at Sants Fé had been increased from eighty to 119, and
the population of the province had grown to 20,810.26 It
was now possible to concentrate on defense against the
Apaches, for Anza had succeeded in adding new allies--
Comanches, Utes, Navajos, and Jicarilla Apaches~--to his
already closely-established alliance with the Pueblos. Now
there were six nations allied against one highly scattered
and dis-unified enemy.

New weapons, especially carabinas, had reached the
northern frontier by the end of Anza's term of office.
Although not carbines in the nineteenth-century or modern
sense, these were refinements upon the old escopeta, or
flintlock musket, of earlier times. Governor Anza 1n April,
1786, received two hundred of these new firearms which had
been sent for the aid of the inhabitants of the province.

He distributed them throughout the area under his adminis-
tration. This dispersal of weapons is of unusual importance
since it clearly proves that the Spanish policy of prohibiting
Indiansg from carrying such weapons was not the standard
practice in New Mexico by this time. Anza's report of the

followlng year reveals that he provided one of the carabinas

26Croix General Report, 1781, in Thomas, Teodoro de
Croix, pp. 105~ 106. Although these figures are for
ey present a fair estimate of the size of the presidio and
population five years later,
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for an interpreter, Francisco Garcfa, and one each to the
alcaldes of Laguna and Zufii. Eight of them were sent to the
alcalde of Laguna Pueblo for distribution among his people
on the occasion of campaigns agalnst hostiles. One was
presented to Tomés, an Indian from Santa Ana Pueblo, and
another to Juan Lujdn, an Indian of the Santa Cruz de la
Capada jurisdiction.Z27

Yet, this distribution of firearms to officials and
Pueblo Indians 1s not the only significant aspect of Anza's
report, for it reveals that he also presented Comanches and
Utes with carabinas. One was given to the Comanche Josef
(alias "E1 Sarco"), another to the'"captain" of the same
tribe, Pasaginanchi, a third to the Ute captain Muguisachi,
and a fourth to another Ute captain named Pinto. Eleven
other carabinas were divided among various "settlers, Pueblo
Indians, and allied Utes and Comanches."28 Anza's summary

reveals the wide dispersal of these weapons:
In control of the Indians cited 25
8

At Laguna

Gifts for the wild Indians 10

Lost 11

Storage in armories 16
TOTAL 20029

2Tjuan Bautista de Anza, Reldcién de las carabinas
. « . de Nuevo México, Santa F§, October 28, 1787, AGN,
Provincias Internas 6§, Expediente 6, foja 9. This is a
copy of the original. Although the document does not so
siatgdspecificallg, t:ese carabinas presumably went to
alcaldes mafores or their confrol, not to individual Pueblo
Indian alcaldes. ’
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Viceroy Bernardo de G4lvez, who had been exposed to

frontier conditions and policy-making while serving as governor
of Loulsiasna during the war of the English colonles against
their mother country, promulgated extensive Iinstructions on
August 26, 1786, for a new and uniform Indian policy on the
northern frontlier. These called for "swift and vigorous
warfare with the Indlans who declared it, péace with those
who solicited it;, and an effort to win allies among the
warlike nations by spreading the use of Spanish foods,
drinks, weapons, and customs among them."30 Galvez urged
widespread use of the Indian auxiliary in New Mexico,
Sonora, and Nueva Vizcaya and observed that troops must
operate 1in those areas with the aid supplied them by both
Spanish settlers and the Indians of the pueblos.31

| Pueblo Indians were to be employed in conjunction
with other native allies for a unified campaign against the
Gila Apaches in the region of present southwestern New
Mexico and southeastern Arizona. According to the instruc-
tions of the new commandant-general, Jacobo Ugarte y Loyola,
Nava jos also were to join the Spanish troops, Pueblos, and

settlers of the province for this expedition. Governor Anza

30Bernardo de G4lvez, Instructions for Governing the
Interior Provinces of New Spain, 178, Donald E. Worcester,
Qlllivira Society Publications in Histo , Vol. XII]
(Berk ey: The Quivira Soclety, 1951), 23. Unique
recormendations to furnish firearms and livestock to the
hostlile Indlans are included in these instructions with the
objectlve of making them dependent upon the Spaniards.

311bid., pp. 69 and 72.
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was directed to purchase supplies for all the allies and to
send gifts, such as scarlet cloth and medals, to the Nava jos.
Additlonal horses and mules were sent to New Mexico épecifi-
cally for the Indian auxlliaries, and thelr use by the
soldlers of the regular militery forces was expressly
forbidden.32

For the Gllefio campaigns Pueblos generally comprised
a large part of the tLotal Spanish force. The expedition of
1786, involving a total of 235 men, included sixty Pueblo
Indians, twenty-two Comanches, and twenty-six Navajos.33 In
the following year a highly-organized general expedition under
Commandant -Inspector Joseph Antonlo Rengel and encompassing
resources from various provinces included ninety-nine Pueblos
among the 340 men from New Mexico. The expeditionary force
from that province met.at Laguna Pueblo, one of the thres
customery rendezvous points for westernméémpaigns, and was
organized in the following marching order:

1st Division

Troop of Santa F& (mounted)
Pueblo of Acoma (foot)
Comanches (mounted)

Settlers from Sandia (mounted)
Jicarilla Apaches (mounted)

TOTAL

32mhomas, Forgotten Frontiers, pp. 48, 54, and 269.

33Letter of the Commandant-General [Jacobo Ugarte y

Loyola], July 1786, AGN, Provincias Internas 65, Expedi-
ente 2, Paragraph [6.
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2nd Division

Troop of Nueva Vizcaya (mounted) 21

Settlers from Albuquerque (mounted) 22

Settlers from Santo Domingo (mounted) 20

Pueblo of Laguna (one mounted, others on foot)

Pueblo of Acoma (foot) 12

Settlers from Sandia (mounted) i
TOTAL 85

3rd Division

Troop of Nueva Vizcaya (mounted) 23
Settlers from La Cagiada (mounted) i
Settlers from Santa Fé (mounted) - 2
Settlers from Santo Domingo (mounted) 3
Pueblo of Zufil (foot) 25
TOTAL 86

Uth Division

Troop of Santa Fé (mounted) 13

Settlers from La Capiada (mounted) 25
Settlers from Santo Domingo (mounted) 13
Pueblo of Laguna (foot) 28
Pueblo of Zufii (foot) 5
TOTAL gl 3k

From this organizational plan it may be noted that
each division was now a separate army in itself, complete
with experienced regular troops and leaders from the
- presidios, settlers from Spanish jurisdictions, and Pueblo,
Jicarilla, and Comanche auxiliaries. Pueblo Indians, princi-
pally from the western villages of Zufil, Acoma, and Laguna,
st11l comprised the ma jor portion of the native allies, but
strangely they participated in this expeditionary force on

3hDiario de la campafia . ., . de Don Joseph Antonio
Rengel, October 21, 1787, AGN, Provincias Internas 128,
Expediente 2.
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foot in spite of the horses provided for their use. Perhaps
these animals dlspatched earlier from the south did not reach
them. The Comanche auxiliaries, on the other hand, had
120 horses, which completely surprised the Apache enemy.35
| Monetary payments were rendered to the friendly
tribes for théir assistance -n this expedition,36 and six
thousand pesos were sent, along with horses and carabinas,
for further campaigns of this typ6037 The agility and physical
stamina of the Pueblos was noted in 1788 by the new governor,
Fernando de la Concha, who admired the obedience of these
natives to his campaign summons.>8 As for the enemy, La
Concha was advised by Commandant-General Ugarte to save the
lives of his Apache prisoners so that they could be converted
to the Spanish way of 1life. This procedure, Ugarte observed,
would continue to reduce the number of enemies in this
regidn.39 It might be added that it would also continue to
Increase the number of potsntial auxiliaries supporting the
Spanish cause.

By the time La Concha became governor, there were

351b1d.

36Fernando de la Concha, Bando, Santa Fé, [17887],
SANM, Document 1025,

37Estado de . . . esta provincia, Santa Fé, June 20,
1788, AGN, Provinclas Internas 65, Expediente 7.

38pernando de la Concha, Informe, Afio de 1788, AGN,
Provincias Internas 25l.

39Jacobo Ugarte y Loyola to Fernando de la Concha,
Jenuary 23, 1788, SANM, Document 998.
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2,647 persons in Santa Fé, Santa Cruz, Keres, Alameda, and
Albuquerjue employed in military pursuits. In addition,

there were 2,35l Indian auxiliaries who were organized as

follows:
Cap-~- Lieu- Pri-
Jurlsdlction Pueblos ‘ tains tenants vates Number
Santa Fé Tesuque 1 1 50 52
La Cafiada Abiquit 1 1 5h c6
San Juan 1 1 7 %9
Santa Clare 1 1 2 i
San Ildefonso 1 1 85 87
Pojoaque 1 1 26 28
Nambé 1 1 0 L2
Picuris 1 1 5 57
Keres San Felipe 1 1 105 107
Santo Domingo 1 1 140 122
Cochiti 1 1 160 162
Santa Ana 1 1 115 117
21a 1 1l 120 122
Jémez 1 1 118 120
Alameda Sandia 1 1 ol 96
Albuquerque Isleta 1 1 90 92
Taos Taos 1 1 118 120
Laguna Laguna 1 1 20k 206
Acoma 1 1 2410 242
Zufii Zupii 1 1 29l 296
Pecos Pecos 1 1 95 97
9 Jurisdictions 21 Pueblos 21 21 2,312 2,35&#0

New practices and concepts, particularly pertinent
to the use of Indlan auxiliaries were evident after 1788.
Pueblos often are mentioned only incidentally on military
campalgns, and sometimes it appears that they did not

bOsgtado de . . . esta provincia, Santa Fé, June 20,
1788, AGN, Provincias Internas 65, Expediente 7. Note the
decline in relative strength from the older auxiliaries such
as those at Pecos, Tesuque, and Picuris.
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participate at all.ul Increasing use of Comanches, Navajos,
Utes, and converted Apaches may be noted. However, numerous
Pueblo Indians were included on special campalgns such as
Governor La Conchat's expedition of August through early
October, 1788. Like the earlier forays agailnst the Gila
Apaches, this effort was made not only to defeat the enemy
but also to drive him southward. The long-range objective
was to crush these hostile bands between Spanish and Indian
auxiliary forces from New Mexico in the North and similar
forces operating from Sonora and Nueva Vizcaya in the South.
With the final defeat of the Gilefios, New Mexlico would no
longer be 1isolated from the province of Sonora.

The campalgn 1itself is worth a detailed study because
it reveals the organization, employment, and flighting charac-
teristics of the native auxiliaries. When the governor
departed from Santa Fé on August 22, 1788, only sixty-four
presidials, eight Comanches, and eight Jicarilla Apaches
accompanied him. At each of his camping places~--Santo Domingo,
Alameda, and Isleta--he added friendlj Pueblo Indians and
settlers to his force. From Isleta he dispatched a scouting

expedition of twenty soldiers and an equal number of settlers

ulThe absence of Pueblo auxiliaries may be observed
in many documents for the era following 1788. An example ls
the Instrucciones al alférez Pablo Sandoval, Santa Fé
1y 1llj, 1790, SANM, Document 1087. See also La Concha to
Pedro de Nava November 1 1791, SANM, Document 1164(3) and
Ia Concha to Viceroy Revilila Gigedo, May 6, 1793, SANM,
Document 123l.
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(probably including some Pueblo Indians from that southern
'village since Spaniards did not normally reside in quantity
at Indian pueblos). This party was instructed to reconnoiter
the Ladrbén and Magdalena mountains southwest of Isleta and

then rejoin La Concha at Laguna Pueblo, the plaza de armas,

for the general campaign. The governor then proceeded to

that Keresan village where, at the end of August, he recruited
more allles, including Navajos, obtained cattle, horses, and
sheep for the sustenance of the expedition, and finally
organized his command into four basic elements. Although he
held & final review of his forces and equipment on August 28,
he failed to provide any muster rolls or other details which
would clearly indicate the strength and organization of his
expeditionary force.)"‘2

’ Despite the fact that the scouting unit returned
from 1its reconnaissance without finding the enemy, La Concha
departed from Laguna after mass had been said, leaving behind

two soldiers and four settlers who were reported to be 1ill.

He proceeded to Acoma Pueblo, where he also became ill, and
sent the troop on its way southward under the command of
Lieutenant Manuel Delgado. By September 2; however,

Ia Concha rejoined the force, and three days later he sent
forty~eight men ahead as sples or scouts under the leadership

of the Navajo (?) chieftain El Pinto. Upon encountering a

42pornando de la Concha, Diario, Santa Fé, November 19,
1788, AGN, Provincias Internas 193. Thls is a copy of the
original.
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band of Apaches in the Gila Mountainsg on September 10,
Ia .Concha observed that he could not restrain his Indian
 allies. They surged shead directly at the enemy, killing
eighteen of them and taking four prisoners. A few days later
the governor reported that some Taos Ind:i.an.'ia,“'3 who had
separated from the main army to follow the fleeing Apaches,
returned with a saddled horse, two Apache horses, and a
coyote girl whom they said the Apaches had held as a captilve.
The Taos war captain presented these prizes to the governor.uu

The expedition returned through Fray Cristobal on
the Rio Grande, where ILa Concha dismissed the Navajos and
Pueblo Indiansg of Jémez, Zia, and Santa Ana, before returning
to the capital on October 6. The governor reported favorably
on his impressions of the loyalty and éuffering experlienced
during the campalgn by the officers, troops, settlers, Pueblo
Indians, and other allies who had served as asuvxiliaries in
his army. Because of a lack of supplies and the poor state
of the horseherd, La Concha had curtailed the campaign.,u‘5
Although the results were not particularly outstanding,
the record of the expedition is Important for the information

it provides on the uses made of the native auxiliaries.

43The governor does not mention Teaos Indians as
part of the auxiliary force upon departing from Santa Fé.
Unless this was an error of omission, the only logical
place where they could have joilned the expedition was at Laguna.

u*La Concha, Diario, November 19, 1788, AGN,
Provincias Internas 193,

US1p14.
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The foray did succeed in driving the Gila Apaches southward
and at least temporérily away from the New Mexican settle-
ments.
During the six years of La Concha's administration
as governor progress in overcoming the menace of the numerous

indlos bérbaros is apparent. No longer was there any threat

to New Mexico from the northeast, east, north, or northwest.
Comanches, Utes, Navajos, and Jicarilla Apaches remained
~allied to the Spanlards throughout the period. Only in the
southwest, where there were occasional troubles with the
Gilefios, was there any notable hostility. Indeed, New Mexico
had reached a state of relative peace when compared to the
turmoil of the preceding decades. The quantity of cattle
and mules within the province increased markedly, and horses
were in plentiful supply by 17’91.)“'6 By the last decade of
the eighteenth century probably the greatest difficulty was
in maintaining unity among the auxiliaries since there were
long-standing hatreds of one nation for another. The antip-
athy between the Utes and the Comanches, by then nearly half
a century old, is an outstanding example of this difficulty,
but no serious problems seem to have arisen in this area.
Every effort must have been made to insure that these
rivalries did not flare up anew, thus jeopardizing the
tranquility of the province.

46La Concha to the Commendant-~General of the
Provinclas Internas del Oriente Pedro de Nava, Santa Fé
November 1, 1791, SANM, Document 116i1{3).
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Retaliatory campaigns continued against various
Apache bands. Raiding Natagé Apaches in the vicinity of
Tomé and Belén, south of Albuquerque, were pursued by fourteen
Indians from Isleta Pueblo, all mounted bareback, dﬁring
June, 1791,47 end Gila Apaches were followed in a more
extensive western campaiéﬁ in 1793. In this latter expedi-
tion forty Indians from Acoma and Laguna, led by the alcalde
mayor of the district, caught up with the fleeing hostilles
after a chase of some twenty-five mlles, but they were
ambushed by a band of twenty-two Apaches which attacked from
behind, killing three Pueblos and putting the rest to flight.t8
To punish the victorious Gilefios the governmor personally led
a large mllitary expedition composed of most of the regular
troops from the presidio, militia forces, and Indian auxil-
iaries (who served additionally as scouts) from the pueblos
of Taos, Laguna, and Jémez 49 Heavy snow and inabiilty to
locate any major groups of the enemy rendered the campaign
generally unsuccessful.

In his lengthy instructions prepared for his

successor, Fernando de Chacén, Governor La Concha provides

4Tra Goncha to Revilla Gigedo, Santa Fé, July 1,
1791, SANM, Document 1129.

ueLa Concha to Pedro de Nava, Santa Fé, April 30,
1793, SANM, Document 1231,

491b1d. Although the govermor states that the last-
named natives were "Tiguas," it is probable that he meant
Jémez Pueblos. He refers to that pueblo as an ally in this
campalgn during the course of his letter of November 19,
1793, to Pedro de Nava, SANM, Document 1266.
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an excellent and fairly complete analysis of the Indian
situation in New Mexico in 179L4. A Spanish alliance and
friendship had been maintained with the intrepid Comanches,
the Utes, the Jicarilla Apaches, and the Navajos since theilr
close relations with the Gila Apaches had been severed in
1786, but La Concha saw the need for continued warfare
against the one remaining enemy, the rebelllous Apache bands
variously known as Faraones, Mimbrefios, Gllerios, and Natagees.
He further noted the need for obtalning interpreters and
furnishing them with provisions. Outlining some of the

Indian hatreds and friendships, he cautioned the incoming

’
governor to be aware of them at all times. La Concha recom-
mended the continuance of the important practice of giving
the heathen tribes presents of clothing, hats, mirrors,
knives, cigars, oranges, and indigo whenever they visited
Santa Fé in peace.5°

Defense of the province received much of the outgoing
governor's attentlon. In this analysis La Concha reviewed
Anza's organization of militia companies under zlcaldes
mayores and lieutenants. He recommended that toth settlers
and Indians be considered for campaign duty, always desig-
nating the former by name and title and the latter only by
number. Evidently, like many of his predecessors, he had
become disillusioned with the role played by the settlers,
for he warned Chacédn not to give them enything other than

50La Concha, Instrucecién, Chihuahua, June 28, 179L,
AGN, Historia 41, Expediente 10, Paragraphs 3-10.
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arms and munitions even though they would often ask for
horses and provisions.51

Contrary to his impressions of the‘settlers, La Goncha
had nothing but the highest praise for the exemplary service
of the Pueblo Indians. He noted that they would never ask
for anything except the munitions to which they were
entitled, that they were truthful and obedient, and that they
did not steal. He further pointed out that the six Keres
pueblos should not be counted in the total native force
available for service since they meintained their own detach-
ment to resist the invasion ¢f the Apaches. From the
remaining total of the Christian Indians, however, the new
governor was advised that he should count on each individual
for fifteen days of military service every two years, whereas
the settlers were required to give only fifteen days every
six years.52

By the end of La Concha's administration in 1794
there was a notable change in the conditions within the
province of New Mexico.‘ For the first time in over a century
the region enjoyed an extended, relatively peaceful state.
The population began to increase at a more rapid rate, and
the livestock industry began to prosper. Crops could be
raised without fear that they would be stolen by hostile
Indlans or confiscated by campaigning troops. Certainly, all

511pid., Paragraphs 13-15.
Salbid., Paragraphs 15 and 23.
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of New Mexico's problems with marsauding Indians had not been
completely overcome by this time. They would not be solved
to such a degree for nearly another century. But it is
apparent that the resolution of the major difficulties with

the indios bdrbaros not only had preserved the province for

Spain but had insured that it would prosper in many respects.

| What had caused this ma jor lmprovement in the security
of the province? Why was New.Mexico.never agaln to experi-
ence the decline and uncertainty fo which it had been exposed
in 1776% One of the major reasons for this reversal was the
adoption of & sensible, consistently-enforced Indian policy.
This program was based not on immovation, but on a consoli-
dation of the technliques and practices learned by over a

century of experience.

The near pacification of New Mexico's enemy tribss
between 1776 and 1794 was achieved basically by the enforce-
ment of the general Indlan policy for the Provincias Internas.
This policy was formulated by Commendant-General Croix and
his Council at Chihuahua in 1778 and elaborated by Viceroy

G4lvez in his celebrated Instruccidn to Commandant-General

Ugarte in 1786. Basically, this policy called for effecting
an alliance with the powerful Gomgnches, intensifying their
war on the Apaches, turning the Apache bands against each
other, and waging a coordinated war of Spaniards and Indian
allies against the remalning hostile Apaches which would
annihilate them, force their complete surrender, or, at

least, reduce their capability to raid the settlements.
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In New Mexlco the main tenets of this policy were
successfglly carried out by Governor Anza., After twice
defeating the Comanches in battle, he succeeded by 1786 in
winning them to an allliance with the Spaniards, a reconcili-
ation with the Ute allies, and a revitallzed war on the
eastern Apache tribes. By the same year Anza had detached
the Navajos from their alllance with the Gila Apacheé in the
west, added them to the growing number of friendly nations,
and turned them against their former friends.53

One basic aspect of this 1oéa11y-developed general
policy was the continuous use of Pueblo Indian auxiliaries.
These loyal allies provided the strength and sustenance for
the defense of Spanlsh New Mexico. 1In addition, they attracted
the former enemles of the Spaniards, thus increasingly
augmenting the balance of forces in favor of the Europeans
and simultaneously rendering their own immediate role in the
pacification of the region less arduous. In Anza's successful
strategy the Pueblo auxiliaries were employed against the
hostile Apaches less directly than indirectly, as diplomatic
and military allies in inducing the Utes, Comanches, and
Nava jos to join the Spanish cause. 1In fact, for operations
against the recalcitrant Apaches, the Spaniards reiied less
on the Pueblo auxillaries than in the past and more on the

newly-won Indian allies.

53For a dlscussion of the basic policies of Croix
and Anza, see Thomas, Forgotten Frontiers, pp. 47-56 and

66-83.




CHAPTER VII
CONCLUSIONS

Spain spent a century after the beginning of the
reconquest of New Msxico in the establishment of the
securlty of the province from the widespread depredatlons of

the indios birbaros. The period from 1692 to 1794 was one

of trial and error in the formation of her Indian policy
for the Northern Frontler. Policies and practices were not
developed rapidly; experlence played a great part in the
growth of a standardized policy for dealing with the
aborigines who surrounded New Mexico. The use of Pueblo
Indian auxiliaries was one of the earliest techniques

developed and most consistently employed throughout the era.

SUMMARY
Repeatsd raids by hostile bands necessitated extensive
campalgning by Spanish forces to protect the settlements and
to punish the marauders. This study has treated the more
significant of these punitive forays chronologically,
indicating, as best as the records reveal, the use, recruit-
ment, organizatlon, leadership, and fighting qualities of

Pueblo auxiliaries. It might now be appropriate to synthesize
20
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these aspects by reconstructing a hypothetical campalgn in
which the Pueblo warriors were enlisted. It must be r«alized,
of course, that not all of the characteristics and pracilces
to be discussed were developed at any glven time or, indeed,
within a short period of years. Evolving from an initial
system, established to meet an immediate need during the
reconquest, they developed with mod;fications throughout the
course of the ensuing century.

What necessitated such a foray ageinst hostiles and
how did it commence? Generally, the campaign was either
punitive or preventative in purpose, to discourage the
cont inuous depredatiohs of nomadic bands on the settled
parts of the province. The root of the Spanish problem lay
in the cultural and economic differenceé between the Spanlards
and Pueblos on the one hand and the nomadic Indians on the
other. The latter depended upon what the former produced or
possessed and obtained by plundering what it was unable to
get by trading. From the Pueblos the "barbarians" took
food, livestock, and captives; from the Spaniards, horses
and firearms.

Friendly Pueblo informants, widely-distributed over
the province, reported these raids or the approach of the
marauders. Sometimes they came directly to Santa Fé, and at
other times they submitted their information through the
local alcaldes. On occasion they even wrote directly to

the governor. Once the complaint or report had been received
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in the capital, that Spanish officlal declided whether or not

to call a junta de guerra to consider the report and to

recormend what should be done to punish the offenders.
Occasionally, prominent Pueblo leaders, such as the cacigues
and war captains, were invited to participate in these
councils. Yet, the practice of consulting a Junta was not
followed religiously throughout the century. It was time-
consuming and frequently did 1little more than endorse the
governor's recommendations that the raid justified waging
war on the offenders.

Once the decision to conduct a campaign had been

reached either by the governor or the junta de guerra, the

former instructed the alcaldes mayores as to the quota of

men to be provided from each Indian jurisdiction, the number
of weapons and horses required, the time and place of
assembly, and the anticipated duration of the campaign.
Generally, the governor led the presidial and militia forces
from Santa Fé and collected other citizen militia and Pueblo
auxiliaries along his route to the designated rendezvous

point. The alcaldes mayores, acting through the individual

pueblo governors, cacigues, and war captains, recruited the
Christian Indians and assembled the horses and arms which
were regqlarly maintained within each jurisdiction to meet
the governor's requirements. When the necessary warriors and
equipment had been obtained at each villagé, they joined

forces and marched together to the mobilization center, each
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pueblo led by its own glcalde, cacique, governor, or more

frequently its war captains. In the first half of the
eighteenth century the entire body of auxiliaries from a
partlcular jurisdlction was under the overall command of an

Indian capitdn mayor de la guerra.

At the designated assembly point the Spanish presidials
and militlia joined the Pueblo auxiliaries. Here a final
muster was held as the governor reviewed his forces prepara-

tory to the departure upon the campaign. The plaza de armas,

or rendezvous point, was usually an Indian pueblo, particu-
larly one near the enemy's last reported position. Thus,

if the Comanches had created the immediate threat, the
assembly polint was usually at Pecos or Taos. If the punitive
campaign was against the Utes, the assembly was at Taos,
Abiquid, or San Juan. Western campaigns against the Navajos
or the Moquis departed from Jémez, Laguna, or Zufii. Expedi-
tions against the Apaches, however, were launched from a
variety of locations, depending upon the particular band
involved and thelr position at the time. Sandia Pueblo and
the Bernalillo district served as assembly points for the
campalgn against the Faraones in 1704, but later in the
century, after Comanche pressures had forced most of the
resisting Apaches southward, Isleta became the leading
rendezvous for the majority of the campaigns against the
southern Apaches, although Laguna and Acoma were used occa-

slonally for expeditions against the Gilefios in the soufchwest°
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The campaign itself usually involved a well-organized
force. Until the latter half of the eighteenth century the
expedition was divided into two basic elements: the Spanish
soldler-settler unit as one body and the Indian auxliliariles
as the other. The combined force was usually preceded by a
group, often quite large, of Pueblo scouts from the auxiliary
element which maintained a position three leagues or so in
front of the maln column, frequently reconnoitering the
advanced area as virtually independent bodles under the
leadership of their own war captains.

The basic expeditionary force remained at all times
under the overall control and command of the provincial
governor or his designated representative--eitper the
lieutenant governor, an officer from the presidio, or the

maestre del campo. During the early part of the century the

horseherds, livestock, and warriors of the auxiliary force
were not allowed to mingle with the regular soldiers and
militia. Separate camps were pitched at night for each of
the ma jor elements within the campaign force. In the latter
half of the century, especially in the last two decades,
this segregation seems to have been abolished. Perhaps the
presence of other native allies necessitated such a change
since the plagement of Comanches near Utes or the Pueblos
without the presence of Spanish troops would undoubtedly
have caused friction. At any rate the expeditions of Anza
and La Concha included auxiliaries integrated within a basic
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four-divisional organization. Each division included presidial
troops, citizen militia, and native allies--Fueblos, newly-

pacified Comanches, Utes, Jicarillas, Navajos, and even

genizaros. There were no longer any éapitanes mayores in
this period. Divisional officers were always Spaniards
appointed by the governor, usually from among the officers
of the presidial company but occasionally from the prominent
citizenry. 8%t111, natlive war captains led their own forces
within these baslc divisions.

Pueblo auxiliaries performed a variety of services
throughout these campaigns. Primarily, they constituted the
principal quantitative element in the total force, usually
over one-helf of the total number of men. On occasion the
proportion increased, especlally as the century advanced,
until it reached a maximum of seveﬁty-five to eighty-five
per cent of the expeditlionary force. In addition to this
ma jor function, Pueblo allies also served as scouts, spies,
masséhgers, and interpreters. Although no mention 1s made
of it 1n the records, these natives must have performed also
as guards for the horseherds and the droves of cattle and
sheep which usually accompanied the expeditions.

Pueblo auxillaries seem to have performed very well
in all of the capacltiles in which they were employed. Their
knowledge of both the terrain and the enemy made them invalu-
able as scouts. Their acquaintance with the languages of the

hostlile tribes obviously made them significant in parleys,
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conferences, and treaties. Most of all, however, they
performed and fought well in actual engagements with the
enemy. The Spaniards apparently never withheld them from
battle nor relegated them to a subsidiary or rear-guard type
of action. Instead, the opposite seems to have been the case
since Spanish commanders, upon encountering the enemy, had
difficulty restraining the enthusiasm of the auxiliaries.
Only when the expedltionary force was surprised, as at the
Platte River in 1720, d4id the Pueblos, like all the other
elements of the force, behave improperly. Then, when the
enemy warriors threatened to annihilate the entire expedi-
tion, the euxiliariles virtually disintegrated, retreating in
utter confusion. 1In circumstances in which the Spanish
authorities were in complete control, there was no reluctance
to use the auxiliaries in any phase of combat. Both military
and civil officials, and even the mlssionaries, frequently
noted the loyalty, willingness to serve, and the overall
value of Pueblo assistance on these campaigns.

Why did the Pueblo participate so willingly and so
extensiveiy on these campaigns? The answer appears to be
twofold. First, these expeditions provided him with an
opportunity to carry the warfare to his traditional enemy,
to chastise him for his raids, and to prevent his further
depredations. Second, they supplied the Pueblo with an
opportunity to share in the spoils of battle. After the
enemy had been defeated the Spanish commaender usually divided
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their possessions among the troops; and the Indian allies
shared along with the soldiers and settlers,'fréquently
recelving céptive warriors, weaponé of all types, horses,
other livestock, and supplies of food., Not only did they
recover their own animals but also some of thelr own people,
who had been captured by the marauding enemy. Profitable as
these rewards for participation on Spanish campaigns may seem,
there were stlll other incentives in the form of privileges,
titles, and speclal recognition to the exceptionally valorous
warriors and thelr leaders. Moreover, by the latter half of
the century, the Spanish authorlties made auxiliary service
even more attractive by distributing regularly anmual presents
to the loyal alliles,

When a campaign had been concluded and the Spbils
divided, the Pueblo auxiliaries were dismissed and returned
expeditiously to thqir villages. This demobllization seems
to have occurred elther at the original plaza de armas or at
the first pueblo encountered on the return route. The Spanish
element, soldiers and militia, continued to Santa Fé or to
their yeSpective jurisdiections under the overall commander
of the expedition, whereas Pueblos were detached to return
to their villages under their own native leaders. The arrival
of the governor or hls designated representative in ﬁhe

capital marked the conclusion of the campaign.
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CONCLUSIONS

Pueblo Indian auxiliaries pérformed'a‘major role in
the Spanish reconquest and pécification of New Mexico In the
late seventeenth and most of the eighteenth century. As
the constant allies of the Spanlards, these loyal mercenariles
coﬁtributed to the defense of the province in many ways.
They served repeatedly on campaigns against the hostlle tribes
which surrounded the province. Also, they accompanied
misslonaries and Spanish officials on expeditions to aborig-
inal groups not yet converted to the Iberian way of 1life.
They served as interpreters and informants, demonstrating
both their knowledge of Castilien and their fidelity to the
Europeans. In addition, they contributed to the sustenance
of campaign forces, providing food, horses, and other live-
stock as needed. Thelr economic assistance was as valuable,
perhaps, as thelr milltary ald in the establishment of
tranquility within the province.

Yet, one must remember that Pueblos were not the
only auxiliaries used by Spain in the expansion of her
authority in the Americas. The practice of relying upon
Indlan auxiliaries was widely-employed throughout the
Spanish colonilal period in almost all of her kingdoms. Nor
was this the only technique used in dealing with the natives
encountered in the New World. The use of missionaries, the
establishment of presidios, the extension of Spanish govern-

mental institutions to Indian commnities, the retention of
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native political structures under the control of designated
Spaniards, and the employment of certain tribes, like the
Tlaxcalans and Otomies, to coloﬁize remote problem areas,
all were practices resorted to by Spanish authorities in the
control and assimilation of varioﬁs aboriginal elements.
The use of Pueblo Ihdians, although an important aspect of
the reliance upon auxiliaries, is only an 111ustrationAof
one commonly-adopted technique in one restricted area of the
Spanish Empire.

Was the system of employing Pueblo auxiliaries for
New Mexlco's defense a good one? Naturally, the answer to
such a question must involve many factors, including an
understanding of problems encountered gnd other means available
to solve these difficulties at that time. Above all, it is
necessary to weigh the strengths and weaknesses of the prac-
tice.: | |

The greatest beneflit Spain derived from her close
affiliation with the Pueblos was the establishment of unity
in a provinee formerly torn by internal dissension and
native hatred for the conquerors. This early dis-unity, so
promihent in the seventeenth century, ultimately resulted in
4%ﬂéwg;bulsion of the Spaniards frdm New Mexico for nearly a
dozen years. Beginning with the reconquest, Pueblos gradually
were attracted to the cause of the Iberians, thus forming a
nucleus for future development and expension. Without the

unification of the Pueblos and their subseqguent assoclation
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with the Spaniards, Spain cculd not have controlled New
Mexico with the limited resources she maintained in that
area, Except for rare occasions in the early part of the
period when conspiracies were reported, Spain in the eighteenth
century never again had ﬁb‘worry about her Pueblo allies
rebelling agalnst her imposed authority.

To achieve this unity Spanish authorities rewarded
Pueblo Indlans with titles, recognition, privileges, gifts,
and the spolls of batfie. Of singular importance in this
regard is the Spanlsh permission for Pueblos to carry fire-
arms and ride horses almost continuously throughout the
century after the reconquest. Although there is no docu-
mentary evidence to indicate that these privileges were
officially sanctioned by authorities in Spain, they were so
widely-recognized by governors, missionaries, military
officers, and visiting officials that it became an accepted
fact for Buéblos to be armed and equipped like the presidials
and settlers of New Mexlco. Therefore, the generally-
accepted statement that Spain prohibited natives within her
empire from riding horses and carrying firearms is, indeed,
not true for New Mexico.

Pueblo auxiliarles served as the most consistently
reliable element in the pacification of hostile tribes and
the defense of New Mexico during the eighbeenth century. The
presidlal force at Santa Fé, numbering only eighty troops

during the ma jor portion of this era, was too small to control
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the province adequately by itself. Militia forces were
unraliable, poorly-equipped, and often untrained and
undisciplined. From Vargas to La Concha, authorities
complained of the reluctance of the settlers to serve in
the defense of the province. At the same time they praised
the 1oyaity, self-denial, and military preparedness of the
Pueblos in fulfilling their obligations to defend the kingdom.
Of unusual importence is the fact that both civil and
religious authorities seemed to agree that the natives
contributed greatly to the defense of the province.

Hostlle tribes gradually joined the Spanish-Pueblo
side, Attracted by the privileges granted to the Pueblos,
the nomadic elements realized that they, too, could share in
the benefits accruing to their traditional enemies. In
addition, alliance with the Spaniards did not mean that these
nomads must discontinue their warlike practices. Instead, it
provided an opportunity to continue fighting, but on the
side of the Iberlans and Pueblos against a dwindling number
of rebellious tribes. Toward the end of the century, it is
svident that Spaln actually subsidized her allies, providing
them arms, horses, and even cash payments for assistance
rendered.

Another great strength of the Spanish'system of
employing Pueblo auxiliaries was the acceleration of cultural
interchange between the two groups of people. The association

of Spaniards with Pueblos on campaigns, visits, and



252

inspections facilitated the assimilation of the Pueblos and
the growth of a homogeneous population, basically devoted to
agricultural development, throughout the province. Evidence
of this trend 1s provided by the more rapid increase of the
general population in the last three decades of the century,
whereas Pueblo Indian numbers increased only slightly.
Since immigration into the province was never very great, the
only logical explanation for this increase lies in the
expansion of the mestizo element. ith the establishment and
growth of such a society, New Mexico became a region where
mixed-bloods dcminated and the economic pursuits of both
Spanish settlements and Indian pueblos closely resembled each
pther .

Nevertheless, desplte these many strengths in the
use of Pueblo auxiliaries, there were drawbacks to such a
system. The greatest weakness may be observed in the relative
lack of success experienced by individual campaign forces.
Only in a comparatively few instances were these expeditions
successful enough in chastising the enemy to compensate for
their extensive preparations. The system of employing native
auxiliaries in conjunction with presidials and settlers
necessltated long delays in the execution of particular
campaigns. It took time for all the elements to be advised,
recrulted, equipped, and assembled prior to their departure
In pursuit of the marauding enemy. These delays of weeks,

sometimes months, allowed the enemy to scatter, thus weakening
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the effect of the planned expeditlion to chastise them. Also,
in the time so consumed, other hostile trilbes struck elsewhere
on New Mexlco's frontilers, requiring diversionary efforts by
Spanish-Pusblo foreces and further delaying the expedition
against the original enemy. .

Pueblo participation on Spanish military campailgns
probably intensified the hatreds of hostile tribes for the
Spaniards. Traditional native antipathies of one tribe for
another only increased when it was realized that Spanish
authorities were using Pueblos against the enemy as a means
for their reduction. Thus, the struggle may have been
prolonged, rather than shortened, since Pueblos were allowed
the spolls of battle after the nomadic tribes had been
defeated; and rewards were offered for captives, heads, and
ears. No doubt this practice led the enemy to choose
resistance since the consequences of defeat were so severe.

Certainly, there wers other weaknesses in the system
of using Pueblo auxillaries. Absence on campaigns injured
the harvests and domestic pursults of the sedentary natives.
Likewise, it reduced the number of Indians left to defend
the pueblos, thus exposing them to attacks by other tribes
or even by the same enemy should he be successful in eluding
the original campalign force. All this military activity
establlished a focus upon the pueblos since they were the
rendezvous and provisioning points designated by the

Spaniards. As a result, there was a continual drain on
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their agricultural resources and their stock-raising industry.
Like all mercenaries on campaigns, the Pueblos were often
difficult to control. Thelr enthusiasm occasionally knew no
bounds once the enemy was in view. In addition, once the
Spaniards lost the advantageous element of surprise, it 1s
obvious that the Pueblos were of wo great value, fleeing in
disorganized, full-scale retreat. It must be noted finally
that the employment of Pueblo auxiliaries may have had an
effect upon the social and political structures of their own
villages. Naturally, duty as an auxiliary increased the
prestige of individual native military leaders, enhancing
their position relative tc the traditional Pueblo chieftains.

Thus, the positions of war captain and capitéin mayor de la

guerra, became much more influential than those of the native
governor, the cacique, or the Indian alcalde. It appears
that the military and civil positions were sometimes combined
as a result. On occasion, the overbearing attitude developed
by auxiliaries seems to have been demonstrated within indi-
vidual pueblos, further unbalancing the former social struc-
ture.

Even though there were identifiasble weaknesses in the
system of employing Pueblo auxiliaries, the technique was a
highly realistic, practical one for the defense of New
Mexico. Without the assistance of these allies, the province
could not have been reconquered in the last decade of the

seventeenth century. At that time only a portion of the
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Pueblo Indlans served as the sole auxillaries of the Spanlards.
In the early decades of the following century these natives
were first unified in support of the Spanish cause. Then
they were organized effectively, after much experimentation
and vacillatlion. Finally, near mid-century, they were
Integrated into an overall defensive concept for the province
created by Governor Vélez Cachupin; later they were combined
with the nomadie trilbes they had attracted so that all could
serve as auxiliaries. By 179l the Pueblos were only one of
the many native allies employed by Spain in the defense of
New Mexico, and their role in relation to the newer auxil-
laries was in decline.

Throughout the period 16§2-179h Pueblo Indians
constantly contributed to the stabilization and pacification
of the Spanish Emplire in America. Their extensive support
of the Spanlards in the remote province of New Mexico,
especially through their service as Indian auxiliaries,
helped to reconquer, control, and defend the province.
Gradually they aided in pacifying this northernmost interior
province, not only directly through their military aid but
indirectly by attracting the resisting tribes to the Spanish-
Pueblo alliance. Thils constructive contribution of the
Pueblos has largely been ignored by historians and the
general public. Instead, their interest has been devoted to
fhe destructive acts of the Pueblos in overcoming the

Spaniards during the great rebellion of 1680. The loyalty,
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courage, constan¢y, and organizational ability.of the Pueblo
auxiliaries in the century following the reconquest are more
notable aspects of thelr character, however, than their
destructive tendencies in the expulsion of the Spaniards.
Indeed, their aid was invaluable to the Spanish soldiers and
settlers of the eighteenth century and was a positive

contribution to the defense and pacification of New Mexico.

EPILOGUE

Spanish employment of Pueblo auxiliaries did not end
in 1794. It continued until the end of the colonial period,
although authorilies relied principally upon the Comanches,
Utes, Navajos; and some Apache bands to combat local threats
" as they arcse. Often in the period from 1794 to 1821 4iffi-
culties were experienced with the Navajos themselves. When
this occurred, Pueblos were once again recruited to join
other friendly Indlan allies in campaigns against the
rebellious bands. Thus, even though'one of the allled tribes
would desert the Spanish cause temporarily, the remainder
were always sufficient to chastlse the dissident.alements.

As a last resort Spain could always fall back on the
faithful Pueblos for military and economic assistance in

subduing the indios birbaros. Usually these native allies

accompanied other auxiliaries, as in the last decades of the
elghteenth century, but on occasion they alone participated
with their Spanish allies, both presidials and militia, in

retaliatory expeditions. In addition, they often conducted



257
their own forays against the enemy. Essentially, all of
these practices‘had originated in tne preceding century.

Over the course of the last three decades of Spanlsh

ogcupation in New Mexico there were long periods of relative
peace énd tranquility. After 1804, however, sporadic efforts
were necessary to suppress rebelllous bands of Navajos, but
Spanish control over the far-flung reaches of the province
was not seriously jeopardized either by these recalcitrants
in the west and northwest or by the Gilefio, Faraén, Mescalero,
and Natagé Apaches in the south. To combat these latter
threats Spanish officials continued to rely upon a nucleus
of regular troops froﬁ the Presidio of Santa Fé, the citizen
militia from the settlements of the Rio Grande, and an over-
whelming majority of native auxiliaries, offen including the
Pueblos as alllies in this task. Muster rolls of the New
Mexico militia, although they do not depict that the auxil-
iaries were officially a part of that body, reveal that there
were 199 Indians at the four villages of Sandia, Cochiti,
San Fellpe, and Santo Domingo who were mounted and armed and
over three hundred who were armed but not mounted. However,
the total number of firearms for these same communities seems
to have remained low, being only seventy-six as of 1806.%

For their performance as loyal allies Pueblos and

cther natives received rewards or gifts of commercial articles

1Revista de Nuevo México San Carlos de Alameda,
July 19, 1806, SANM, Document 1955
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and clothing. The interim governor of New Mexico was advised
in 1810 to use all possible means to acquire and maintain
their friendéhip, but particularly he was to offer gifts and
trads goods which the aborigines especially appreciated.z
It is evident that Indian auxiliaries also received food
when on campaigns (although 1t may have been thelr own in
the first place) because cattle were slaughtered to provide
meat for them.> The policy of giving presents, which was
reported to have been initiated by.Anza but which had been
in exlistence under Vélez Cachupin nearly thirty years earlier,
was continued for all tribes. These gifts included coats
and blue capes with red lapels for the chlefs, three~cornered
hats, medals, food, and wineﬁu

Not all of the expeditions undertaken by the Spaniards
and their Indian auxiliaries were successful, but some must

have achleved their objectives, for it was noted in 1810

2Ne‘mesio Salcedo, Commandant-General to Interim
Governor Joseph Manrrique Chihuahua, HMay 1& 1810, SANM,
Document 2321,

3Sergeant José Alaxi, Cuenta, March 7, 1810, SANM,
Document 229

g6 1 hP:drg Bgu:i;ta Ping E;posicién sucinta y sencilla
€ la provincila de uevo México z: Imprenta de

Estado Mayor General, 1812), found in AGI, Ggadalajara 561.
This printed document is included within the cited tomo
itself., ©Ses also the translation of it in H. Bailey Carroll
and J. Villasana Haggard (trans. ), Three New Mexico Chronicles:
The Exposicién of Don Pedro Bautista ino; The Ojeada of

Iic. %ntonio Barreiro and the Additions by Don José
Agustin de Escudero, i8 Qulvira a Society Pu511ca§T3hs

Vol. XI] (Albuquerque: The Quivira Society, 19
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that San Juan Pueblo had on display the heads of three
Apaches taken on a foray of that year.5
By 1812 it was necessary to maintain 1,500 men under
arms within the province. These consisted of the "veteran
company" at the Presidio of Santa Fé, militia, and auxlliaries.
The "veteran company" was composed of 121 troops, of which
thirty always guarded the horseherd, fifteen were on guard
duty in the capital, seven were at Sevilleta to watch the
Apache freontier, and the scattered remainder were supported
at the expense of the settlers. To augment these inadequate
forces, militiamen were organized into three companies, each
commanded by a captain. They were recruited from the citi-
zenry since each person (including Indians) was obligated to
serve an annual tour of duty without pay. Each had to
furnish his own horses, muskets, pistols, bows and arrows,
end provisions for a forty-five day tour wﬁich was sometimes
extended in length to two or three months.6
During the first two decades of the nineteenth century
a new threat to the Spanish occupation of New Mexico appeared.
The continued presence of foreigners and the increased

activity of the norte americanos from the United States

necessitated the dispatoh of many combined expeditions to

determine their whereabouts. One such reconnaissance in

SManrique to Salcedo, Santa Fé, July 16, 1810,
VSANM Document 2339.

6Pino Exposicién sucinta . . . del Nuevo México,
pp . .l-,-'--zo ° ’
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1817, for example, consisted of twenty-nine mounted Indlans
and twenty-three natives on foot, armed with thirty-three
firearms, thirty-nine lances, and an unstated number of bows
and arrowso7

By 1819 Pueblo Indian auxiliaries had been organized
into both cevalry and infantry companies as depicted\at
Cochiti.8 To combat Nava jo hostiles over the next three
years native allies from Jémez and Zufil were employed in
conjunction with settlers from various areas in the Rio
Aba jo district.? Jémez contributed greatly to these Nava jo
campalgns. Alcalde Ignaclo Maria Sénchez Vergara maintained
constant direect cormunication with the governor, advising
him of expeditionary activities and complying with the
orders he received from the capital. Interpreter Antonio
Garcia of Jémez alded the Spanish forces on various military
operations, and auxiliaries from Zfa and Santa Ana made their
rendezvous with Jémez Indians at that pueblo before their

departure on a campaign to the west.l® The expeditionary

. TaAlfred B. Thomas (ed.), Documents Bearing on the
Nortnern Frontier of New Mexico, 1818-1819 (Santa F&, 1929).

This 1s & reprint of the author's article in the NMEHR.

8compasiia de caballeria y infanteria, Alcaldia de
Cochiti, November 5, 1819, SANM, Document 2857.

9see the Respuestas de Socorro, Sevilleta, Belédn,
Tomé, Jémez, Taos, etc., September 18-November 16, 1818
SANM, Document 27&7. See also Respuestas de las alcaldlas
de Belén, Albuquerque, Alameda, Cochiti, Jémez, etc., May 5-
22, 1819, SANM, Document 2812,

1°Ignacio Maria Sédnchez Vergara to Governor Allande,
Jémez, June 29, 1818, SANM, Document 2728.
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force of lsallagainst the Navajos also assembled at Jémez
Pueblo. It included 225 men in all, armed with 136 muskets,
150 lances, 3,625 arrows, 141 horses, and 126 mules. 1l

The use of Pueblo Indians as auxiliaries did not
end with the Spanlish withdrawal from North America in 1821
and the creation of an independent Mexico. Although troubles
with the hostlle Indians in New Mexico were not as serious
as those of the previous century, when the province had been
under Spanish administration, Pueblo Indlans were occa-
sionally employed by the Mexlcan govermnment to combat
rebellious Nava jo and Apache bands over the next twenty-five
years. Principal reliance, however, seems to have been
placed upon Comanche allies.t2 Yet, retaliatory expeditions
against these nomadic elements frequently included both
Pusblo Indians and Mexicen citizens.l3 TIn addition, the
pueblos of Santo Domingo and San Juan furnished military
ald to the governor of the province in his efforts to
suppress inﬁernal disturbances, such as the anti-centralist
insurrection of 1837.1}+

For three decades after the occupation of New Mexico

by United States forces Pueblo Indians continued to serve as

1lgstado general . . . en el pueblo de Jémez, SANM,
Document 2994.

12Bancroft, History of Arizona and New Mexice, p. 315.

spicer, Cycles of Conquest, p. 169.

1""Bancr-o:f‘i:, History of Arizona and New Mexico, p. 317.
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auxiliaries. They aided Colonel A. W, Doniphan and Major
William Gilpin in the pacification of the Navajos in late
18)_;,6,15 and in 1849 they joined in another expedition, led
by Colonel John MO.WaShington, against the same peOple.16
By that time the Unlited States had declded to furnish the
Pueblo Indlans with arms and ammunition so as to defend
themselves against the Navajo ralds, but they were now
prohibited from attacking their less-civilized enemies
1ndependent1y.17

That Pueblo Indlan auxiliaries were still considered
useful by United States authoriiies as late as 1868 is
evident from the recommendations mecde in that year by John
Ward, a speclal Indian agent in New Mexico, to the Indlan
Peace Commission. To resolve the "Navajo question" and to
control the raids of these hostiles eastwafd, Ward suggested
that fifteen Pueblo Indians or an equal number of peacefully-
disposed Navajos be employed as auxiliaries at each post
in a proposed line from the San Juan River to Fort Bayard
or Fort Cummings, thus establishing a defensive barrier west

of the Rio Grande and keeping the Navajos on their assigned

151bid., pp. 42l-422.

lélbid., p. 40. PFull details on the use of Pueblo
auxiliaries in this expedition may be found in Frank McNitt
(ed.), Navaho Expedition: Jourpal of a Military Reconnaissance
from Santa Fe, New Mexico to ths Navaho Country Made in 18L9
p% Licutenant James H. Simpson (Norman: University of
Oklahoma Press, 1964).

l7Sp1cer, Cycles of Conguest, p. 170.




263

regervation., These auxiliaries would serve principally as
guides, scouts, trail-followers, and messengers. Each was
to be properly armed and furnished two good horses. Ward
further recommended that the United States gdvernment pay,
feed, and clothe these allies and select one of their best
warriors as their commander. The auxiliaries, he felt,
should be housed in separate quarters, be treated kindly so
as to galn their confidence, and be employed for a six to
twelve-month period. He concluded that: .

« « o overy post in the Indian country, particu-
larly in this territory, ought to have such an auxillary
force, for there can be no doubt that once they enter
thoy can bs mads very usetal 18’ 0 T Per management

As the frequency and extent of Indian depredations

in New Mexico were reduced in the twenty years following the
Civil Wér,.the need for Pueblo Indian auxiliaries diminished
accordingly. Navajos, despite the frequent raids to secure
food, horses, and other livestock in the early 1870's, were
essentially pacified by the middle of that decade. Apache
difficulties no longer threatened the Rioc Grande Valley, and
their hostile bands were gradually eliminated, resettled on
reservations, or pushed southward and westward into the Gila

River area of present southwestern Neﬁ Mexico and southeastern

Arizona. By 1886 the last Apache resistance from the

1850hn Ward, Special Indian Agent, to Hon. S. F.
Tappan, Indian Peace Commissioner, Santa F6, August L, 1868,
Letters Recelved by the Office of Indian Affairs, 1824-81
MSS, New Mexico Superintendency, National Archives, Micro-
copy 234, Roll No. 555.
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Chiricahua, Mimbres, and Mogollones bands had been over-
whelmed. After two hundred years of employment by three
separate governments, there was no longer any need for the
Pueblo Indian asuxiliary in the defense and pacif’ication of

New Mexlico.



SOURCES CONSULTED
MANUSCRIPT MATERIALS
Frimary

The great majority of the primary manuscript material
used in this study has been examined at the New Mexico
Archives, Santa F§é, and at the University of New Mexico
Library, Albuquerque. Major attentlion has been devoted
to the Spanish Archives of New Mexico (SANM). The
original manuscripts of this collectlon are maintained
in Santa Fé, and photostatic copies exist in the Coronado
Room of the University of New Mexico Library. A second
ma jor archive consulted was the Archivo General de la
Nacién (AGN) in Mexico City, although it was not neces-
sary to visit Mexico City since photostatic copies of

pertinent documents exist at the University of New Mexico.
Also, simllar copies of documents from the Archivo

General de Indias (AGI), Sevilla, Spain, and the Bibli-
oteca Nacional de México (BNM), Mexico City, were examined
in the Coronado Room in Albuquerque. Two of the manu-
scripts from the AGI were provided by my director,

Dr. Max L. Moorhead, of the University of Oklahoma, from
265
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his own research. Manuscripts are arranged below by
archlve, beginning with the Spanish ones, then_the

Mexicen, and finally the New Mexican archives. One, .
document from the microcopy of the National Archives,

Washington, D. C maintained at the University of

v
Oklahoma Library, Norman,‘is included in this category.
Within each archive, manuscripts are arranged, first, in
alphabetical order, and, second, in chronological order

under each alphabetized entry.
A. Archivo General de Indias, Seville, Spailn.

Cuervo y Valdés, Francisco, to His Majesty [Philip V],
Santa F8, July 13, 1706. Guadalajara 116,
Number 250.

.to His Majesty, Santa F§, n. d. Guadalajara
116, Number 261.

Medine, Roque de. Extracto de la revista de inspec~-
cién a la comparifa de indios Pimas de San
Rafael de Buenavista en los dias 22 y 23 de
Noviembre de 1785, San Rafael de Buenavista,
Noxember 26, 1785. Guadalajara 521 (104-5-
23).

. Extracto de la revista de inspeccibdn execu-
tada por ml dn. Roque de Medina, Teniente
Coronel de cavalleria y'Auyadan%e Inspector
de Presidios, en virtud del orden del sr. dn.
Josef Antonlo Rengel, Caballero del orden de
Santiago, Coronel de Infanteria de los resales
Exércitos de S. M., Comandante Inspector de
las tropas reglades y de milicias, que sirven
en estas Provincias Internas de Nueva Espafia,
¥y Comandante General interino de ellas a la
Compafila de Opatas de San Miguel de Bavispe
en los dias [sic] 16 de Enero de 1286, San
Miguel de Bavispe, January 21, 1786. Guada-
la jara 521 (104-5-23).

Ugarte y Loyola, Jacobo, to Marqués de Sonora, Chihuahua
June 1, 1786. éuadalajara 521 (104-6-23).

1
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B. Archivo General de la Nacién, Mexico City. Photostatic
coples in the Coronado Room, ’University cf New Mexico

Library, Albugquerque.

‘Aguilar, Alfonso Rael de, Protector General, Certifi-
cate, Santa F&, January 10, 1706. Provincias
Internas 36, Expediente 5.

. Protector general de los indios naturales
y de sus pueblos, Santa Fé, January 6, 1707.
Provincias Internas 36, Expediente 1.

Anzs, Juan Bautista de. Relacibn de las carabinas
destinados para asuxilios de los vecindarilos
de esta Provincila del Nuebo México recibidas
en 7 de Abril de 1786, Villa de Santa Fé
October 28, 1787. Provincias Internas 65,
Expediente’ 6.

Bonilla Lieutenant Colonel Antonio. Puntas historicas
’ sobre Nuevo México, Afioc de 1776. Historia 25,
Expediente 7.

Copia deGYgstrugcibn que dejo gn Tomds Vélez Cachupin,
rnador del N su sucesor
DR Francisco h& ggvgeg 6 1%s.° Pgovincigs
Internas 102, Expediente 2, Fojas 270 ff.

Cuervo y Valdés, Francisco, to Viceroy Duque de
Alburquerque Santa Fé, May 18, 1705. Provin-
cias Internas 36, Expediente 5.

to Viceroy Duque de Alburquerque, Santa F§é,
September 23, 1706. Provincias internas 36
Number L, Fojas 149-150.

Diario de la campafia que sale de la villa de Santa Fé
del Nuevo México & las ordenes del Comand
Ynsp©Y Don Jph. Antonio Rengel, October 21
1787. Provincias Internas 128 Expediente 2.

Diario y derrotero que hizo el Sargento Mayor Juan de
Ulibarrl de la jornada que executo ds orden
del Sefior Gobernador y Capitén General de
este Reino Don Francisco Cuerbo y Valdés,

Afio de 1706. Provincias Internas 36, Expedi-
ente l.

Diligencias hechas por el sargento mayor Juan de
Ulibarri a pedimiento de parte sobre lo ane
en ellas se expresa, Afio de 1708. Prov'wn:las
Internas 36, Expediente 2.
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Estadc general y particular del numero de familias y
personas que contlenen los veinte y dos
pueblos de indios reducidos del Reyno del
Nuevo México, como consté de la revista, y
visita general que hizo en el afio de 17§2 su
Gobernador Don Thomds Vélez Cachupin. Provin-
clas Internas 102, Expediente 3, Foja 1.

Estado general y particular del numerc de familias y
personas que contienen las 16 poblaciones
espafioles, y gente de razbétm establecldas, y
pobladas en el Reyno del Nuevo México desde
su consta como constd de la revista, y visita
general que hizo en 81, el afio de 1752 su
Governador Lon Thomés ﬁélez Cachuping
asimismo corsta en 61 las establecidas en el
Real Presidio del Passo del Norte que consta
de una compafiifa de 50 soldados de & cavallo.
Provincias Internas 102, Expediente 2, Foja 2.

Estado gque manifiesta el numero des vecinos e indios
que tiene esta provincia capaces de tomar
armas, Santa Fé, June 20, 1788. Provincias
Internas 65, Expediente 7, Foja 28.

Expedicibn de Anza y Muerte de Cuerno Verde, Augzust
and September, 1779, Santa Fé, November 1,
1779. Historia 25, Fojas 267-288.

Flores Mogollén, Juan Ignacio, Santa Fé, January,
1713[?]). Provincias Internas 36, Expediente 3.

Galve, Conde de, to Diego de Vargas, May 28, 1692.
Historia 38, Expediente 1.

Informe del Padre Fray Alonso de Posadas sobres[sic]
las tierras del Nuevo México. Historia 3.

La Concha, Fernando de. Diario de la campéfia que
executd desde la Prov & del Nuevo México contra
los Apaches Gllefios, el Governador de aquella
Provincia DR Fernando de la Concha; empezado
en 22 de Agosto y concluido en 6 de Octubre
de 1788. Provincias Internas 193.

... Informe general del govermador del Nuevo
México sre. el estado de aquella provincia,
Afio de 1788. Provincias Internas 25l.

. Instruccién formada por el Coronel Don
Fernando de la Concha, Gobernador que ha sido
de la Provincia del Nuevo México para que su
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sucesor el Teniente Coronel Don Fernando
Chacdn adapte de ella lo que le paresca
combenlente a bien tranquilidad y fomento de
la misma Provincia, Chihushua, June 28, 179L.
Historia J1, Expediente 10, Fojas 1-26.

La Pefiuela, Marqués de, to Juan de Ulibarri, Santa F§,
September 6, 1709. Provincias Internas 36,
-Expediente 3.

. Orden, Santa P4, December 8, 1709. Provin-
clas Internas 36, Expediente 3. (Another copy
exists in SANM, Document 157).

to Virrey, Santa Fé, January 26, 1710.
Provincias Internas 36, Expediente 3.

Letter of the Commandant General [Jacobo Ugarte y
Loyola], July, 1786. Provincias Internas 65,
Expedlente 2. :

Morfi, Fray Juan Agustin de. Descripeisn gecgréfica
del Nuevo México, Afio de 1782. Historia 25,
Expediente 6.

O'Conor, Hugo. Plan, Carrizal, March 2l, 1775.
Provincias Internas 87, Expediente 5.

Pdez Hurtado, Juan, to the Governor and Captain
General [Marqués de la Pefiusla], Santa F§,
October, 1707, in Diligencias hechas por el
sargento mayor Juan de Ulibarrli . . . , Afio
de 1708. Provincias Internas 36, Expediente 2.

Reconquista del Reyno del Nuevo México. Historia 39,
Expediente 3.

Testimonio de los autos de guerra de la reconquista
del reyno y Provincias de la Nueva México.
Historia 38, Expedlentes 1-3.

Valverde, Antonio de, to Marqués de Valero, [El Paso],
May 27, 1720. Historia 394, Document 20.
(Copy in the SANM, Document 308).

Vargas, Dliego de. Diario. Historia 38.

__. Diario despues de veinte de Septiembre, Afio
de 169l4. Historia 39, Expediente 3.

Vélez Cachupin, Tom4s. Informe, February, 1762.
Provincilas Internmas 102, Expediente 2, Foja 172.
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Biblioteca Nacional de México, Mexico City. Photo-
statlic copies in the Coronado Room University of New
Mexico Library, Albuquerque.

Escalanis, Fray Sllvestrs de. Noticlas de lo acaecido
en la custodia de la conversién de San Pablo
en el Nuevo Méxlco sacadas de los papeles que
se guarden en el archivo de la willa de

- Santa Fé empilezan deade el afio Ge 1673.
Legajo 1, Document 2.

Flores Mogollén, Juan Ignaclo. Auto, Santa Fé,
July 5, 171h. Legajo €, Document 16. ~(Copy
in the SANM, Document 207).

Interrogatorio de 1711-1712 y respuestas de indics,
Afio de 1711, Legajo 6, Document L.

Mendinueta, Pedro Fermin de, to Vicerog Antonio Maria
de Bucareli, Santa Fé March 2 1772.
Legajo 10, Part 1.

Spanish Archives of New Mexico, Santa Fé, New Mexico.
Photostatic coples also available in Ccronedo Room,
University of New Mexico Library, Albuquerque.

Alexi, Sergeant José. Cuenta de gastos, March 7,

1810. Document 2296.

Alburquerque, Duque de. Mandamiento, México, July 30,
1706. Document 12,

to Marqués de 1la Pefiueia, Méxlco, July 8,
1708. Document 1L43.

to the Governor and Captain General Pefiuela,
México, December L, 1708. Document 152.

to Marqués de la Pefiuela, November, 1710.
Document 161.

Altamira, Marqués de, to Tomis Vélez Cachupin, México,
April 2, 1752. Document 518.

Autos de guerra de la primera campafia que Marqués de:
la Nava Brazinas sale a hacer la guerra a los
Apaches Faraones desde la slerra de Sandia,
Afio de 170L. Document 99.
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Autos y junta de guerra sobre un robo que hicieron
los indios Apaches del Navajo en el pueblo
del San Ildefonso y orden para que el
capitén Cristébal de la Serna salga a casti-
garlos con cincuenta soldados, velnte vecinos,
¥y clento y cincuenta indios de los pueblos de’
este reyno, Santa Fé, October 30, 1713.
Document 199

Autos y junta de guerra sobre si se le debe hacer 1lg
guerra & los indios gentiles de la nazién
Faraona, Afio de 171l. Document 206.

Autos y diligencias que se han hecho: en que se les
declara la guerra a los ¥Yndios Yutas, Afio de
1719. Document 301.

Bustamente, Bernardo Antonio de. Diario, Santa F§,
December 2, 1747. Document u83

Bustamante, Juan Domingo de. Interrogatorio, April 22~
May 2, 1724. Document 327.

to Captain Antonio de Tafoya, Santa Fé,
June 20, 172l4. Document 329.

Codallos y Rabal, Joachin. Bando, Santa Fé, May 30,
174)i. Document 165, '

- 2Zufii[?], September 1L, 1745. Document 465b.

S ——Cp—

. Visita general, Afio de 1745. Document L470.

. Santa Fé, February l, 1746, in Diferentes
ordenes politicas ¥ militares de bandos, y
otras provlidencias de este Governacién que
se contlenen en este quaderno, para los
efectos que en ellos se expressan y dentro
se perciben, Afios de 17l4li, 1745, 17u6 1747,
v 1748. Document L195.

. Testimonio, Santa F8, December 6, 1747.
Document u83

Compafifa de caballeria y infanterfa, Alcaldia de
Cochitf, November 5, 1819.  Doecument 2857.

Croix, Teodoro de, to Juan Bautista de Anza, January 8,
1779. Document 71k,

to Juan Bautista de Anza, October 23, 1780.
Document 809.
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Cruzat y Géngora, Don Gervasio., Bando, Santa ré,
' December 6, 1732. Document 378.

. . Eando, [Santa F&, June 23, 1733]. Document
s 38‘0 . ’

- April, 1736. Document 409.

Cuervo y Valdés, Francisco. Autos en campafia contra
los Apaches, Santa Fé, April, 1705. Document
110.

Despacho del Superior Gobierno de esta Nueva Esparfia,
en orden & que de este Rl Presidio se destaquen
treinta soldados, quarenta vecinos, y setenta
Yndlos ausiliares con un oficial para que se
junten con el campo que ba al comando del
cap® DR Alonso Victores Rubin de Celis para
la campafia que estd mandado hacer por el
excQ Sefior Virrey contra los Yndlos Gentiles
enemigos Naclién Gllas Apaches, y sus confedera-
dos. Document 479.

Diferentes ordenes politicas y militares de bandos, y
otras providencias de este Governacion que
se contienen en este quaderno, para los efectos
que en ellos se expressan, y dentro se
perciben, Afios de 17lly 1745, 1746, 1747, ¥
1748. Document 495,

Estado general que manifiesta el numero de los hombres
en este pueblo de Jémez pare operar en la
expedisidn al Navajo bajo el comandante de
capitdn Juan Antonio Cabeza de Vaca. Docu-
ment 299l.

Flores Mogolldén; Juan Ignacio. Bando, Santa F§,
December 16, 1712. Document 185,

Horden que deve observar el theniente General DR Juan
Pdez Hurtado en la expedisibén que se ha de
executar en los requerimientos que se han de
hacer a los Apaches Yutas sobre los dafios
que han cometido y cometen en la Jurisdisién
de la Villa Nueva de St& Cruz, in Cruzat y
Géngora, Santa Fé&, April 2, 1736. Document

409.
Investigacién del levantamiento de indios. Document 8l.

Junta de guerra, June 2, 1720. Document 308,
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Junta de guerra que se formo en este Real Palacio de
orden del Sefior Capitédn General Don Juan
Domingo de Bustamante sobre s1 convenla a
hacerles guerra a la nazién Cumanche, Afio de
1724. Document 32l.

La Concha, Fernando de. Bando, Santa Fé, [1788%].
Document 1025, '

[La Concha, Fernando de], Instrucciones al alférez
Pablo Sandoval, Sante F8, July 1, 1790.
Document 1087.

to Viceroy Conde ds Revilla Gigedo, Santa Fé,
July 1, 1791. Document 1129.

to the Commandant General of the Provincias
Internas del Orlente Pedro de Nava, Senta Fé,
November 1, 1791. Document 116L4(3}.

to Pedro de Nava, Santa Fé, April 30, 1793.
Document 1231.

to Viceroy Conde de Revilla Gigedo, May 6,
1793. Document 123k4.

tgégedro de Nava, November 19, 1793. Document
1 °

La Pefiuela, Marqués de, to Roque de Madrid, Orden
' Santa Fé, February 21, 1709. Document 150,

to Roque de Madrid, Santa F&, December 8,
1709. .Document 157.

Manrrique, Joseph, to Nemesio Salcedo, Santa F§,
July 16, 1810, Document 2339.

Marin del Valle, Francisco Antonio. Bando, Santa Fé,
November 26, 175lL. Document 530.

Martinez, Fé1lix, Gobernador Interino. Diario de los
agontecimientos y las opsraciones. Document
2 ob

Mendinueta, Pedro Fermin de. Bandc, Santa Fé, Novem-
ber 16, 1771. Document 663.

Mendoza, Gaspar Domingo de. Bando, Santa Fé, March 21,
1741, Document L38.
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. Bando, Santa Fé, February 20, 1742, in
Ordenes a los alcaldes mayores se este reyno
sobre el cuidado y bigilencia en sus juris-
dicciones, Document Ll3.

Olavide y Michelefia, Enrique de. Bando, March 30,
1737. Document L15.

Ordenes a los alcaldes mayores de este reyno sobre el
culdado y bigilencia en sus jurisdicciones,
Document Lh3.

Pdez Hurtado, Juan. Relacién de una conspiraclén de
loi indios pueblos, December, 1704. Document
iokL. '

Respuestas de Socorro, Sevilleta, Belén, Tomé, Jémez,
Taos, etc., September 18-November 16, 1818.
Document 2747.

Respuestas de las alcaldias de Belén, Albuquerque
Alameda, Cochiti, Jémez, etc., May 5-22, 1819.
Document 2812.

Revista de Nuevo México, San Carlos de Alameda, July 19,
1806. Document 1995.

Salcedo, Nemesio, Commandant General, to Interim
Governor Joseph Manrrique, Chihuahua, May 1k,
1810. Document 2321.

Sénchez Vergara, Ignaclo Maria, to Governor Pedro
Maria Allande, Jémez, June 29, 1818. Docu-
ment 2728.

Testimonio de los autos y junta de guerra que se mando
formar por el Sefior Don Juan Ignacio Flores
Mogolldn sobre si seria conveniente el quitar
a los naturales de este reino el envije y uso
de su anteguedad y los parezeres y resolvio
dicho Sefior Governador remitir con correo a
S. M., Afio de 171ly. Docuvment 207.

Testimonio de las juntas de guerra que se formaron
para hazerla cempafia a la sierra de los
ladrones, Afio de 1715. Document 22k.

Testimonio de la junta de guerra que mando formar el
sefior gobernador y capitén general Don Félix
Martinez y orden que se le dio al capiltén
Cristbébal de Serna para que se hiziece la
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guerra ofensiva a los Yutas y Cumanchy fron-
terisos deste reyno, Afio de 1716 [?] Docu-
ment 279.

Ugarte y Loyola, Jacobo, to Fernando de la Concha,
January 23, 1788o Document 998.

Ulibarrl, Juan de, to Governor Pedro Rodiiguez Cubero,
Zusii Puebio, March 8, 1702. Document 85.

Valero, Marqués de, to Antonio de Valverde, México,
September 26 1720. Document 310.

Vargas, Diego de. Diario de operaciones. Document 53.

. Bando, Santa Fé, May 31, 1695. Document 57.

. Diario, Afio de 1696, Document 60a.

. Diario, Afio de 1696. Document €0c.

Visita de los Pueblcs de 5%8 Maria de Galisteo y de
Nuestra Sefiora de los Angeles de Pecos--hecho
por el Coronel DR Gervas%o Cruzat y Géngora,
Governador y Capitdn General de este Reyno
de la Nueva[sic] Mexico. Document 389,

E. National Archives, Washington, D. C.

Ward, John, Special Indian Agent, to Hon. S, F, Tappan

Indian Peace Gommissioner Santa Fé, August I,
1868. Letters Received by the Office of
Indlan Affairs, 182,4-81, New Mexico Superin-
tendency, Microcopy 23u Roll No. 555.

Secondary

Peripheral information in the study of Pueblo
Indian auxiliaries has been supplied by consulting
dissertations and research papers. Although their ma jor
emphasgls 1s upon other topiecs, they provide useful
material on Indian pollcy, presidial activity, and the

use of Tlaxcalans in the colonization of the northern

’
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frontier.
‘A. Major Studiles

John, Ellzabeth Ann Harper. "Spanish Relations with
the Indios Bdrbaros on the Northern Frontier
of New Spain in the Eighteenth Century."
Unpublished Ph.D. dissertation, Department of
History, University of Oklahoma, 1957.

Warner, Ted J. "The Career of Don Félix Martinez de
Torrelaguna, Soldier, Presidio Captain, and
Governor of New Mexico, 1693-1726." TUnpub-
lished Ph.D. dissertation, Department of
History, University of New Mexico, 1963.

B. Minor Studies

Adams, David. "Tlaxcalan Colonization in Northern New
Spain, 1550-1777." Unpublished Seminar paper,
University of Texas, [1963].

PRINTED MATERIALS
I. Primary

A. Collected Documents
There are in this category a few major works
which include information on the use of Pueblo auxil-
laries as well as those of other allies. Of great
Importance in any study of Spanish Indian policy is
the theory developed by Spain and illustrated by the
monumental codification in the Recopilacién de leyes,

originally published in 1681. On the actual day-to-
day practices and experiences in dealing with the

Indians, the works of Hackett and Thomas are invaluable.
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The former's three-volume collection of Historical

Documents provides primary material, particularly from
the missionaries in New Mexico. Theif reports are
Important because of their criticism of civil authori-
tles on the administration of the natives and because
they supply first-hand accounts on the role of auxil-
iaries from observations at the puebleos themselves.
Thomas, although sometimes subject to error, provides

extensive documentation on frontier conditions and

practices 1in his After Coronado, Forgotten Frontiers,

Teodoro de Croix, and Plains Indians and New Mexico,

all of which cover the period from 1696 to 1727 and
1751 to 1787. Other collections listed below provide
background information on the Pueblo revolt of 1680
and the policies of Spain in the Mississippl Valley.

All entries are arranged alphabetically.

Carroll, H. Bailey, and Haggard, J. Villasana (trans.).
’Three New Mexlco Chronicles: The Exposicién
of Don Fedro Bautlsta Pino; the 0jeada of Lic.
Antonio Barrelro, 1B832; and the Additions by
Don José Agustin de Escudero, 18 Quivira
Socisty Publications, Vol. XI]. lbuquerque;

‘The Quivira Society, 1942.

Hackett, Charles W. (ed.). Historical Document s
Relating to New Mexico ueva Vizcaya, and
roaches | e o, to 1 vols. Wash-
Inggon D. barnegie nstitution 1923~
19

. Revolt of the Pueblo Indians of New Mexico
and Otermin's Attempted Reconquest, 1680-1682
TCoronado Cuarto GCentennial Publications

Vols. VIII and 1IX, ed. George P. Hammond].

2 vols. Albuquerque- University of New Mexico
Press, 1942,

———————————




278

Kinnaird, Lawrence (ed.). Spain in the Mississippi
Ig;;gx 1765-179l4: “Translations of Egﬁggiglg
in the S znish Archives in theABangroftH .
Livrary i nnual Report of the American Histori-
cal Association for the Year 19L5, Vols., II-
IV].” 3 vols. Washingtonm, D. C.: Government
Printing Office, 1946.

Recopilacién de leyes de los reynos de las indias.
3 vols. Medrid: Impresora de dicho real
suprgma consejo, 1943. Originally published
in 1681

Thomas, Alfred B. (ed.). After Coronado: Spanish
1696~

E;gloration ortgeas of New Mexico,
. Norman: University of Oklahoma Press,
19§g .

2

._ Forgotten Frontlers: A Study of the Spanish
Indlan Policy of Don Juan Bauf%sfa de Anza,
Governor of ﬁew MexIco, 1777-1(8]. Norman:
University of Oklahoms Press, 1932.

. Teodoro de Croix and the Northern Frontiler
of New Spain, 1776-1 . Norman: University
of Oklahoma Press, 19L1.

s p————

. The Plains Indians and New Mexico 1251-
1778 [Coronado Cuarto Centennial Puﬁlications
Vol. XI, ed. George P. Hammond] Albuquerque°
University of New Mexico Press, 1940.

Individual Documents

Vislitors to New Mexico in the eighteenth century,
whether civil or religious officials, often provided
astute observations on conditions and practices there.

Although thelr recommendations were based upon their

personal experiences at one particular time, on occa-
slon they caused great changes of pollcy in the province
and throughout the northern frontier. Of special

importance in this regard are Vito Alessio Robles,
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Diario y derrotero de Pedro de Rivera, and Enrique

Gonzélez Flores and Francisco R. Almada, Informe de

Hugo O!'Conor.” Particularly valuable in the determina-

tion of Indian policy for the 1780's is Bernardo de

G4lvez, Instructions for Governing the Interior

Provinces of New Spain, edited by Donald E. Worcester.

are in Eleanor B. Adams (ed.), Bishop Tamarén's

Visitation of New Mexico and Fray Franclsco Dominguez,

The Missions of New Mexico, transiated by Eleanor B.

Adams and Fray Angelico Chdvez. Irving Leonard's

translation of The Mercurio Volante of Don Carlos de

Ll

Siguenza y Géngora 1s a useful supplement to the docu-

mentary study of Diego de Vargas?! first entrada in
1692. Irwin R. Blacker and Harry M. Rosen have
translated and edited the five dispatches of Hernén
Cortés, providing the most recent version of those

letters to the king which include comments on auxil-

laries used in the famous conquest of México. Documents

are arranged below in alphabetical order.

Adams, Eleanor B. (ed.). Bishop Tamarén's Visitation
of New Mexico, 1760 [Publicatons in History,
Historical Society of New Mexico, Vol. .
Algﬁquerque: Historical Society of New Mexico,
1954.

Alessio Robles, Vito (ed.). Diario y derrotero de lo
caminado, visto, y observado en la visita gue
hizo a los presidios de Nueva Lspafia Septen-
trional el Brigadier Pedro de Rivera [Archivo
Historico Militar Mexicamo, No. 2]. M8xico:
Taller Iutografico, 19L6.
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Blacker, Irwin R., and Rosen, Harry M. (eds.).

Conquest: Dispatches of Cortés from the New
World. New York: Grosset and Dunlap, 1962.

Dominguez, Fray Francisco Atanasio. The Missions of
New Mexico, 1776. Trans. by Eleanor B. Adams
and Fray Angelico Chévez, Albuquerque:
University of New Mexico Press, 1958.

Gé4lvez, Bernardo de. Instructions for Governing the
Interior provinces of New Spain, 1786. Trans.
and ed, by Donald E., Worcester tgu vira ‘
Soclety Publications, Vol. XII]. Berkeley:
The Quivira Soclety, 1951.

Gonzélez Flores, Enrique, and Almada, Franclsco R.

(eds.). Informe de Huzo O'Conor sobre el
estado de las Provinclas Internas del Norte,
1771-1776." México: Editorial Cultura, 1952.

Leonard, Irving A. (trans. and ed,). The Mercurio

Volante of Don Carlos Si gggzzﬁ;oGS grz: An
_"5'——T' ?—§§—- .

Account of the First de

Var§as into New Mexico 9 uivira Society
Pub icatIons, Vol. IIIﬁf Los Angeles: he
Quivira Soclety, 1932.

McNitt, Frank (ed.). Navaho Expedition: Journal of
a Reconnaissagce from Santa Fe, New Mexico
to the Navaho Country Made in iBEQ by Lieu-
tenant James H. Simpson. Norman: University
of Oklahoma Press,‘§§6ﬁ

Pino, Pedro Bautista. Exposicién sucinta y sencilla
de la provincia del Nuevo M&xico. OC4adiz:

Imprenta del Estado Mayor General, 1812.

II. Secondary

A. Guides, Catalogues, Manuals
For any extensive use of manuscript materials in
the Spanish Archives of New Mexico and the Archivo
General de la Nacidn preliminary research in two
reference works 1s indispensable. Ralph E. Twitchell,

The Spanish Archives of New Mexico, lists in two
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volumes the documents available in that collection
housed in Santa Fé. Although his translations are
somet imes untrustworthy, the author's organization of
material and short summaries of major documents are of
considerable aid in finding pertinent information on
any glven subject relating to the Spanish colonial
period in New Mexlico. Herbert E. Bolton's Guide to
Materials in the Archives of Mexico is of similar

value for the use of the Archivo General de la
Nacién and the Biblioteca Nacional de Méxlco.
Charles E. Chapmen, Catalogue of Materials in the
Archivo ‘General de Indias, is useful for that docu-

mentary collectlon in Spaln, although it preserves

the old numbering system and must be converted to the
new one for actual finding of manuscripts. A very

useful aid for the translator of Spanish documents is
J. Villasana Haggard and Malcolm D. McLean, Handbook

for Translators of Spanish Historical Documents,

since it contailns abbreviations, tables, and helpful

suggestlions In resolving problems of paleography.

Bolton, Herbert E. Guide to Materials for the History
of the United States In the Principal Archives
of Mexico. Washington D. C.: he Carnegie
Institute, 1913.

Chapman, Charles E. Catalogue of Materials in the
Archivo General de Indias for the History of
the Pacific Coast . and the American Southwest.
?8§geley° University of California Press,
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Haggard, J. Villasana, and McLean, Malcolm D. Handbook
for Translators of Spanish Historical Docu-
ments. [Austin]g ﬁniversity of Texes Archives
Collections, 1941.

Twitchell, Ralph E. The Spanish Archives of New
Mexico. 2 vols. edar Rapids, lowa: The
Torch Press, 191k.

Ma jor Studies

Included in this category are comprehensive studies
of the history of New Mexico, scholarly works, and
important monographs. Hubert H. Bancroft's History

of Arizona and New Mexico, although somewhat out-dated

now and superseded by three quarters of a century of
research, 1s still a valuable study, providing continu-
ity and occasionally informatlion not available else-

where. Ralph E. Twitchell's Leading Facts of New

Mexican History provides extensive coverage of the

reconquest in Volume I, but the details on eighteenth
century developments are limited to a pedestrian
treatment, compressed into one chapter at the end of
that volume. The same author's 0ld Santa Fé contains
some additional iInformation of note on the events of
the reconquest. However, the most thorough, well-
documented studles of the reconquest period are

J. Manuel Espinosa's First Expedition of Vargas and

Crusaders of the Rio Grande, which deal with the entire

era of reconquest from 1692 through 1697. Cleve

Hallenbeck, Land of the Conquisivadores, is a valuable
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survey of the ma jor events of the reconquest and the
following century. Jesse B, Béiley, Diego de Vargaes

and the Reconquest of New Mexlco, must be examined

critically as it is less accurate, but it does contain
useful corroborating information on the reconquest.
Most of the other works listed alphabetically below
supply background information or concentrate upon
other regions and subjscts. Of unusual importance

are Philip W. Powell's Soldiers, Indlans, and Silver

for its chapter on and undgrstanding of the role of
Indian auxiliaries, and Edward H. Spicer, Cycles of
Conguest for 1its recognition of thé'importance of
natives in the expansion of New Spain into present.-
day New Mexico, Arizona, Sonora, and Chihuahua.
Alton, Arthur S. Antonio de Mendoza: First Vicero
of New §2§E§T——ﬁﬁrhamf-ﬁ3;§_ CQFETTEQT‘_EEEE
University Press, 1927.
Bailey, Jesse B. Diego de Vargas and the Reconquest

of New Mexico. Albuquerque: University of
New Mexico Press, 1940.

Bancroft, Hubert H. History of Arizona and New Mexico,
1530-1888 [The Works of Hubert Howe Bancroft,
Vol. XVII]. San FranciscO° ~ The History

Company, 1889,

Bobb, Bernard E. The Viceregency of Antonlo Maria
Bucareli in New Spain, 1§ZT_1E§9, Austin:
Univeisity of Texas Press, 19

Bolton, Herberit E. Texas in the Middle Eighteenth
Centivxy: Studies in Spanlsh Co;un%aI History

and.é; windstration. Berikeley: ~Jniversity of
alif:rla Press, 1915.
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Bolton, Herbert E., and Ross, Mary. The Debatable
Land: A Sketch of the Anglo-Spanish Contest
for the Georgia Country. Berkeley: University
of California Press, 1925. |

Bolton, Herbert E. The Spanish Borderlands: A
Chronicle of 014 ElorIEﬁ and the SouthWest
[Chronicies of America Series, Vol. XXIII,
ed. Allen Johnson]. New Haven, Connecticut:
Yale University Press, 1921.

Carmén Veldzquez, Maria del, E1 estado de la guerra
en Nueva Espafia, 1760-1808. M8xico: é% -
Colegio de México, 1950.

Caughey, John W. Bernardo de Gédlvez in Louisiana
1776-178 .u Berkeley: Tnlverslty ol Callfornia
Press, 1934. o

Chamberlain, Robert S. The Conquest and Colonization
: of Yucatdn, l§11~1§50. Washington, D. C.:
Carnegle InstItution, 1948.

Chapman, Charles E. The Founding of Spanish Cali-
fornia: The Northwestward Expansion of New
Spain; 16 783 k: Facmlllan ~
Company,

Espinosa, J. Manuel. Crusaders of the Rio Grande.
dhicago: InstItute of Jesult HIstory, 1I942.

_. First Expedition of Vargas into New Mexico,
1692 [Coronado Cuarto Centennial Publications,

Vol. X, ed. George F. Hammond]. Albuquerque:

University of New Mexico Press, 1940.

Folmer, Henry. Franco-Spanish Rivalry in North America,
1§g%~116§° Glendale, Californias The Arthur
H. Clark Company, 1953.

Forbes, Jack D. Apache, Navaho, and Spaniard. Norman:
University of Oklahoma Press, 1960.

Ford, Lawrence C. [The Triengular Struggle for Spanish
Pensacola, 1689-1739. Washington, D. C.: The
Catholic University of Amerlca Press, 1939.

Gardiner, C. Harvey. Naval Power in the Conquest of
Mexico. Austin: University of Texas Press,
1956.
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Gibson, Charles. Tlaxcala in the Sixteenth Centur
[Yale Historilecal Publications Vol. XXXIIIi
Neg Haven Connecticut: Yale University Press
1952,

Hallenbeckz Cleve. Land of the Congquistadores.
Caidwell, Idaho: “Caxten Printers, 1950.
Hammond, George P. (ed.).. New Spain and the Anglo-

Americen West. 2 vols. Lancaster, Pennsyl-
vania: Lancaster Press, 1932.

Kirkpatrick, F. A. The Spanish Con ulstadores.
Cleveland and New York: or Publishing
Company, 1962. Originally published in 1934.

McAlister, Lyle N. The "Fuero Militar" in New Spain,
1764-1800. Gainesville: University of
Florlda Press, 1957.

Mecham, J. Lloyd. Francisco de Ibarra and Nueva
Vizcaya. Durham, North Carolina: Duke
Unlversity Press, 1927.

Newton, Arthur P. The Eur~pean Nations in the West
Indies, 1493-1688. London: 4. & C. Biack,
Itd., 1933.

Powell, Phillp W.. Soldiers, Indians, and Silver:
' The NOrthward Advance of New Spein -
1600. Berkeley and Los Angeles: University
of California Press; 1952,

Prescott, William H. History of the Conquest of

Mexico. New York: Modern Tibrary, n. d.
Originally published in 18k3.

Priestley, Herbert I. José de GElvez: Visitor-
General of New Spain (1765-4i771l). Berkeleys
Univérsity of Csiifornia Press, 1916.

Russell, Carl P. Guns on the Early Frontiers: A
Historg of Firesrms from Colonial Times
through the Years of the Western Fur irade
Berkeley and Los Angeles: University of
California Press, 1957.

Simpson, Lesley B. The Encomienda in New SEain: The
ye

Beginning of Spanish Mexico. DBerkele
University of 5alifornia Press, 1950.
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Smith, Donald E. The Viceroy of New Spain [University
of California Publications in History, Vol. I,
No. 2]. Berkeley: University of Galifornia
Press, 191l.

Spicer, Edward H. (Cycles of Conquest: [The Impact of
Spain, Mexico, and the United States on the
Indians of the Southwest, . =1960. ~Tucson:

University of Arizona Préss, 9b2.

Twitchell, Ralph E. 01l1d Santa Fé: The Story of New
Mexico's Ancient Capital. Santa 76: New
Mexican Publishing gorporation, 1925.

- The Leading Facts of New Mexican History.
5 vols. Cedar Rapids, Iowa: The Torch Press,
1911..

Villa, Eduardo W. Historia del estado de Sonora.
28 ed. HermosIilo, Sonora: Editorial Sonora,

1951,

[Smithsonian Institution Bureau of
Ethnology]. Washington, D. C.: Government
Printing Office, 1959.

Wedel, Waldo R. An Introduction to Kansas Archeology
merican

Whitaker, Arthur P. The Mlississippi Question 1195-
1803: A Study In Trade, Politics, and
Diplomacy. ew York: D, Appleton Century
Company, 193k.

. The Spanish-American Frontier 1;8%-1225:
The Weszard Movement and the S’an s etreat

in the MIssisstEI Valley. Boston: Houghton
Mifflin Company, 1927.

Minor Studilaa

Information on specialized subjects provides
greater depth in some instances for the comprehension
of the role of Pueblo and other Indian auxiliaries.
Scholarly articles and short monographs are listed

below alphabetically.
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Adams, Richard N. "Social Chenge in Guatemala and
U, 5. Policy," Social Change in Latin America |
Today ﬁNew York: Vintage Books, 1961),
231=28L.

Bloom, Lansing B. "A Campaign against the Moqui
Pueblos under Governor Phelix[sic] Martinez,
1716," New Mexico Historical Revlew, VI,
No. 2 (April, 1531), 158-226.

Bolton, Herbert E. "Defensive Expansion and the Sig-
nificance of theo Borderlands," The Trans-
Misgsissippi West: Papers Read at & Conference
Held at the University of Colorado, June 18-
June 21, 1929, ed. James F, Willard and Colin
B. Goodykoontz (Boulder: University of
Colorado Press, 1930), 1-42.

Chdves, Amado. The Defeat of the Comanches in 1 1}
[Historical Society of New Mexico Publications
No. 8]. Santa e New Mexlicen Printing ’
Company, 1906.

Espinosa, J. Manuel. "Governor Vargas in Colorado,"
New Mexico Historical Review, XI, No. 2

i

{April, 193%), 179-1e7.

Hagan, William T. The Indlian in American History
[Service Center for Teachers of History,
Publication No. 50]. New York: Macmillan
Company, 1963. :

Jenkins, Myra E. "The Baltasar Baca 'Grant':
History of an Encroachment," El Palacio,
LXVIII, No. 1 (Spring, 1961), LT7-blL.

Kelly, Henry W. "Franciscan Missions of New Mexico,
1740-1760," New Mexico Historical Review, XVI,
No. 1 (January, 1941), LI-69.

McAlister, Lyle N. "The Reorganization of the Army of

New Spain, 1763-1766," The Hispanic American
Historical Review, xiXIII, No. 1 (February,

1953), 1-32.

Park, Joseph E. "Spanish Indian Policy in Northern
Mexico, 1765-1810," Arizona and the West, IV,

No. Lt (Winter, 1952)] 325-34].

Reeve, Frank D. "Navaho-Spanish Diplomacy, 1770-1790,"
New Mexico Historical Review, XXXV, No. 3
(July, 1960), 200-235.
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. "Navaho-Spanish Wars, 1680-1720," New Mexico
Historical Review, XXXIII No. 3 (July, 19587,
205-231.

Scholes, France V. "Civil Government and Society in
New Mexico in the Seventeenth Century," New
Mexico Historfeal Review, X, No. 2 (ApriI
1935), 71I-111.

Thomas, Alfred B. "Antonlo de Bonilla and SPanish
Plans for the Defense of New Mexico," New
Spain and the Anglo-American West, 6d. George
P. Hammond (2 Vols.; Lancaster, Pennsylvania-
Lancaster Press, 1932), I, 183 -209,

. Documents B!Ering on the Northern Frontier
of New Mexico, 1818-1819. Sanva F8, 1929.

. "Governor Mendinueta's Proposals for the
Defense of New Mexico, 1772-1778," New Mexico
Historical Review, VI No. 1 (January, 1931
21-39.,

Tompkins, Stuart R., and Moorhead, Max L. "Russia's
Approach to’ America," The British Columbia
Historical Quarterlz XIII, Nos. g and L
?%p'l 'riTSS"'"'and July-October, 1949), 55—6 and
2 -2

Twltchell, Ralph E. "The Last Campaign of General de
Vargas " 0ld Santa F§, II, No. 1 (July, 191l),
.66-72.

"The Pueblo Revolt of 1696--Extgacts from
the Journal of General de Vargas," 0ld
Santa F§, III, No. 2 (October, 19167, 333-373.

West, Ellzabeth H. "The Indian Policy of Bsrmnardo
de Gélvez," Proceedings of the Mississippi

valle Hi torical Association for the year
1§1§~12;E SCedar Rapids, Iowa: The Torch
Press, 1916), 95-101.







